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Maritime New Zealand
Nō te rere moana Aotearoa
Noˉ te rere moana Aotearoa now accompanies te manaia –
the guardian – in our logo. Together, they reflect our role as
the caretaker of New Zealand’s flowing waters. They underpin
our mandate to make life at sea safer; to protect the maritime
environment from pollution and safeguard it for future generations;
to ensure New Zealand’s ports and ships are secure; and to
provide a search and rescue response service in one of the
largest search and rescue areas in the world.

Maritime New Zealand’s vision,
mission and values are its foundations.

Our vision
A maritime community that works and plays safely
and securely on clean waters.

Our mission
A professional, evidence-based, intelligence-led,
risk-focused regulatory, compliance and response agency.

Our values
Integrity | Commitment | Respect

Annual Report
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Cape Palliser Lighthouse is located on the south
eastern side of the Wairarapa coast, a couple
of hours drive from Wellington City. The tower
at Cape Palliser has been painted with red and
white stripes to make it stand out from the hills
behind it. There are only two other lighthouses in
New Zealand with stripes, rather than the standard
plain white. Dog Island Lighthouse and Cape
Campbell Lighthouse have black and white stripes.
The lighthouse is still fitted with the original Fresnel
lens, which was installed in 1897. In 1954 the
light was converted from oil to diesel-generated
electricity and in 1967 it was connected to mains
electricity. The lighthouse was automated in
1986 and is monitored remotely from Maritime
New Zealand’s Wellington office.
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND IDENTITY KIT

Identity kit

Location:

Latitude 41°37’ south,
longitude 175°17’ east

Elevation:

78 metres above sea level

Construction:

Cast iron tower

Tower height:

18 metres

Light configuration:

2nd order Fresnel lens, illuminated by a
1000 watt incandescent bulb

Light flash character:

White light flashing 2 times every
20 seconds

Power source:

Mains electricity

Range:

26 nautical miles (48 kilometres)

Date light first lit:

1897

Automated:

1986
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The year in review

Introduction from the Chair and Director

We are pleased to present the 2018/19 Maritime New Zealand Annual Report (Nō te rere moana
Aotearoa). It records our results for the year against the plans and objectives set out in our Statement of
Intent for 2018–2022 and Statement of Performance Expectations for 2018–19.
Our vision is ‘a maritime community that
works and plays safely and securely on
clean waters’.
We continued to make strong headway
towards this vision in 2018/19 by
focusing our efforts on a broad range of
international and domestic regulatory,
compliance and response activities, while
preparing ourselves for the future through
a full funding review and organisational
change process. The results will
allow us to move closer to our goal of
being a professional, evidence-based,
intelligence-led, risk-focused maritime
regulatory, compliance and response
organisation.
We have taken steps to increase
our influence in the international
regulatory and response environment,
for the benefit of New Zealand
and to support positive safety and
environmental protection around the

world. The International Maritime
Organization (IMO) sets the standards for
shipping internationally. We have been
contributing to the Australian Maritime
Safety Authority’s efforts to improve
the efficiency and transparency of IMO
activity, and leading efforts to extend
the mandatory safety measures of the
Polar Code to Non-Safety of Life at
Sea (Non-SOLAS) vessels (fishing and
pleasure yachts) when operating in polar
waters. As well as improving safety and
environmental protection standards for
a wider range of ships in polar waters,
for New Zealand this potentially means
a reduced need for search and rescue
operations in this area. We have also
continued to push for the inclusion of
standards for ships’ lifting appliances
in the SOLAS Convention as part of
addressing what is a significant risk
area for seafarers and port workers in
New Zealand.

2019 saw New Zealand elected as
Vice-Chair of the Port State Control
Committee of the Tokyo MOU. This
appointment demonstrates our
commitment to the overall governance
of the Port State Control system. We
also provided support to other member
countries by undertaking five expert
missions to support and improve the
Port State Control system in the Pacific
and the quality of shipping coming into
New Zealand waters.
The Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand (RCCNZ) has continued to
make a strong international contribution
by responding to maritime emergencies
in our extensive search and rescue
region – and leading the development
of search and rescue capability across
the Pacific. Additionally, together with
Antarctic New Zealand and the Council
of Managers of National Antarctic
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Programmes, we hosted workshops in
Wellington and Christchurch to share
best practice and lessons learnt and to
encourage information sharing and a
collaborative approach to search and
rescue in Antarctica.
Our Marine Pollution Response Service
(MPRS) has also been active in the
Pacific region, building capability and
assisting the Solomon Islands in its
response to the oil spill caused by the
grounding of a cargo ship in a World
Heritage Area.
We have continued to deliver the Pacific
Maritime Safety Programme (PMSP),
funded by NZ Aid. The programme
provides maritime safety and maritime
incident readiness and response
capabilities for our Pacific neighbours,
under the umbrella of the Government’s
wider ‘Pacific Reset’. Examples of PMSP
initiatives delivered this year include
maritime safety audit training for maritime
representatives from across the Pacific
Islands, survival at sea workshops for
fishermen in Niue, safety inspections of
government-owned passenger ferries
in Tuvalu, and a new search and rescue
vessel for Tokelau and training for those
who will use it.
The primary regulatory system for
domestic maritime operators, the
Maritime Operator Safety System
(MOSS), reached a significant milestone
in May this year as the last operator
transferred over from the old Safe Ship
Management System, ending a four-year
transition period. MOSS was introduced
in 2014 to improve safety outcomes and
support direct operator ownership of
maritime safety systems in the domestic
commercial sector. The change to MOSS
has also enabled stronger and more
effective relationships between operators
and Maritime NZ.

6

Both Maritime NZ and WorkSafe have
prioritised health, safety and wellbeing
and have cooperated to deliver a joint
campaign to increase the health, safety
and welfare of those working in and
around our ports. Internally, we have
adopted a new framework SafePlus to
drive improvements in our health and
safety culture throughout Maritime NZ.

and deliver activities aimed at reducing
injuries and fatalities among the
approximately 1.5 million recreational
boaties in New Zealand. The activities
included a higher-profile Safer Boating
Week to mark the start of the summer’s
safer boating campaign, a nationwide
TV and online campaign promoting
VHF radio use, and the allocation of
$450,000 in Fuel Excise Duty grants
for safer boating programmes such
as Coastguard’s ‘Old4New’ lifejacket
campaign. We maintained and
strengthened partnerships with local
councils to roll out our joint on-water
safety ‘No Excuses’ campaign. Twelve
regional councils and the Taupō
Harbourmaster participated this year,
focusing on unsafe speed, wearing
lifejackets and carrying effective
communications to call for help.

Port operators, regional councils and
Maritime NZ have also continued to
successfully apply the New Zealand Port
and Harbour Marine Safety Code. The
Code supports the safe management of
ships in ports and harbours, helping to
prevent injury, loss of life and damage to
the marine environment.

Maritime NZ has maintained an active
approach to enforcement – in situations
where our compliance operating model
suggests it is appropriate – with respect
to the risks, nature of conduct, public
interest and attitudes to compliance
relating to the issues and incidents we
deal with.

A specific change in the domestic
commercial sector saw float-free
Emergency Position Indicating Radio
Beacons (EPIRBs) become compulsory
on commercial fishing vessels at the
beginning of 2019. The rule now applies
to all vessels between 7.5 metres and
24 metres operating outside enclosed
waters. Data and incident report analysis
clearly showed a number of deaths could
be attributed to inshore fishing boats
sinking with manual EPIRBs on board
that were unable to be deployed.

We have focused on developing staff
across all levels of the organisation.
From providing frontline Maritime Officer
training to coaching and implementing
a comprehensive leadership and
management programme, we strive
to ensure our people have the skills
and knowledge they need to meet
the demands of an effective maritime
regulatory, compliance and response
organisation.

To address the health, safety and
wellbeing of our maritime community,
Maritime NZ has partnered with other
agencies, employers and unions, sharing
research, insights and expertise. This
collaboration has resulted in a strategy
to address fatigue among stevedores
and drug use within the commercial
fishing industry. Our efforts will feed into
campaigns and other health, safety and
wellbeing initiatives in future years.

In recreational boating, Maritime NZ
continued to work closely with our
Safer Boating Forum partners to plan
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We remain firmly committed to the
Government Regulatory Practice
Initiative (G-Reg), which aims to improve
regulatory practice in New Zealand.

Our staff have all completed the G-Reg
core regulatory knowledge qualification,
and we have participated strongly in
G-Reg’s regulatory stewardship peer
learning work. This year has also seen
the rollout of a new G-Reg website,1
which provides access to courses,
conferences, workshops and material on
regulatory practice. G-Reg is very much
part of our ongoing development as an
effective regulator.
In parallel with the work described
above, Maritime NZ has been through a
full funding review and an organisational
review to ensure we can meet our
regulatory, compliance and response
accountabilities in coming years.

Where to from here?
We intend to do more to achieve
our vision of safe, secure and clean
waters. For example, we will sustain our
emphasis on stakeholder engagement,
more clearly communicate regulatory
requirements (making it easier for the
maritime sector to comply), and use
the full range of compliance tools
appropriately. We will continue to build
internal capability and ensure that our
maritime regulatory, compliance and
response systems and processes remain
fit for purpose in a dynamic international
and domestic operating environment.
Our strategic intent is clear – to move
from a traditional output-focused
maritime regulatory, compliance and
response agency to an effective, modern
outcomes approach, where evidence,
intelligence and understanding of risk
drive our work.

1

We will promote and demonstrate
regulatory stewardship – proactively
planning, advising on and implementing
policy changes needed to keep pace
with industry and sector developments,
such as new technological and design
changes in shipping.

three-year tenure ended on 30 April
2019. We record our appreciation to Blair
and Janice for their direction and insight,
together with the extensive governance
and management experience they
brought to the Authority during their
respective terms.

A key aim is to support, encourage and
require compliance with conventions,
laws, regulations and rules that are
intended to deliver safe, secure and
clean seas and waterways. Doing
this effectively is about the quality
and clarity of regulation and providing
good guidance and education; it’s not
about reducing standards. Improved
compliance can be achieved by both
making it easier to comply and effectively
communicating what it takes to ‘do the
right thing’.

Belinda Vernon acted as Chair for the
period 4 August to 9 December 2018.

We will further develop our relationships
with our partners and stakeholders to
ensure our activities remain well targeted
and effective in keeping our seas and
waterways safe, secure and clean. We
will continue to draw on the dedication
of our people to achieve this. This focus
is underpinned by our values: Integrity,
Commitment and Respect.

Jo Brosnahan, a member of the Authority
since 1 July 2018, was appointed as
Chair on 10 December 2018.
Roy Weaver was appointed to the
Authority on 21 February 2019, later
joined by Denis O’Rourke, who was
appointed on 1 May 2019.

Jo Brosnahan
Chair, Maritime NZ

All these efforts aim to maximise the
contribution the maritime sector makes
to the social and economic wellbeing of
all New Zealanders.

Governance
We had several changes at the
governance level during the year:
Blair O’Keeffe resigned as Chair
on 3 August 2018 to take up other
opportunities, and Janice Fredric’s

Keith Manch
Director, Maritime NZ

https://g-reg.govt.nz/
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24 LIVES SAVED
158 LIVES RESCUED
282 LIVES ASSISTED

4,000

OVER
OLD
LIFEJACKETS REPLACED

5,000

SCHOOL
OVER
CHILDREN RECEIVED LEARN
TO SAIL YACHTING LESSONS

ALL OPERATORS

Our
highlights

HAVE NOW
TRANSITIONED TO

NO

SECURITY
INCIDENTS REPORTED IN
NEW ZEALAND WATERS

CO-HOSTED
A COUNCIL
OF MANAGERS
OF NATIONAL
ANTARCTIC
PROGRAMS
(COMNAP)
SAR WORKSHOP IV
WITH ANTARCTICA
NEW ZEALAND

MARITIME
FATALITIES

DOWN
44%

POLAR
CODE II

SINCE 2014/15

LED THE DEVELOPMENT
OF A DRAFT IMO
ASSEMBLY RESOLUTION

PROVIDED
SUPPORT FOR
ON-WATER ACTIVITIES
WITH REGIONAL
COUNCILS

SUCCESSFUL
CAMPAIGNS

PILOT BOARDING
ARRANGEMENTS
LIFTING APPLIANCES ON
FOREIGN-FLAGGED VESSELS

3,656

INTERACTIONS
WITH BOAT USERS – THE
VAST MAJORITY OF WHICH
WERE POSITIVE
ON-THE-WATER SURVEY ON
LIFEJACKET CARRIAGE

95% OF SKIPPERS/BOAT

USERS CARRIED ENOUGH
LIFEJACKETS FOR ALL
THOSE ON BOARD; AND
OF OCCUPANTS
WORE THEM WHEN LEGALLY
REQUIRED

83%

NEW ZEALAND ELECTED
AS VICE-CHAIR OF THE
PORT STATE CONTROL
COMMITTEE OF THE
TOKYO MOU

RESPECTED PUBLIC
ORGANISATION

POLLUTION
PREPAREDNESS
AND RESPONSE

100

OVER
PERSONNEL
WERE TRAINED
IN REGIONAL AND
NATIONAL RESPONSE
TRAINING PROGRAMMES

ACHIEVED AGREEMENT
PACIFIC MARITIME
SAFETY PROGRAMME

3
rd
MOST TRUSTED AND

INTRODUCED STRICTER
REGULATORY
CONTROLS FOR
SHIPS DISCHARGING
BALLAST WATER IN
NEW ZEALAND TO
PROTECT OUR MARINE
ENVIRONMENT FROM
INVASIVE SPECIES

SUBSTANTIAL CAPACITYBUILDING INITIATIVES
IN THE COOK ISLANDS,
KIRIBATI, NIUE, SAMOA,
TOKELAU, TONGA AND
TUVALU.

IN PRINCIPLE ON A DRAFT
AMENDMENT TO THE
MANDATORY REGULATIONS
OF SOLAS, TO REQUIRE THE
DESIGN, MAINTENANCE
AND OPERATION
OF SHIPS’ LIFTING
APPLIANCES TO MEET
AGREED INTERNATIONAL
STANDARDS

Maritime New Zealand

We are New Zealand’s national regulatory, compliance and response agency for the safety, security and
environmental protection of the maritime environment. Established in 1993 we are one of four Crown
entities monitored by the Ministry of Transport and are governed by a five-member board (the Authority)
appointed by the Minister of Transport under the Maritime Transport Act 1994.
We bring together our three key roles –
regulation, compliance and response – to
drive and achieve three key outcomes for
our maritime community: a safe, secure
and clean maritime system that promotes
travel, trade, and the enjoyment of the
maritime environment as a sport and
recreational pursuit for New Zealanders
and visitors alike.
Our core regulatory, compliance and
response work is to identify and address
maritime risks before they result in
incidents and mishaps, including:
•

developing and maintaining the
national safety, security and
environmental protection regulations

that govern the operation of vessels,
ports and offshore installations in
New Zealand waters
•

instilling a safety focus within the
maritime community by ensuring
compliance with maritime rules and
regulations

•

undertaking activities to reduce the
likelihood of maritime incidents and
marine pollution incidents

•

responding effectively to search and
rescue incidents and marine oil spill
incidents, and maintaining readiness
across the organisation in case
we need to deal with a significant
maritime incident.

Our strategic framework shows how
our day-to-day activities support the
outcome of a ‘Safe, Secure and Clean’
maritime environment to achieve our
vision of a maritime community that
works and plays safely and securely on
clean waters.
Our annual performance is reported
against our Statement of Intent (SOI)
for 2018–2022 and Statement of
Performance Expectations (SPE) for
2018–19, which can be found on our
website – www.maritimenz.govt.nz.
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Our strategic framework
VISION A maritime community that works
and plays safely and securely on
clean waters

WHY
HOW

SAFE

Our maritime
transport system
supports,
encourages and
requires strong
safety, security and
environmentally
responsible
standards and
behaviours

SECURE

WHAT

Increase our international
influence in the
regulatory environment

Enhance the value and
effectiveness of our regulatory
and compliance functions

Regulation
that is
relevant
and robust

A results-driven
and resilient
organisation,
working
collaboratively
for success

10
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Output Class 1
Influencing the
policy environment
for the maritime
sector

Output Class 2
Maritime Safety and
Protection Services

MISSION A professional, evidence-based,
intelligence-led, risk-focused
regulatory, compliance and
response agency

Our maritime
transport system
protects people and
goods from unlawful
actions as they move
across domestic and
international waters

CLEAN

DESIRED
MARITIME
SYSTEM
OUTCOMES

Our maritime
environment
is clean and
protected

Enhance our facilitation
and leadership role within
the maritime sector

STRATEGIC
GOALS

Make it easy for
regulated parties to
do the right thing

Risk-focused,
responsive
compliance practices
that reduce harm in
the maritime system

Output Class 3
Marine Pollution
Response Services

STRATEGIC
PIVOTS

Output Class 4
Search and Rescue
Coordination
Services

Response capability
that is well prepared,
integrated and
effectively deployed
to resolve emergency
incidents

Output Class 5
Maritime Incident
Response Capability
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New Zealand benefits when
our maritime environment is
safe, secure and clean
Safe, secure and clean seas and waterways that are protected from pollution are critical for
New Zealand’s economic and social prosperity. They are also fundamental to the long-term viability
of industries such as commercial fishing, outdoor and adventure tourism, and recreational boating
activities. We need a maritime system in which everyone returns home safely, where no security
incidents impact on maritime activities, and where no adverse environmental impacts occur as a result of
maritime activities.
To make this a reality, our work is
guided by a clear operating model,
sound information and analysis, and a
comprehensive, systemic understanding
of the issues involved within the maritime
domain we are responsible for.

New Zealand’s maritime system is
complex, with foreign and domestic
commercial operations and activities
and a very large recreational sector.
Looking at the system as a number of
sectors helps us to work in this complex

system. The sectors, and examples of
activities and operations within each, are
described in the table below.

NONCOMMERCIAL
BOATING

COMMERCIAL SECTORS

FOREIGN
SHIPPING

NZ
INTERNATIONAL
SAFETY
MANAGEMENT*

DOMESTIC
FISHING

DOMESTIC
OUTDOOR
AND
ADVENTURE

DOMESTIC
PASSENGER/
NONPASSENGER

OFFSHORE

PORTS AND
HARBOURS

RECREATIONAL
BOATING

EXAMPLE INDUSTRY TYPES:
Powered craft
Foreign
Transport
Services

Domestic Coastal
Transport Services

• cargo transport

• passenger/
freight

• passenger
cruises

• coastal (traders,
tankers, research)

Marine Fishing
• line fishing

Intra-regional
Transport
Services

• fish trawling

• charter services

• aquaculture

• water taxis

Water-based
Tourism

Petroleum,
Gas and Mineral

Commercial
Port Services

• rafting

• exploration

• piloting

• jet boating

• extraction &
production

• harbour master

• kayaking
• river boarding

*
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•
decommissioning

• stevedoring

Non-powered craft

NZ International Safety Management (ISM) refers to NZ-flagged ships that operate under the ISM code. Typically they are
large (45 metres) passenger and cargo ships that are able to travel internationally but elect to operate only on New Zealand’s coast.
This sector includes ships that hold either SOLAS certificates or NZ Ship Safety Certificates because they are required to comply
with the ISM code and be audited by Maritime NZ.
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How we measure our
performance
The performance of the maritime system as a whole depends on complex, dynamic interactions and
factors, some of which we have limited control over. While we continue to drive and enable improvements
in the maritime sector’s accident record, the inherent risks of many commercial and recreational activities
make it unrealistic to expect to eliminate all accidents.
DESIRED SYSTEM OUTCOME

DESIRED TREND

SYSTEM INDICATOR

TARGET

SAFE

The average annual rate of
maritime fatalities and serious
injuries consistently trends
downwards over time.

Annual rate of maritime
fatalities and serious
harm2 injuries for each
sector3 per 100,000 NZ
population.

Reduce maritime
sector fatalities and
serious harm injuries
by 25% by 2021
(from 36 in 2014/15).

SECURE

The NZ maritime system is
recognised as secure by key
trading partners.

Annual number of security
incidents reported in NZ
waters.

No security incidents4
are reported in NZ
waters.

CLEAN

The number of pollution
incidents impacting on our
marine environment reduces
over time.

Annual number of oil spill
incidents reported in NZ
waters.

Reduce oil spill
incidents by 15%
by 2021
(from 90 in 2014/15).

2

The term ‘serious harm’ has been redefined under the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 to refer to notifiable injury or illness.

3

‘Sector’ refers to the key maritime sectors that Maritime NZ regulates and the three geographical domains (i.e. New Zealand, the Pacific
and Antarctica) where Maritime NZ has search and rescue responsibility. Our key sectors are: foreign shipping, New Zealand ISM
(International Safety Management), domestic fishing, domestic passenger/non-passenger, outdoor and adventure, offshore, ports and
harbours, and recreational boating.

4

This target refers to incidents that meet the threshold of an incident as defined in the Maritime Security Act 2004.
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How well are we doing?
SAFE – Our maritime transport system supports,
encourages and requires strong safety standards
and behaviours
Our interventions are leading to improvement (in relative terms) across a broad spectrum of maritime
safety statistics. These statistics cover not just regulation and compliance activities but also include
saving lives through our search and rescue coordination for New Zealand, minimising social and
economic harm.

DESIRED
SYSTEM
OUTCOME

SAFE

DESIRED TREND

The average annual
rate of maritime
fatalities and serious
injuries consistently
trends downwards
over time.

Since 2014/15 there has been a
44 percent reduction in the level of
fatalities, from 36 in 2014/15 to 20 in
2018/19 across the maritime sector,
putting us ahead of target to meet the
25 percent reduction we sought to
achieve by 2021. We are confident of
the accuracy of the fatality information
we collect, but it is clear from Accident
Compensation Corporation (ACC) claims
data that there has been significant
under-reporting of harm incidents to
us in the past. This year our efforts to
encourage, request, support or facilitate
notification of harm may have caused

14

SYSTEM
INDICATOR

Annual rate
of maritime
fatalities and
serious harm5
injuries for
each sector6
per 100,000 NZ
population.

TARGET

Reduce
maritime
sector fatalities
and serious
harm injuries
by 25% by 2021
(from 36 in
2014/15).

a measurable increase in reported
harm. We will work with other relevant
organisations to improve the accuracy of
harm reporting.

Rationale
We base our work on information that is
collected, collated and analysed so that
we understand what is happening and
why. This allows us to assess the safety,
security and environmental risks that
need to be addressed, and decide on
the most effective interventions.

2014/15–
2018/19
AVERAGE

2018/19
RESULT

Maritime sector
fatalities: 40%
reduction
compared with
2014/15 (36).

Maritime sector
fatalities: (20) a
44% reduction
compared with
2014/15 (36).

Maritime
sector serious
harm injuries:
3% reduction
compared with
2014/15 (37).

Maritime sector
serious harm
injuries: (45) a
21% increase
compared with
2014/15 (37).

Our information base covers all aspects
of what we do, from information on
accident and incident trends and
behavioural drivers within the industry,
to the effectiveness of the regulatory,
compliance and response initiatives we
have put in place.
We gather our information in various
ways, including notifications of
commercial accidents, serious harm
injuries and fatalities, and recreational
boating fatalities received in accordance
with section 31 of the Maritime Transport

5

The term ‘serious harm’ has been redefined under the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 to refer to notifiable injury or illness.

6

‘Sector’ refers to the key maritime sectors that Maritime NZ regulates and the three geographical domains (i.e. New Zealand, the Pacific
and Antarctica) where Maritime NZ has search and rescue responsibility. Our key sectors are: foreign shipping, New Zealand ISM
(International Safety Management), domestic fishing, domestic passenger/non-passenger, outdoor and adventure, offshore, ports and
harbours, and recreational boating.
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Act 1994 and/or section 56 of the Health
and Safety at Work Act 2015 (HSWA).
Because of the high social cost of
fatalities and serious harm within the
maritime transport system, we aim to
reduce the risks by:
•

maintaining close relationships with
maritime stakeholders to ensure their
interests are considered

•

helping to set safety standards,
through either regulation or bestpractice guidelines, that the maritime
sector is expected to follow

•

controlling the entry of commercial
operators into the maritime system
to make sure that they meet set
standards through certification of
seafarers and maritime operations,
registering ships, and certifying ship
surveyors and safety equipment

•

•

•

•
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influencing the behaviour of
recreational participants through
our own safety programmes and
in partnership with the recreational
boating community
ensuring continuing compliance
with safety standards by auditing
New Zealand maritime operations,
inspecting foreign ships visiting
New Zealand and investigating
accidents and incidents
educating the commercial and
recreational maritime community
about safety requirements and how
best to meet them
enforcing safety standards where
they are not being met, by stopping
individuals, ships or companies from
operating, and by taking prosecutions
where appropriate.

Recreational boating
sector
Our aim is to support programmes that
interact directly with boaties and promote
safety to save lives. Over the past few
years the recreational boating toll has
dropped by nearly 53 percent from 32 in
2014/15 to 157 in 2018/19.
In 2018/19 there were approximately
1.53 million New Zealand recreational
boaties including many younger ones.
Kayaks, followed by power boats under
six metres, were the most commonly
used or owned recreational vessels.
More men than women continue to go
boating in 2019. In addition to having a
higher rate of participation in boating,
men aged over 40 account for most of
the fatalities. The chances of a fatality
can be reduced by wearing a lifejacket
and taking two forms of communication
(at least one of which is waterproof) to
call for help. It is also important to check
the weather before going out, and to
avoid alcohol.

Where to from here
Together with our partners on the NZ
Safer Boating Forum, we will continue to
use a combination of safety awareness
programmes and enforcement to target
key risk factors that lead to fatalities.
This includes running national advertising
campaigns, delivering a high-profile Safer
Boating Week as part of a first-ever
NZ Safer Boating Forum Water Safety
Month in October, providing support for
on-water activities with regional councils
and allocating funds from the Fuel Excise
Duty (FED) to nationally aligned regional
safety initiatives.

Commercial sectors
Over the last few years the number of
fatalities occurring within our commercial
sectors has been low compared with the
recreational sector, except in 2016/17,
when a single commercial incident
in Kaipara Harbour contributed to an
increase in the death toll.
This year we delivered several health
and safety campaigns, including
focused inspection campaigns. We also
worked with WorkSafe to improve our
understanding of stakeholders’ duties
when they are operating as Persons
Conducting a Business or Undertaking
(PCBUs), so we can review and improve
health and safety arrangements.
Despite the relatively low number of five
fatalities in the commercial sector this
year, the number of serious harm events
reported to us increased in 2018/19 –
45, compared with 28 reported in the
same period last year.
This increase was driven by 16 incidents
in Foreign Shipping (up from 8 in the
previous year) and 11 from Domestic
Passenger/Non-Passenger Outdoor
Adventure. We are receiving more
notifications than in the past. This is
encouraging as we know that there is a
significant under reporting.

Where to from here
We will continue to monitor the number
and nature of notifications as part of
maintaining a strong focus on safety
across all sectors.

The majority of the 15 fatalities might have been avoided if lifejackets had been worn, two forms of waterproof communication were
taken to call for help, weather conditions were properly checked before going out, and alcohol consumption was avoided.
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SECURE – Our maritime transport system protects people
and goods from unlawful actions as they move across
domestic and international waters
SYSTEM INDICATOR

TARGET

2018/19 RESULT

Security incidents reported by ports and offshore
industry bodies annually in New Zealand waters.

No security incidents8
are reported in
New Zealand waters.

No security incidents reported

During the year all New Zealand ports
remained compliant with the International
Ship and Port Security (ISPS) Code.
Sixteen maritime security exercises were
conducted at ports across New Zealand,
involving industry and government
agencies. Conducting port inspections,
overseeing audits, maintaining
intelligence relationships and testing port
security plans by carrying out maritime
security exercises ensure we can
measure preparedness and response
capability.
We also undertook capacity building in
the Pacific. In conjunction with the United
States Coast Guard, we provided advice
to several Pacific nations to enhance
their security capability.
Since the Christchurch terrorist attack,
the security environment in New Zealand
has changed and the security levels
reflect the more dynamic risks within
New Zealand. The attack underscored
that New Zealand cannot be complacent
about the threat of terrorist events. It
reset the risk and security settings for
New Zealand.
Maritime NZ is an active participant in the
New Zealand national security system

8

16

through its responsibility for coordinating
and managing New Zealand port security
Maritime security settings did not alter
during the March 2019 terrorist attacks
as Port security plans and associated
security activities were operating
effectively, however all ports increased
their security awareness and vigilance
over that period. All ports remain
compliant to the Maritime Security Act
2004 and port security capability remains
effective and efficient.

Rationale
Security in the maritime area is delivered
through the combined efforts of multiple
parties; several government agencies
have roles and responsibilities, as do
commercial operators of ports and
vessels. This coalition must work
together effectively for the overall security
system to work well.
Our role in this multi-party security
system is to administer the Maritime
Security Act 2004 and its associated
regulations in order to bring the
requirements of the ISPS Code into
legislation, establishing security
standards for shipping and ports.
New Zealand’s ability to maintain trade

with other countries, particularly the
United States, is contingent on meeting
our international and regionally set ship
and port facility security obligations.
We have close relationships with
New Zealand intelligence agencies and
participate actively in the New Zealand
all-of-government processes so we can
receive intelligence to provide situational
awareness and indications of threats.
The March 2019 events in Christchurch
highlighted the need to provide ports
with advice of a security nature to allow
them to continue operations and trade
activity.

Where to from here
We need to be vigilant to ensure
New Zealand ports are ready and able
to respond to any future security events.
Our security exercise regime with all
ports will continue, port security plans will
be reviewed, and our connections and
relationships with intelligence agencies
and relevant government agencies will
continue to be very important. Our efforts
to enhance port security in the Pacific
are also likely to continue, dependent on
securing funding.

This target refers to incidents that meet the threshold of an incident as defined in the Maritime Security Act.
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CLEAN – Our marine environment is clean and protected
SYSTEM INDICATOR

Annual number of oil spill incidents reported in
New Zealand waters

In 2018/19 a total of 98 oil spills across
New Zealand (Tier 1 and 2)9 were
reported. This is higher than 2017/18
but, as in previous years, most of these
spills were of very small quantities – often
a few fractions of a litre – and there
were no spills with significant, enduring
environmental impacts. The data
reflects the rigour of oil spill reporting
requirements. The Tier 2 response to oil
spills during the year have been timely
and effective, reflecting a well-trained
regional capability. The recently initiated
Marine Pollution Response Service
(MPRS) capability assessment checks
(a formal response to assess regional
council preparedness) reinforce the view
that Tier 2 capability remains good and
can adequately respond to an event.
In addition to the number and quantity of
oil spills, the impact of waste, plastic and
sewage on our oceans and coastlines
is well known and New Zealand is
committed to finding ways to address
the problem as part of the global effort
to meet the United Nations’ Sustainable
Development Goal 14 (SDG14). We
are supporting this effort through
our international engagement in the
International Maritime Organization
(IMO), as well as our activities under
the Maritime Operator Safety System
(MOSS) and Port State Control (PSC)
inspections to minimise all sources of
waste from ships.

9

TARGET

2018/19 RESULT

Reduce oil spill incidents by 15%
by 2021 (from 2014/15).

98 oil spills reported

Less than 80 oil spills reported

During the year we:
•

•

conducted audits which also
addressed marine environment
protection issues. We continued
to audit operators on a risk-based
approach to ensure compliance
with all safety and marine protection
regulations

•

conducted investigations which
focused on both safety and
marine protection. For example,
investigations relating to groundings
and fatigue issues have both safety
outcomes and marine protection
outcomes by reducing the risk of spills
of harmful substances and events that
damage marine habitats

•

undertook a Common Compliance
Practice Project with local
government. The project focused
on ensuring compliance practices in
the different regions were uniform,
including both safety and marine
protection outcomes and raising
awareness of the existing powers in
the legislation

•

sent oil spill and maritime incident
response personnel to the Solomon
Islands for two months to assist
Australian maritime authorities in
dealing with oil leaking from the
Solomon Trader grounded off
Rennel Island

deployed additional incident response
personnel to the West Coast to
assist the local district council in
cleaning up debris from the flooding in
Franz Josef.

Training and exercising to increase
regional council and National Response
Team oil spill response capability is
essential. Our National Response Team
capability has grown over the year by
improving our information management
system, enhancing situational awareness
tools and progressing the effectiveness
of the Incident Management Team
and National On-Scene Commander
capability.

Rationale
Activities such as shipping and offshore
oil and gas development have economic
relevance to New Zealand, but they can
create maritime safety and environmental
protection issues. We have historically
had a significant focus on the prevention
of and response to oil spills, but following
the 2011 Rena incident the broader
maritime and community impacts from
maritime activity have come more to
the fore.
Most marine oil spills in our waters are
small in volume, easily managed and
of low impact. However, New Zealand
also needs to be ready to respond to
significant, high-volume spills, which are
low-probability events but of high impact.

Tier 1 oil spills are responded to and resolved by the operator. Oil spill response capability is based on risk. The level of response is
expected to consist of a timely ‘first strike’ and includes the capacity for Maritime NZ to assist if there is an escalation to a Tier 2 or
Tier 3 response. Tier 2 oil spills are generally those beyond the capability of the operator acting alone and the response is led and
resolved by the local regional council. The specific capacity required by the regional council is based on the risks at its location.
Tier 3 oil spills are generally more complex, of longer duration and impact, and beyond the response capability of the regional council
or operator. The response is nationally led and coordinated by Maritime NZ.
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Therefore, New Zealand’s marine oil spill
response system needs to be broad in its
application, with the capability to mount
an effective response, whatever the scale
of spill.
We monitor the number of oil spills
(including type of oil and total volume),
which are reported directly to us or via
regional councils. The Maritime Transport
Act (MTA) 1994 and the associated
Marine Protection Rules set standards
for both New Zealand and foreign
ships in line with our obligations under
internationally agreed conventions. These
include standards around waste and
oil discharges, as well as standards for
minimising biosecurity risks from ballast
water.
The key conventions concerning marine
environmental protection that we work
with are the:
•

International Convention for the
Prevention of Pollution from Ships,
1973/78 (commonly referred to as
MARPOL), Annexes I, II, III & V10

•

International Convention for the
Control and Management of Ships’
Ballast Water and Sediments, 2004
(BWM)

•

International Convention on
Oil Pollution Preparedness,
Response and Co-operation, 1990
(OPRC Convention).

In line with international practice, foreignflagged ships visiting New Zealand ports
are subject to PSC inspections, which
include checking that certification, record
keeping, and construction, equipment
and maintenance standards meet the
necessary environmental requirements.
We are actively involved with the Tokyo
MOU, where information from PSC
operations and inspection results are
shared across the Member States,
allowing targeted and prioritised ship
inspections.

Our domestic ships have to meet
similar standards for protecting our
marine environment. New Zealand ships
operating on our coast and within our
harbours are required to be designed
and constructed, surveyed and certified,
and plan how they will meet the
standards set in the Marine Protection
Rules.
Commercial vessels must have a safety
management system. Most operate
within MOSS, which requires inclusion
of an environmental plan as part of
their Maritime Transport Operator Plan
(MTOP). Each operator outlines how they
plan to meet their obligations under the
New Zealand legal framework for marine
environment protection including for
garbage, sewage and oil wastes.

Where to from here
We are initiating work to improve
community and iwi awareness of our
role, how we can work with them and
share learnings of what is important
during a major oil spill. International
partnerships are an important response
and learning tool that we will continue to
foster, especially with Australian Maritime
Authorities, our Pacific partners and
international response agencies.
We will support the development of
operators’ Tier 1 response capability
through active engagement and the
provision of guidance, advice and
expertise about what is required. Our
focus continues to be on working with
the major oil transfer sites as these pose
the greatest potential risk.
As a result of what we learnt from the
Solomon Trader11 incident, we have
reviewed oil spill response planning in the
logistics area. The use of the WebEOC
web-based emergency management
system has meant we can coordinate
effectively and make better decisions

faster to ensure our environment is
clean and protected.
Internationally we will engage in a
number of fora to ensure a robust
international regulatory environment for
the maritime industry. Examples include
the Pollution Prevention and Response
Subcommittee and Marine Environment
Protection Committee meetings attended
at the International Maritime Organization
(IMO). Maritime NZ heads the delegations
to both of these key forums, although
some specific topics under discussion
are led by other agencies.
Key issues will be implementation
issues surrounding existing obligations,
and policy considerations on potential
changes to ballast water management
regulations and regulations controlling
loss of plastics from ships. In the future
our involvement at the IMO will include
continuing work on:
•

developing guidance on hazardous
substance spill response

•

ensuring robust regulation continues,
e.g. exempting unmanned, non-selfpropelled barges from survey and
certification

•

representing other New Zealand
agencies who do not attend on
certain topics within their interests,
e.g. controlling substances used in
paints on ships

•

supporting other New Zealand lead
agencies with reviews of biofouling
guidelines and establishing a system
for controlling greenhouse gases from
ships

•

considering how to address risks from
shipping noise

•

providing input into (New Zealand is
not party to the relevant convention)
consideration of additional
requirements for regulating sewage
discharges and ongoing work on air
emissions from ships.

10 MARPOL Annex I, prevention of pollution by oil, Annex II, control of pollution by noxious liquid substances, Annex III, prevention of
pollution by harmful substances carried in packaged form and Annex V, prevention of pollution by garbage.
11 Lessons include the challenges of the marine oil spill response in remote and austere locations and the importance of legislative and
regulatory frameworks to support Pacific Island countries’ management of large vessel casualties.

18

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

Ministry of Transport’s
framework for shaping our
transport system
The Ministry of Transport (MoT) recently confirmed a new outcomes framework for the transport system.
The framework is intended to give broad direction to the transport system on the contribution it makes to
improving intergenerational wellbeing and the quality of life in New Zealand’s cities, towns and provinces.
During the year we worked with MoT and
stakeholders from across the transport
sector to develop outcomes framework
measures for the New Zealand transport
system. We helped MoT’s efforts to

quantify and measure progress towards
improving wellbeing and liveability for all
New Zealanders by attending a series
of focused workshops, to refine a set of
indicators for each outcome. Over the

Inclusive access

Healthy and
safe people

Enabling all people to participate in
society through access to social and
economic opportunities, such as
work, education, and healthcare.

Economic prosperity
Supporting economic activity via
local, regional, and international
connections, with efficient
movements of people and products.

Resilience and security
Minimising and managing the risks from
natural and human-made hazards,
anticipating and adapting to emerging
threats, and recovering effectively from
disruptive events.

next year we will contribute maritime
sector information and MoT is expected
to release the first set of reporting on the
outcomes framework indicators in early
2020.

A transport
system that
improves
wellbeing and
liveability

Protecting people
from transport-related
injuries and harmful
pollution, and making
active travel an
attractive option.

Environmental
sustainability
Transitioning to net
zero carbon emissions,
and maintaining or
improving biodiversity,
water quality, and air
quality.
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Our activity as an
effective regulator
This year has been one of transformation that positions us well for the future. Since 2012 we have
developed as an effective regulator in line with other New Zealand and international regulators. We have
increasingly adopted an outcomes-focused approach that is evidence-based, intelligence-led and
risk-focused. This will ensure our policy and operational actions (whether involving changes to rules,
education, guidance, campaigns or prosecutions) drive safety, security and environmental improvements.
During the year, we have delivered
key projects and initiatives that help to
future proof our role as New Zealand’s
regulatory, compliance and response
agency for the safety, security and
environmental protection of the maritime
environment. Several of these projects
are highlighted below.

Full review of
Maritime NZ’s funding
The six-yearly review of Maritime NZ’s
funding was completed during the year –
with revised levies and fees coming into
effect on 1 July 2019.
The Funding Review involved a
substantive review of the Maritime Levy
regime (which is a primary revenue
source to fund our key safety regulatory
functions) and the fees which fund other
activities and services including seafarer
licensing certification. A key focus of the
review was to address previous sector
concerns about the transparency and
fairness of the method used to allocate
the levies across various payer groups.
Independent economic advisors Castalia
were commissioned to provide advice
on a revised, simple, fair and transparent
allocation methodology.
The Funding Review changed the
Maritime Levy and fees and, along with
additional Fuel Excise Duty (FED) funding
we have received, this will generate the
revenue required for us to operate over
the next six years of our funding cycle.
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The Maritime Levy applies to all
New Zealand and foreign commercial
vessels visiting New Zealand. The revised
method applies the Treasury and Office
of the Auditor-General guidelines as set
out in the Transport Regulatory System
Funding Principles. Additional revenue
we collect is directly linked to increasing
the scope of our core regulatory,
compliance and response activities.
This includes dedicated funding to
meet sector expectations to engage on
international shipping issues; improve
standards for surveyor performance;
keep maritime and marine protection
rules and regulations up to date;
improve regulatory performance through
increased use of data and information;
and increase the ability to contribute
to the management and oversight of
port and harbour safety. The increased
funding is also expected to ensure that
we are better placed to do financial
forecasting and improve our IT systems
to support the work we do.
Other key changes resulting from the full
Funding Review are:
•

a revised allocation methodology for
the Maritime Levy

•

a reduction in most ship registration
fees

•

a single reduced fee of $368 (GST
inclusive) for seafarer certificates and
endorsements

•

no charges for routine maritime safety
audits and inspections, as well as
travel costs (recovering the cost of
these through the Maritime Levy)
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•

a single hourly rate of $245 (GST
inclusive) for activities that are
charged on actual time taken (and the
basis for fixed fees).

Mid-point Oil Pollution
Levy review
A mid-point Oil Pollution Levy (OPL)
review was carried out this year, three
years into our six-year capability
improvement programme. Maritime NZ
sought feedback on three options for the
second half of the six-year levy period
covering the amount of revenue sought
and how the levy is applied.
The OPL is collected from industry to
run New Zealand’s marine oil pollution
preparedness and response system,
which is delivered by Maritime NZ’s
Marine Pollution Response Service. It
applies to all commercial vessels over
100 gross tons and more than 24 metres
in length (except those operating in fresh
water) that use oil as fuel and/or carry
oil as cargo, offshore oil installations,
exploration wells and oil pipelines.
The review allowed us to amend the
levy to better reflect the risk assessment
around marine oil spills and the activity
levels across the contributing sector.
Overall the review will ensure we will
continue to raise the target revenue set
in 2016 to continue making progress
in replacing older equipment, and
increasing New Zealand’s ability to
respond to oil spills further from shore.

Positioning Maritime NZ
for the future
An increase in revenue brings increased
expectations, and our breadth of activity
has expanded along with our resourcing
and capabilities. To ensure that we can
deliver on the increased expectations of
all of our stakeholders, we have recently
implemented our organisation change
initiative, ‘Future State 2’.

•

•

Although our dedicated focus on safe,
secure and clean seas and waterways
has not changed, the rationale for
Future State 2 is clear. Expectations are
dramatically different from eight years
ago and we have had to evolve by:
•

strengthening our approach
to stakeholder engagement,
communication and coordination

•

reinforcing the key contribution of
maritime expertise and experience by
repositioning our maritime technical,
environmental and navigational team
at the executive level, with a stronger
focus on providing the Director with
assurance about the performance of
New Zealand’s maritime systems
taking a whole-of-system approach
to:
•

our regulatory systems work
by positioning our international
engagement, domestic and
operational policy together with
legal services

•

our compliance systems by
integrating certification and
entry controls with other core
compliance activities

accelerating our approach to being
an effective maritime regulatory,

compliance and response
organisation by grouping and
strengthening our strategy, systems,
planning, governance, information
and intelligence functions
•

continuing our safety and response
functions to lead the development
of maritime oil and non-oil readiness
and response capability; providing
navigational safety and maritime
distress communications services,
and security services; and delivering
rescue coordination services across
air, land and sea in one of the largest
rescue coordination regions in
the world.

These actions will place the organisation
in a strong position to fulfil its
functions, cope with change and meet
expectations.
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Influencing international
outcomes to reflect
New Zealand’s interests
As a specialised UN agency, the IMO is
the global standard-setting authority for
the safety, security and environmental
performance of international shipping.
Many maritime treaties to which
New Zealand is already party have ‘tacit
acceptance’ mechanisms, which means
that ongoing amendments to the treaties
apply to New Zealand unless we actively
object within a determined timeframe.
Unless we maintain effective engagement
at the IMO, there is risk that New Zealand
will become subject to new obligations
that it did not want to accept and will not
properly be implemented into domestic
law. This requires a coordinated and
planned approach within and across
Maritime NZ and across relevant
agencies (such as the Ministry of
Transport, Ministry of Foreign Affairs and
Trade, Ministry for the Environment and
Ministry for Primary Industries).
Over the year we have continued our
strategic approach and demonstrated
our knowledge of prioritising the
allocation of limited resources to
international developments that have
the most impact on outcomes for
New Zealand’s maritime system and
environment. Among other things, we
led the introduction of safety measures
for non-SOLAS12 ships operating in polar
waters. Known as Polar Code II, these
measures ensure that fishing vessels and
pleasure yachts are properly prepared

for visits to the Antarctic region, as is
already the case with larger ships. Our
leading role in the Polar Code II initiative
resulted in the development of a draft
IMO Assembly Resolution for adoption in
November 2019.
Since 2007 we have worked at the
IMO for changes to improve the
safety of lifting equipment on ships by
including lifting appliances within the
safety management system mandated
under the international convention
for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS).
In 2006 we completed an inspection
campaign focused on ships’ cranes. This
highlighted significant safety deficiencies,
leading Maritime NZ to propose to the
IMO that the area of on-board ship crane
safety should be given much greater
attention.
Our engagement and momentum on
this issue have increased steadily since
2011. This year we achieved agreement
in principle on a draft amendment to
the mandatory regulations of SOLAS,
to require the design, maintenance and
operation of ships’ lifting appliances to
meet agreed international standards
and be certificated as such. Increasing
the safety of new and existing lifting
appliances, such as on-board cargo
cranes, will directly improve safety
outcomes for New Zealand stevedores
and reduce the risk of damage to
New Zealand imports and export
cargoes. SOLAS is currently limited to
amendment once every four years. It is
envisaged this amendment to SOLAS will
enter into force on 1 January 2024.

We accepted an invitation to become a
member of the Joint Working Group13
for Search and Rescue (SAR) at the
IMO and the International Civil Aviation
Organization (ICAO). New Zealand is
one of only eight member countries
worldwide to be invited on this
working group.
Drawing on expertise from throughout
Maritime NZ we worked closely with
the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade
(MFAT) and Pacific Island Governments
as its delivery partners to progress the
Pacific Maritime Safety Programme
(PMSP), which is fully funded by the
NZ Aid Programme. The overall goal of
PMSP is that Pacific maritime transport
is safe, is environmentally friendly and
meets international requirements.
We also have delivered substantial
capacity-building and awareness
initiatives in the Pacific Island nations of
the Cook Islands, Kiribati, Niue, Samoa,
Tokelau, Tonga and Tuvalu. This included
training in marine survey and audit,
marine pollution response and search
and rescue as well as small vessel
handling, maritime safety education
for Pacific fishers and investment in
maintenance of maritime infrastructure.
Our strengthened relationships with
Pacific nations have increased our
reputation, credibility and influence in the
area. This bodes well for drawing future
support from these nations in terms of
pursuing mutual interests at the IMO, and
other maritime regional fora.

12 Non-SOLAS ships are commercial vessels that are not subject to the requirements of the International Convention for the Safety of Life
at Sea (SOLAS), 1974.
13 The IMO and ICAO established a Joint Working Group (JWG) 20 years ago to harmonise aeronautical and maritime SAR response. The
JWG meets annually to deal with matters referred to it by its two parent organisations. One of the JWG’s primary purposes is to act as
an editorial board for the International Aeronautical and Maritime Search and Rescue (IAMSAR) Manual.
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Our people
Our success as
an organisation is
underpinned by our
people
Our people are at the core of our
effectiveness as a regulatory, compliance
and response agency. We are committed
to providing a positive and productive
work environment to enable people to
excel. Our intention is to be a resilient,
healthy, capable organisation that values
and energises its people to deliver
high-quality services.
As at 30 June 2019 we had a total
headcount of 261 people based in our
13 regional offices including Wellington
head office, the Rescue Coordination
Centre New Zealand (RCCNZ) in Avalon,
Lower Hutt, and the MPRS in Te Atatu,
Auckland.

Delivery of people
capability initiatives

Health, safety and
wellbeing

One of our organisational priorities is
supporting the development of our
people. With the help of staff with
specialist learning and development
expertise and dedicating resourcing
to learning and development, we have
made significant progress over the past
year in providing a range of new learning
initiatives.

Health, safety and wellbeing (HSW)
continues to be one of our key focus
areas. A series of HSW risk workshops
have been completed across the entire
organisation to inform the updating of
our hazard and risk registers and further
refine the controls already in place to
help keep our people safe.

These include a focus on developing
management and leadership skills
accompanied by an extensive
organisation-wide coaching programme.
We are also strengthening the
provision of learning and development
opportunities for staff (particularly
those who are public facing) including
the ongoing development and
implementation of core learning with
online modules, animations and
performance support tools. We remain
firmly part of the Government Regulatory
Practice Initiative (G-Reg), with all staff
completing the G-Reg core regulatory
practice knowledge qualification.

Selection and implementation of an
online hazard and incident reporting
and management system has been a
focus in the latter part of the year with
organisation-wide rollout underway.
This system reinforces the continuous
improvement culture in regard to hazard/
risk management and incident reporting.
The introduction of HSW working groups,
as a subset of our HSW Committee,
has proved very successful. The
working groups have helped foster the
development of a strong HSW culture
with initiatives including the creation of
the HSW vision below. Regular, planned
HSW communications to profile key
initiatives, and the provision of health and
safety representative training, have also
raised awareness and understanding of
HSW within Maritime NZ.

Health, safety and wellbeing vision
Maritime NZ aims to be a leader in health, safety and wellbeing

LEADERSHIP

OWNERSHIP

CULTURE

We walk the talk

We lead by example

We own our health
and safety practices and
we follow them

We all contribute to
safety and wellbeing

We take good care
of each other

We make health and
safety a part of how we
work, not separate to
what we do

We work together to
make our workplace a
safe, healthy and fun
place to work

We hold each other
to account
We take action if we are
concerned about health
and safety

We set high standards
for ourselves
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Provision of equal
opportunities
We are a diverse organisation, where
difference is valued. This is evident in our
recruitment and selection practices. We
aim to attract a diverse workforce with
a broad range of skills and experience
aligned with our culture and core
capabilities.
We recognise, respect and value
differences and are committed
to providing equal employment
opportunities for all. This ensures better
outcomes for our people, who are more
satisfied with their employment, and for
the people we are ultimately here for –
the people of New Zealand.

Workforce profile as at 30 June 2019
FTE and headcounts
FTE

HEADCOUNT

Permanent employees

208.63

210

Fixed-term employees

11.00

11

0

40

219.63

261

Temps/Contractors
Total

Maritime NZ promotes the principle
of equal opportunities in employment
to ensure that our people capability
practices meet ‘good employer’
obligations.
Our appointments are based on merit,
to ensure fairness in employment
for all people. We are committed to
promoting a culture in which all people,
whatever their gender, ethnic or social
background, sexual orientation, role or
other differences, are valued and treated
equally and with respect.

61% OPERATIONAL
3% POLICY

Role
classification

8% ADMINISTRATION
13% CORPORATE
3% EXECUTIVE
12% MANAGEMENT

Flexibility and work
design
Our policies support flexible working
arrangements, including flexible hours,
and working from home or alternative
locations. We invest in technology to
enable staff in different locations to link
and collaborate with colleagues.
Maritime NZ provides active support to
staff with family and other obligations.
Approximately six percent of our staff are
on flexible work arrangements relating to
work location and working hours.

71% NZ EUROPEAN/
OTHER EUROPEAN
2% PACIFICA

Ethnicity

3% OTHER ETHNICITY
12% NOT STATED
4% ASIAN
3% INDIAN
5% MĀORI
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7.79
average days
lost due to
sickness/accidents/
domestic leave
7.34 in 2017/18
Increase primarily reflects
a small number of staff on
long-term sick leave. We
are actively managing each
employee’s situation with their
respective managers.

13.61%
staff turnover

10.16% in 2017/18
28 permanent employees left
Maritime NZ due to career
advancement (16), family
reasons/moving overseas (6),
retirement (3), and following
long-term illness (3). This is
1.51% higher than the State
Services Commission Public
Service Workforce Data 2018
benchmark.

77.4%
engagement

Maritime NZ’s staff
engagement is 8.4% higher
than the public sector
benchmark (IBM Kenexa)
of 69%.

23.5%

11.87

injuries14/accidents15
per 100 employees
per annum
7.2 in 2017/18

near misses17

Incidents18 reported as a
proportion of all reported
accidents and incidents
50% in 2017/18

We have actively sought to increase
accident reporting through reporting
awareness training for staff and an
energised HSW Committee.16
The increased level of reporting is also
the result of a drive to encourage pain
and discomfort reporting and awarenessraising of the benefit of early intervention.

6 years

average service
For permanent staff, this is less
than the State Services Commission
Public Service Workforce Data 2018
average tenure of nine years.

46

average age
New recruits are generally younger
than Maritime NZ’s existing workforce.
The average age of those recruited into
Maritime NZ in the year to 30 June 2019
was 46 years, compared with
47 years for the existing workforce.

Secondments
and promotions
Promotions

3%

Internal secondments

15%

External secondments

2%

We actively seek to support staff
development, through secondment
opportunities and the promotion
of staff based on merit.

The ratio of total accidents/incidents
reported (34) exceeds the number of
near-miss reporting incidents (8).
As a result of the reduction in near miss
reporting over the last 12 months, an
invigorated campaign highlighting the
importance of near-miss reporting will
be a focus of HSW communications
over the next financial year.

Gender
Gender

Female

Male

Other

Authority

60%

40%

0%

Executive

50%

50%

0%

All employees

40%

60%

0%

40% of our staff is female. Although this is
lower than the 2018 public service level of
60.9% and the overall 2018 labour force level
of 47.5% (from Stats NZ’s Household Labour
Force Survey), it reflects the number of
women interested in developing the specialist/
technical skills, qualifications and experience
requirements for a significant number of
our roles. We are actively reviewing role
requirements to ensure that they do not
reflect unconscious bias.

Staff benefits

90%

of our staff enrolled
in KiwiSaver
superannuation
In addition to KiwiSaver superannuation,
eligible staff* are provided with life and
income protection insurance.
* Maritime NZ group insurance
scheme has maximum age limits
for insurance cover.

14 Injury – harm to person or persons.
15 Accident – a work-related event that has caused injury to a person or multiple people (including mental injury); or pain/discomfort is
experienced.
16 The majority of the injuries reported required first aid treatment only.
17 Near miss – a work-related accident or incident that had the potential to cause an injury but didn’t. There is no damage to a vehicle,
property or the environment. These events usually involve hazards.
18 Incident – a work-related event that has not caused injury but has caused damage to a vehicle, property or the environment; and/or
involves violence, aggression, drugs or alcohol; and/or a security breach.
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We comply with the principles
of being a good employer
We provide safe working conditions, and have impartial recruitment and selection processes, and fair
employment practices and policies. Below we summarise our activities this year against the seven key
elements of being a ‘good employer’.
ELEMENT

OUR ACTIVITY THIS YEAR
•

Our values of integrity, commitment and respect guide and drive an organisational culture dedicated
to making a positive difference in respect to the maritime safety and environmental outcomes we are
mandated to achieve.

•

We continue to focus on staff development and provide a comprehensive range of learning and
development opportunities for staff across Maritime NZ, including secondments and management
opportunities, as well as formal, informal and on-the-job learning.

•

The implementation of our organisation-wide people capability programme is a key area of focus,
providing clear alignment with our values, strategy and operational requirements.

•

We continue to invest in our people management capability with the introduction of an extensive
coaching programme; the implementation of a Coaching for Performance Conversations programme;
and the continuation of the Management in Action programme for new managers. A focus has also
been on developing leadership skills with the implementation of an Emerging Leaders programme.

•

Bringing all our staff together for our annual conference fosters internal communication, facilitates
feedback from staff on new initiatives, and allows staff to present on their work.

•

Monthly staff get-togethers are held to acknowledge significant developments and introduce new
staff.

•

Our specialist staff coordinate a transparent hiring process to ensure we meet legislative requirements
and select the best people for the right position, at the appropriate time.

•

We are committed to diversity and inclusion, the elimination of conscious and unconscious bias, and
equal employment opportunities.

•

A variety of recruitment channels, both national and international, are used to attract quality
applicants.

•

We are an accredited employer with the New Zealand Immigration Service.

•

All new staff are required to attend a two-day comprehensive staff orientation programme (run three
times a year) covering all key areas of our organisation.

•

We are committed to the Government Regulatory Practice Initiative (G-Reg) with all new staff
completing the G-Reg core regulatory practice knowledge qualification (Level 3). A number of
interested staff have also progressed to complete, or are undertaking, the G-Reg Operational
Knowledge qualification (Level 4).

•

We are focused on providing role and individual specific learning and development opportunities
for all staff (particularly frontline staff) with the ongoing development and implementation of core
learning which includes online modules, animations and performance support tools as well as
internal secondment opportunities and selection processes which are transparent and equitable.
All promotions are based on merit.

Leadership,
accountability
and culture

Recruitment, selection
and induction

Employee development,
promotion and exit
•
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A performance development and remuneration framework is in place.
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ELEMENT

Flexibility and
work design

Remuneration,
recognition
and conditions

OUR ACTIVITY THIS YEAR
•

We have policies that support flexible working arrangements, including flexible hours, and working
from home or alternative locations. Applications by staff for flexible working arrangements are
considered on their merits and agreed to whenever possible.

•

We provide active support to staff with family and other obligations.

•

We encourage our staff to take annual leave in the year it is accrued and to manage their hours to
maintain wellbeing.

•

Professional ergonomic workstation assessments are undertaken for all new and existing staff as
required, and any recommendations for purchase of ergonomic equipment are implemented.

•

Major regional offices are inter-linked with video conferencing facilities.

•

Our job evaluation processes include ongoing review of job descriptions to ensure they accurately
reflect the work being done. An independent specialist provider undertakes job evaluations for new or
significantly amended roles.

•

The organisation’s remuneration structure is reviewed annually, and is referenced against the All
Organisation’s market information from an external organisation with expertise in this field.

•

Two staff received a 2018 Chief Executive Development Award, a recognition programme that
supports personal development opportunities that are not part of the organisation’s standard learning
and development programme.

•

We recognise it is critical to review and communicate key policies and practices for all staff, which we
do through our induction processes and our intranet website, Stingray.

•

We have a zero tolerance to bullying and deal with it promptly and appropriately.

•

Robust anti-harassment policy and procedures are in place. We have several trained internal antiharassment support people.

•

A suite of policies and procedures providing guidance to our staff is available on the organisation’s
Stingray intranet site. These include the organisation’s Code of Conduct, which is aligned with the
wider State Services Commission Standards of Integrity and Conduct.

•

We are committed to providing a healthy and safe working environment. This is supported by our
HSW policy statement, a wide range of associated HSW policies and procedures, and HSW training
for all staff.

•

All staff completed an induction e-learning module about HSW at Maritime NZ as well as a set of
compulsory HSW e-learning training modules about the Health and Safety at Work Act.

•

We have strengthened the HSW Committee. This is chaired by the Director, with representatives
from all levels and groups across the organisation and from the Public Service Association. Staff
participation in HSW matters is strongly encouraged.

•

The organisation actively encourages HSW reporting. This includes a particular focus on pain and
discomfort reporting to manage the HSW risk associated with workstation/ergonomics for new and
existing staff. Reports are followed up promptly with a specialist occupational therapist assessment.
Any recommendations for provision of ergonomic equipment and biofeedback/stress management
are actioned. We provide ‘sit/stand’ desks for all staff that need them.

•

Support is available to all staff through a confidential Employee Assistance Programme (EAP).

•

We provide annual flu immunisation for all staff. More than half of our staff received a flu immunisation
this year through this programme.

Harassment and
bullying prevention

Safe and healthy
environment
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Supporting safe, secure and
clean waters requires ongoing
engagement and vigilance
Our annual strategic work programme is focused on developing the capability of our people, and ensuring
that our regulatory, compliance and response systems and processes are well aligned and are enhanced
to effectively deliver Maritime NZ’s mission and vision.

Aligning our work
To help drive our transition to being an effective regulator, we have developed four strategic ‘pivots’. These describe how we will
deliver our outputs, our ongoing strategic work programme, and core functions to achieve our strategic goals. They also shape the
way we work and interact with those we regulate and provide services to.

Increase our influence in
the international maritime
regulatory and response
environment

Strengthen our
facilitation and
leadership role within the
New Zealand maritime
sector

Enhance the value
and effectiveness of
our regulatory and
compliance functions

Make it easy for the
regulated parties to do
the right thing

•

We will represent and advance New Zealand’s interests on international
maritime regulatory and response matters in the Pacific, in the Asia-Pacific
region and at the International Maritime Organization.

•

By working with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade and our regional
and international counterparts on areas of mutual benefit, sharing knowledge,
identifying good practice, and building capacity and capability, we will help
position our domestic maritime sector well for the future.

•

We will focus on strong connections and collaboration with industry and
regulatory partners to deliver a modern, safe, accessible and resilient transport
system.

•

Maritime NZ is unique in having a broad and deep perspective across the
maritime sector. By linking and facilitating engagement between industry
participants and the right parts of government, we will support a broader
strategic view of maritime industry issues across industry and government.

•

We will work to ensure the regulatory environment meets legislative
requirements, and enables a greater maritime industry contribution to
New Zealand’s intergenerational wellbeing.

•

This requires a strong focus on understanding the maritime sector and driving
regulatory performance, while being mindful of compliance requirements on
those we regulate.

•

We will support, encourage and require high levels of compliance by working to
ensure regulatory requirements are appropriate, set out clearly, communicated
effectively, and enforced fairly and consistently.

•

Making it as easy as possible to comply with safety, security and marine
protection requirements will result in better outcomes.

We have used these pivots to shape and prioritise our work programme and major initiatives. Examples of the pivots in operation
are highlighted against our strategic performance indicators in our strategic goals section below.
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How our measures tell our performance story
Measure: Annual rate of
maritime fatalities and serious
harm injuries for each sector
per 100,000 NZ population

System (outcomes)
To show the extent to which NZ’s
maritime system is safe, secure and clean
by monitoring changes at the system
level that depend on complex, dynamic
interactions and factors that Maritime NZ
has only limited or indirect control over.

SAFE

Strategic (goals)
To show the impact of our collective
activities and their contribution to
improvements in safety, security and
cleanliness, over the medium term
by monitoring our strategic impact to
ensure that Maritime NZ’s activities are
directed appropriately and where they
can make most difference over time.
We also monitor aspects of our
collective internal organisational
capability since this also contributes
to our ability to impact on those we
regulate.

Impacts

A resultsdriven and
resilient
organisation,
working
collaboratively
for success

We have an integrated
information base that
supports quality decisionmaking.

We collaborate with
other agencies to share
resources and build
capability that improves
government services.

We are a resilient, healthy,
capable organisation, with
people who are valued
and enabled to sustainably
deliver high quality
regulatory, compliance and
response services.

Our business processes
drive better service
making use of technology
to minimise regulatory
burden.

Regulation that is relevant
and robust
Impacts

Indicators

Our international engagement
ensures global regulation aligns with
New Zealand’s interests.

Prioritised contribution at international
meetings and fora, where we can
influence international outcomes to
reflect New Zealand’s interests.

Our policy advice ensures maritime
safety, security and marine
environmental protection regulation is
fit-for-purpose.

Operational (outputs)
To continuously improve the quality
of Maritime NZ’s core activities and
functions. Monitoring our operational
delivery performance on a regular
basis is undertaken by tracking our
activities and ‘effort’ (through quantity,
timeliness, quality and cost indicators).
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Target: Reduce maritime sector
fatalities and serious harm
injuries by 25 per cent by 2021

The transport regulatory programme
is appropriately prioritised to ensure
regulation is fit-for-purpose.

Government initiatives are informed
by an awareness of maritime safety,
security and marine environmental
protection interests.

Our engagement and policy advice
improves external stakeholders’
understanding of safety, security and
environmental protection interests.

We continually assess our performance
to inform and improve regulation
and compliance practice that meets
regulatory stewardship expectations.

By applying good regulatory
stewardship, the effectiveness and
efficiency of rules and regulations will
improve over time.

Output Class 1:
Influencing the policy environment for the maritime sector
• Development and provision of technical maritime policy advice
• Reviews of the maritime system
• Maritime security and intelligence advice
• Ministerial servicing
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Measure: Annual number
of security incidents
reported in New Zealand
waters

SECURE

Target: No security
incidents are reported in
New Zealand waters

Measure: Annual number of
oil spill incidents reported in
New Zealand waters

CLEAN

Target: Reduce oil spill
incidents by 15 per cent by 2021

Indicators
Internal access, use
and integration of core
information holdings to
support decision making
increases over time.

Maritime NZ is regarded as a valued
partner acting proactively and
collaboratively in its cross-agency/sector/
all-of-government participation efforts/
engagements.

We compare favourably to
the wider public sector:
• staff engagement,
• staff retention.

An increasing proportion of sector
stakeholders rate the timeliness and ease
of interactions with Maritime NZ as very
good or excellent.
We increasingly make use of technology
and information internally to deliver
services.

Risk-focused, responsive compliance
practices that reduce harm in the
maritime system

Response capability that is well prepared,
integrated and effectively deployed to
resolve emergency incidents

Impacts

Indicators

Impacts

Indicators

Our compliance strategies and
campaigns support, encourage
and require commercial operators
to take responsibility for the safety
of their maritime operations.

A reducing risk profile across
commercial operators and
vessels over time.

Our fit-for-purpose integrated
maritime incident response system
provides effective readiness and
response services for national
maritime incidents, minimising social,
environmental and economic harm.

The Maritime Incident Response
Team element of Maritime NZ’s
Response Capability Matrix (set
out in Appendix One) is reported
as amber or better with any
remedial action plans in place.

We operate an efficient and
effective national search and rescue
coordination service within an
integrated search and rescue system
(jointly with NZSAR Secretariat and
NZ Police) which takes full advantage
of modern technology to save lives.

The Search and Rescue element
of Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix is reported
as amber or better with any
remedial action plans in place.

We identify risk themes within
specific maritime sectors to better
target compliance interventions.
Competent capable people are
working in the maritime industry.

A reducing number of reported
incidents within specific
maritime sectors over time.
All commercial vessels are
crewed by people holding the
appropriate certification.

Output class 2:
Maritime safety and marine protection services
• Information and education
• Entry controls
• Monitoring and investigation of compliance
• Enforcement of compliance
• Distress and safety communication services
• Aids to navigation

We have a comprehensive pollution
preparedness and response service
that minimises the environmental and
economic impact of any oil spill.
We have an internationally linked,
intelligence-led security system
that assures protection for all in
New Zealand’s maritime area of
responsibility to manage threats
before they eventuate.

The Marine Pollution Response
Service element of Maritime
NZ’s Response Capability Matrix
is reported as amber or better
with any remedial action plans
in place.
The Security element of Maritime
NZ’s Response Capability Matrix
is reported as amber or better
with any remedial action plans
in place.

Controlled by Maritime NZ

Our national and local recreational
boating campaigns promote a
safety culture that leads to a
positive behavioural change.

Safety equipment is
increasingly carried and used
appropriately by recreational
boaties over time.
An increasing proportion of
survey respondents report
positive attitudes and changes
in behaviour as a result of
safety messages.

Output class 3: Marine Pollution Response Service
• Marine pollution response capability
Output class 4: Search and rescue coordination services
• Coordination of search and rescue operations
• Management of New Zealand’s emergency distress beacon
system
Output class 5: Maritime incident response capability
• Maritime incident response capability (non-oil)
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Our strategic goals outline
where we are concentrating
our efforts
We engage in activities that collectively support, encourage and require all maritime sector participants
to demonstrate safety, security and environmentally responsible standards and behaviours.
Maritime NZ works closely with a wide
range of stakeholders to help us sustain
and widen our level of influence.
Monitoring our impact at this level
for each of our four strategic goals
ensures our activities are well directed
and effective and are making the most
difference over time.

Regulation
that is relevant
and robust

Collectively, these ‘impacts’ allow
us to drive towards a New Zealand
maritime environment that is safe,
secure and clean:

Key achievements
during 2018/19
Maritime NZ’s strategic performance indicators
were established in our Statement of Intent
2018–2022 (to measure progress against impact
areas under each of our strategic goals) and
Statement of Performance Expectations 2018–19
(output classes).
The following pages outline our specific nonfinancial achievements and the results we’ve
delivered for the 2018/19 year.
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Risk-focused,
responsive
compliance practices
that reduce harm
in the maritime
system

A
results-driven
and resilient
organisation,
working
collaboratively
for success

Response
capability that
is well prepared,
integrated
and effectively
deployed to
resolve emergency
incidents

Strategic Goal 1: Regulation
that is relevant and robust

Robust means:

Relevant means:
•

Fit-for-purpose, focused on the degree of potential risk

•

Current, in step with economic, social and technological
developments

•

Acknowledges industry needs, readily understood and
easy to apply, and supports behavioural change

•

Internationally credible with maritime agencies and
governments

•

Durable, but can adapt to changing needs

•

Evidence-based, developed through rigorous processes
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Robust and relevant regulation establishes internationally credible clear standards based on rigorous
development and supporting evidence. By monitoring the on-going performance and condition of our
regulatory system, and the regulatory environment in which we operate, our regulation remains relevant
to the New Zealand context. It means we are more able to adapt to changes in the maritime environment
and the behaviour of commercial and recreational participants.
Our regulatory stewardship ensures that
our regulation is geared to the degree of
risk posed by different maritime activities
and is transparent and easy to apply.

Intended impacts
•

Our international engagement
ensures global regulation aligns with
New Zealand’s interests.

•

Our policy advice ensures maritime
safety, security and marine
environmental protection regulation is
fit for purpose.

International engagement
ensures global regulation aligns
with New Zealand’s interests

•

Government initiatives are informed
by an awareness of maritime safety,
security and marine environmental
protection interests.

•

We continually assess our
performance to inform and
improve regulation and compliance
practice that meets regulatory
stewardship expectations.

Our measure of success
Prioritised contribution at international meetings and fora
where Maritime NZ can influence international outcomes
to reflect New Zealand’s interests.

Our progress this year
Led the Polar Code II initiative (safety measures for non-SOLAS19 vessels operating in polar waters)
to develop a draft IMO Assembly Resolution for adoption in November 2019. We also coordinated a
correspondence group to develop guidance for fishing and pleasure craft operating in polar waters.
Promoted the signing of a bi-lateral agreement with Panama. Both countries now recognise each other’s
Certificates of Competency, thereby enabling holders of New Zealand seafarer certificates20 to work on
Panamanian ships.
Engaged on technical amendments to the SOLAS Convention relating to design, construction, operation
and maintenance of on-board ships’ cranes, leading to the improved safety of New Zealand stevedores
and protection of New Zealand imports and exports.
Took part in the comprehensive review of fishing qualifications under the Convention on Standards of
Training, Certification and Watchkeeping (STCW-F) for fishing vessels.
Reduced the impact on New Zealand interisland ferry operations while ensuring appropriate levels of
passenger safety through engaging on technical amendments to the SOLAS Convention relating to fire
safety on roll-on, roll-off (ro-ro) passenger ferries.
Advised and supported other government ministries on international maritime issues for which they have a
lead role, e.g. the Ministry of Transport on:
•

the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL)21 aiming to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions

•

working towards becoming party to the International Convention for the Safety of Fishing Vessels.

Attended the governance meetings of the International Oil Pollution Compensation Funds(IOPC) to ensure
we have an in-depth understanding of how to make claims under the IOPC Funds.

19 Non-SOLAS ships are commercial vessels that are not subject to the requirements of the International Convention for the
Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS), 1974.
20 Issued under the International Convention on Standards of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW).
21 The International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) is the main international convention covering
prevention of pollution of the marine environment by ships from operational or accidental causes.
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Assessment of achievement:
INDICATOR MET

Our outputs that support
this indicator

Our participation at international meetings and fora has
led to more efficient use of international engagement
opportunities. This has helped us achieve this indicator’s
goals and realise benefits, better manage risks, and
reduce regulatory and compliance burdens.

Output 1.1: Development and provision of technical
maritime policy advice

Page 70

Where to from here
Over the next year our international focus will be on:
•

prioritising our international engagement efforts on identified issues

•

developing and implementing a plan that will translate our International Engagement Strategy into action

•

building on the prioritisation work initiated in 2018/19

•

working collaboratively with key stakeholders, including MoT and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Ministry for
the Environment and Ministry for Primary Industries, to ensure appropriate engagement at the international level, and to
identify areas where we can collaborate to have the most influence on the global and regional stage

•

maintaining a watching brief on new issues such as autonomous vessels and a review of recognition of certificates issued
under the International Convention on Standards of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW).

Policy advice ensures maritime
safety, security and marine
environmental protection
regulation is fit for purpose

Our measure of success
The transport regulatory programme is appropriately
prioritised to ensure regulation is fit for purpose.

Our progress this year
Improving maritime safety
Continued to work with regional councils on the content of draft navigation safety bylaws as we are
required to be part of the consultation process. We also provided councils with information for a policy
investigation of Maritime Rules Part 91 (navigation safety rules) and will engage with them as the
investigation progresses.
Completed considerable analysis to assess the impact on New Zealand vessels through aligning
New Zealand’s domestic rules with the standards set out in the IMO’s Cape Town Agreement22 on fishing
vessel safety. This will benefit New Zealand by increasing the ability of our vessels to operate offshore
and allow the enforcement of international vessel safety standards on foreign vessels when they enter a
New Zealand port.

22 The 2012 Cape Town Agreement is aimed at facilitating better control of fishing vessel safety by flag, port and coastal states.
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Our progress this year
Completed a public consultation on a proposal to relocate commercial rafting into the adventure activities
regulations administered by WorkSafe. This better aligns the activity with the Government’s approach to
adventure regulation, and provides administrative efficiencies for rafting operations that undertake other
adventure activities administered by WorkSafe.
Advanced a review of the regulatory framework that sets standards for design and construction for all
New Zealand vessels (40 Series Maritime Rules – see case study on page 37 . This review will allow for
the development of a performance-based regulatory approach that keeps better pace with sector and
technological changes, as well as making sure that regulatory settings are proportionate to risk.

Protecting our marine environment
Introduced stricter regulatory controls for ships discharging ballast water in New Zealand, to help prevent
the spread of aquatic species that can harm the marine environment and public health. These controls
bring New Zealand in line with the International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships
Ballast Water and Sediments and mean we can enforce these requirements on visiting vessels.
Worked with MoT to provide legal and policy advice on the Maritime Transport (Offshore Installations)
Amendment Bill. The Bill aims to affirm and clarify the liability of insurers of offshore installations and will
provide certainty to New Zealand in the case of an oil spill. In addition to amending the Maritime Transport
Act, the amendments will require new maritime rules that will set the value of insurance required and
strengthen oil spill planning requirements.

Assessment of achievement:
INDICATOR MET
In partnership with MoT, we have continued to deliver
a comprehensive multi-year regulatory programme
based on the principles of regulatory stewardship.
This demonstrates our commitment to operating as an
effective regulator and ensuring that domestic maritime
regulation remains fit for purpose.

Our outputs that support
this indicator
Output 1.1:
Development and
provision of technical
maritime policy advice

Output 1.4:
Ministerial servicing

Page 70

Page 73

Where to from here
We will:
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•

work with MoT to develop relevant and robust regulation informed by the principles of regulatory stewardship, including
rules and supporting information to manage the risk of safety-critical workers being impaired by alcohol or other drugs

•

progress initiatives such as exploring potential accession to MARPOL Annex IV; an international convention to reduce
harmful air emission from ships and reviewing the rules that manage navigational safety risks – including in pilotage
waters; responding to international conventions for preparing and responding to hazardous and noxious substances; and
exploring options to better regulate commercial vessels that are operated as part of the 2021 America’s Cup regatta

•

start reviewing the regulatory settings for small commercial vessels, to achieve a consistent and proportionate regulatory
approach relevant to the type and scale of operation.
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Case Study
Working with industry to ensure rules are fit for purpose and safe
Part 40 Series of the Maritime Rules
specify a wide range of requirements
for the design, construction and
equipment of ships. The rules are
highly repetitive, complex and difficult
for users to navigate and interpret;
and their prescriptive nature creates
inflexibility and makes it difficult to
respond to urgent changes and
emerging technologies.
Recognised surveyors work with the
maritime and marine protection rules
on a daily basis because their role
involves checking that ships meet
all applicable rules. They experience

first-hand when the rules have gaps,
do not make sense or are inconsistent.
Because the rules do not allow
flexibility to achieve compliance using
an equivalent alternative approach,
surveyors frequently help owners and
operators to prepare applications for
exemption from the rules.

technical and policy issues in the
current rules, cluster these into
themes, and start to consider possible
solutions. As the work progresses, the
project will form small working groups
of our staff and surveyors to consider
the issues at a detailed level and
propose solutions.

This first-hand experience of working
with the rules made surveyors a
natural partner and key stakeholder as
the review of ship design construction
and equipment rules reform project got
underway. We worked collaboratively
with them to compile a list of the

Broader engagement with the industry
will occur as the work on the project
progresses. This work will feed into the
rules drafting process that populates
the new rules framework.

Government initiatives are informed by
an awareness of maritime environmental
safety and security, and marine
environmental protection interests

Our measure of success
Our engagement and policy advice
improves external stakeholders’
understanding of safety, security and
environmental protection interests.

Our progress this year
Surveying our ports and harbours
Began a joint review, with Land Information New Zealand, of the Guidelines of Good Practice for
Hydrographic Surveys in New Zealand Ports and Harbours. This updated guidance will incorporate
significant changes to survey technologies and methods, and to operating conditions where vessels
visiting New Zealand ports have significantly increased in size.

Review of Crown Minerals Act
Provided information and advice to the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment (MBIE) on the
Maritime Transport Act (MTA) and the Crown Minerals Act legislative powers that can be used during
protests against offshore installations and mineral activities. Information about non-interference zones,
exclusion zones and how the safety offence provisions in the MTA can be used to ensure that a whole-ofgovernment response to protests at sea is lawful and consistent.

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

37

Our progress this year (continued)
Maritime powers
Maritime powers are provided to states by international law to address maritime security threats in
international waters. We assisted the MFAT-led review to understand the incremental and ad hoc way
New Zealand has implemented these powers into its criminal justice system via domestic legislation.

Biodiversity beyond national jurisdiction treaty work
Monitored and provided, via an interagency group, input to the MFAT-led negotiations towards a new
UN treaty for the conservation of marine biodiversity in areas beyond national jurisdiction. The impacts
of climate change and ocean acidification and an increase in new uses have placed further pressure on
marine biodiversity. This justifies the need to review existing rules for taking or using resources from the
high seas and deep seabed, including for fishing, shipping and mining.

Maritime NZ and WorkSafe alignment
Agreed a memorandum of understanding with WorkSafe on how we will work together to achieve the
Government’s workplace health and safety and G-Reg objectives, and our respective statutory objectives.

Preparing to host the 36th America’s Cup
Worked closely with MoT, MBIE and other stakeholders to help prepare New Zealand to host the 36th
America’s Cup, which will run over three months in early 2021. We undertook extensive analysis of how
the existing regulatory and policy settings for the operation of domestic and foreign vessels apply in the
context of this event. This work ensures that the regulation of the event in terms of maritime safety, and
marine protection meets expectations and regulatory settings are effective, efficient and proportionate.

Assessment of achievement:
INDICATOR MET
We responded to all requests for information, advice
and review of policy and Cabinet papers within agreed
timeframes. Our engagement and policy advice
have contributed to improving external stakeholders’
understanding of safety, security and environmental
protection interests.

Our outputs that support
this indicator
Output 1.1: Development and provision of technical
maritime policy advice
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Where to from here
We will continue to contribute to and participate in Government initiatives to ensure maritime regulatory issues are
understood and reflected appropriately.
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We continually assess our performance
to inform and improve regulation
and compliance practice that meets
regulatory stewardship expectations

Our measure of success
By applying good regulatory stewardship,
the effectiveness and efficiency of rules and
regulations will improve over time.

Our progress this year
Government Regulatory Practice Initiative (G-Reg)
The G-Reg working group completed work on a good-practice guide for regulators and is now trialling
peer learning discussions that support regulatory practice to facilitate domain awareness and regulatory
stewardship.

Automatic safety beacon activation for fishing crew in distress
A rule change requiring fishing vessels operating in enclosed waters to carry float-free Emergency Position
Indicating Radio Beacons (EPIRBs) came into effect on 1 January 2019. This change has already resulted
in one successful rescue of crew.

Evaluating the effectiveness of the Maritime Operator Safety System
We prepared to evaluate the Maritime Operator Safety System (MOSS) in 2019/20, to investigate the
quality of the regulation and its effectiveness in achieving the identified changes.

Assessment of achievement:
INDICATOR MET
The initiation of work to undertake a comprehensive
evaluation of key regulatory frameworks such as the
MOSS rules is a significant step. Increased analysis of
data and information is also providing a more robust basis
to achieving an evidence-based, intelligence-led approach
to regulation.

Our outputs that support
this indicator
Output 1.1:
Development and
provision of technical
maritime policy advice

Output 1.2:
Reviews of the maritime
system

Page 70
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Where to from here
We will continue to work with MoT to further develop an effective approach to regulatory stewardship. In support of this
we will proactively plan and implement the regulatory changes needed to keep pace with international industry and sector
developments, such as technological and design changes in shipping.
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Strategic Goal 2: Risk-focused,
responsive compliance
practices that reduce harm
in the maritime system

Responsive means:

Risk-focused means:

40

•

Based on a problem-solving approach

•

Targeted and proportionate to sector/operator risks

•

•

Exercising sound judgment in applying the right
regulatory tools at the right time

Acknowledging industry business drivers, but not
dictated by them

•

•

Putting emphasis on prevention of harm

Consistent and reliable engagement, without
unnecessary transaction costs
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Predictive, risk-focused, responsive compliance practices enable us to recognise the diversity of the
sectors we regulate; and target our resources and activities to focus on preventing harm and to address
varying risks between different sectors and operators. In practice this means we adopt a problem-solving
approach, based on increasingly detailed understandings of the factors that shape the operations and
behaviours of those we regulate. We also apply a range of interventions; selecting the strategies and tools
that increase the likelihood of compliance by different sectors, groups and individuals.
Our effectiveness also depends on being
seen as a professional, credible agency
that is fair and appropriate. It is important
that we design and implement consistent
and reliable compliance processes that
are informed by an understanding of
circumstances of the maritime sector,
and do not impose undue complexity or
cost on the sector.

Intended impacts
•

•

safety culture that leads to a positive
behavioural change.

Our compliance strategies and
campaigns support, encourage and
require commercial operators to take
responsibility for the safety of their
maritime operations.
Our national and local recreational
boating campaigns promote a

Our compliance strategies and
campaigns support, encourage
and require commercial operators
to take responsibility for the safety
of their maritime operations

•

We identify risk themes within specific
maritime sectors to better target
compliance interventions.

•

Competent, capable people are
working in the maritime industry.

Our measure of success
A reducing risk profile across commercial operators
and vessels over time.

Our progress this year
Maritime Operator Safety System (MOSS)
The last operators transitioned to MOSS and completed their first risk profile. We had regular interactions
with all operators on key aspects of safe practice and frequent interactions with higher-risk operators.
These interactions were informed by the MOSS risk-based approach to routine domestic commercial
maritime operator compliance audits.
The average total risk score for MOSS entry profiles23 is 25.9 percent, which is at the lowest end of the
standard risk band (low, standard, high). This means that the majority of our operators operate to a high
standard of safety.

23 The risk profile looks at the safety system across the whole of the operation. It includes safety culture, compliance history, operating
practice, experience and capability, and organisational factors. The risk profile score will help decide when the operator’s next audit will
be. This will be 2-48 months after the audit.
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Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET
All operators in MOSS have now had an initial audit. A second audit (periodic audit) has been conducted for those with
a reassessed risk profile. Although the periodic audit dataset is still too small to draw conclusive evidence of behavioural
changes, anecdotal evidence shows safety behaviours are improving.
The average total score for MOSS entry is an increase on last years score of 24.9%, due to improvements in the integrity of
our dataset and accuracy of our percentage reporting. When last years result is recalculated using the improvements in the
integrity of the dataset, the total average score is a decrease on last year’s restated score of 26.01 percent. The average
initial audit risk score (post MOSS entry) is 34.5 percent, which is a slight increase on the adjusted average for last year (34
percent). All reported percentages are for the 2018 calendar year.

Our outputs that support this indicator
Output 1.1: Development and provision of technical maritime policy advice
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Output 2.1: Information and education
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Output 2.2: Entry controls
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Output 2.3: Monitoring and investigation of compliance
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Output 2.4: Enforcement of compliance

Page 78

Output 2.5: Distress and safety communication services

Page 79

Output 2.6: Aids to navigation

Page 79

Where to from here
We will continue to embed MOSS and the principles for operators to take ownership of the safety of their
maritime operations.
We will focus on ensuring the integrity of our dataset and building automated reporting dashboards. This will
improve efficiency and accuracy and enable standardised reporting, increased ability for analysis and greater
insight into operator safety behaviour, and direct targeted intervention activities.
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Case Study
Important milestone for maritime safety – transition to new safety
system complete
2 May 2019 marked an important
milestone in New Zealand’s maritime
industry as the last of almost 1,400
commercial operators transferred to
the new Maritime Operator Safety
System (MOSS). “It has been a
successful five-year process,” Maritime
NZ Deputy Director, Compliance
Systems Delivery, Pelin Fantham said.
MOSS was introduced on 1 July
2014, and Maritime NZ ran a gradual
transition to help make the change
from the old safety system to the new
as smooth as possible for the industry.
Ms Fantham presented Penwarden
Holdings Ltd with its certification in a
small ceremony on Whangarei Harbour.
She congratulated Penwarden
Holdings for completing the transition
and bringing its fishing vessels, the
Bilyara and the brand new Karearea,
into MOSS.

Transitioning from the old system
to MOSS has been one of the most
significant changes in the maritime
sector in the past 15 years. We
recognise that this has been no
small feat for operators; we greatly
appreciate their efforts and have
worked closely with them to help the
transition process be as straightforward
as possible.
MOSS was designed to make it clear
that an entire maritime operation,
not just the vessel, needs to be
examined to ensure all the safety
risks are identified and managed.
As a result it has helped to improve
safety in the maritime industry and has
strengthened the relationship between
Maritime NZ and operators.

Penwarden Holdings Ltd General
Manager Sam Penwarden said the
transition to MOSS at first seemed
daunting but proved to be smooth
sailing. “I’d like to thank our local
Maritime Officer, Juan Schulz, and
Heather Allen at Maritime NZ’s
head office for all their support,”
Mr Penwarden said. “Our MOSS
entry was a swift and efficient process,
as was registering the new vessel into
the ship registry.
“As a maritime operator we know
our operations best. MOSS allows
us to develop our own safety systems
specific to our operations, while having
good oversight from Maritime NZ –
it has the balance right and helps us
operate more safely.”

Sam Penwarden, GM of Penwarden Holdings Ltd, receives his MOSS certificate from Maritime NZ Deputy Director,
Compliance Systems Delivery, Pelin Fantham and Heather Allen, Senior Advisor Operator Certification
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Our national and local recreational
boating campaigns promote
a safety culture that leads to a
positive behavioural change

Our measure of success
Safety equipment is increasingly carried and used
appropriately by recreational boaties over time.
An increasing proportion of survey respondents report
positive attitudes and changes in behaviour as a
result of safety messages.

Our progress this year
Recreational boating initiatives
Safer Boating Week (12–19 October 2018) marked the start of summer’s safer boating campaign.
The week was based around ‘Prep, check, know’ – with simple safety reminders for boaties as they
prepared for the season ahead – and was launched with wharf jumps in Wellington, Auckland and Niue.
It was again supported by our partners, the Safer Boating Forum and councils.
A new national advertising campaign promoting VHF radio use ran from December 2018 to February
2019 and encouraged boaties to carry and use a waterproof VHF marine radio, as they are a boat user’s
best means of calling for help in coastal areas.

We provided $450,000 in FED grants for safer boating programmes such as Coastguard’s ‘Old4New’
lifejacket upgrade, educating children to sail, and running boatie training programmes. As part of the
Old4New programme, more than 4,000 old or damaged lifejackets were traded in and upgraded this year,
ensuring those boaties are now safer out on the water.
Together with 12 regional councils and the Lake Taupō Harbourmaster, we took part in their joint on-water
safety ‘No Excuses’ campaign, which ran from 20 October 2018 to 31 March 2019 and focused on
recreational boat users’ speed and lifejacket carrying and wearing behaviour. This campaign resulted in
3,656 interactions with boat users, the vast majority of which were positive. However, the interactions
included issuing 182 infringement notices and 502 warnings for matters such as not showing a dive flag,
not having observers when towing and not having lifejackets, or failing to wear them when required.

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET
Safety equipment is increasingly carried and used appropriately by recreational
boaties over time
Most recreational boat users do the right thing in terms of carrying safety equipment. The Recreational Boating
Participation Survey established that, while more boat users could carry safety equipment, overall high levels of
carrying safety equipment have been achieved:
•

84 percent of boat users took lifejackets

•

54 percent took a cell phone in a waterproof bag

•

28 percent have access to a marine radio.

Similar levels of carrying equipment were observed through the on-water enforcement activities with regional councils.
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The results of the advertising campaign promoting VHF radio use showed that:
•

76.4 percent of the target audience, males aged 35-59, saw the advertisements at least once (the target was
67 percent) and within this group 54 percent saw the advertisement at least five times

•

there were 1.2 million safer boating campaign posts across Facebook and Twitter including those posted specifically
about the VHF campaign

•

retailers reported higher sales of VHF radios with some reporting increases of up to 25 percent.24

An increasing proportion of survey respondents report positive attitudes and changes
in behaviour as a result of safety messages
Comparing the 2018 Ipsos Recreational Boating Participation Survey results against the four recommended safety
behaviours continually promoted by Maritime NZ and the Safer Boating Forum shows us that every time boat users go out:
•

84 percent take lifejackets, with 77 percent wearing them most of the time or every time

•

40 percent have at least two ways to call/signal for help – a slight decrease compared with the 2018 survey

•

62 percent avoid alcohol (a decrease from last year) with a further 16 percent avoiding it most of the time

•

56 percent check the marine or mountain forecast, and a further 19 percent check the forecast most of the time before
going out.

We have been promoting the wearing of lifejackets, together with the Safer Boating Forum, for seven years, but more work
is still needed to get recreational boat users carrying and using recommended safety equipment appropriately at all times
when underway in craft of six metres or less.

Our outputs that support this indicator
Output 2.1: Information and education
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Output 2.4: Enforcement of compliance

Page 78

Output 2.5: Distress and safety communication services

Page 79

Output 2.6: Aids to navigation

Page 79

Where to from here
To increase and sustain the number of recreational boat users carrying and using safety equipment, we will continue safety
campaigns and actively promote safety messages, looking for innovative ways to deliver these messages to reach a wider
audience through a variety of channels. Our advertising and promotion will focus on the message that if boat users can’t call
for help, they cannot be rescued.
Improving boating safety is a collective priority, bringing together local government, volunteer organisations and central
government agencies. Next year we will increase our support to the sector through increased FED grants. This will support
the work done in the regions and result in more boat users receiving safe boating information. This increased commitment
to educational campaigns is mirrored by the expansion of the No Excuses compliance campaign, from 12 to 17 regional
councils and the Lake Taupō Harbourmaster.
Along with the Safer Boating Forum, we will continue to focus on encouraging boat users to carry and wear lifejackets.

24 According to anecdotal information from the New Zealand Marine Industry Association.
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We identify risk themes within specific
maritime sectors to better target
compliance interventions

Our measure of success
A reducing number of reported
incidents within specific maritime
sectors over time.

Our progress this year
We take a risk-based approach to regulating the maritime industry. By analysing our interactions to understand the key
issues or areas of risk we can target our activity or compliance interventions to change behaviours and create safer
practices.
Targeted compliance activities we have undertaken this financial year in both the domestic commercial and international
sectors include:

Reporting of incidents and accidents within specific maritime sectiors
As a result of our increased industry engagement, 1,138 incidents and accidents were reported to
Maritime NZ. While this represents an increase in reporting since the last financial year, it is important
to note that there has been significant under-reporting from industry to date and we expect there will
continue to be an increase in reporting over the short to medium term.
The figure reflects all notified incidents and accidents, captured in two administrative systems in use over
the 2018/19 financial year. To the fullest extent possible we have removed concerns or complaints or
other matters that are not incidents or accidents.

Working with WorkSafe to improve stakeholder duties for PCBUs
We have led engagement alongside WorkSafe to improve understanding of stakeholder duties when
operating as a Person Conducting a Business or Undertaking (PCBU) and to clarify the roles of both
regulatory agencies within the port environment. For example, a joint agency inspection and audit process
was developed where Maritime Officers and WorkSafe inspectors visited a port together and worked with
multiple PCBUs to review and improve health and safety arrangements.

Focused inspection campaigns
During quarters one and two we ran a focused inspection campaign targeting pilot boarding
arrangements. This involved inspecting pilot ladders and gathering data to determine the health and safety
risks for marine pilots.
In quarter four we engaged in a second focused inspection campaign alongside the Australian Maritime
Safety Authority to target lifting appliances on foreign-flagged vessels. This two-month campaign
assessed compliance with Maritime Rules and the International Labour Organization, and worked with
industry stakeholders to develop targeted solutions to reduce the risk of accidents. It focused on vessels
with foreign crew on board and sought to determine why there has been a reduction in reported harm and
whether it is due to improved safety practices or that harm is not being reported. A total of 63 inspections
were completed.
The results of both campaigns indicated safe practice. Information gathered from the two campaigns will
inform our future compliance activities.
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Assessment of achievement:
INDICATOR TREND YET TO BE DETERMINED
We have received positive feedback from industry on the new engagement
approach with WorkSafe and have agreed to deliver this new joint inspection
approach at each New Zealand port during the 2019/20 financial year.
We are confident that alongside our continued and sustained engagement
with industry, our increase in maritime sector research and understanding of
incident and accident reporting will provide an adequate sample to support
targeted interventions.

Our outputs that
support this indicator
Output 2.3: Monitoring and
investigation of compliance

Page 76

Where to from here
Over the next financial year we will continue to conduct campaigns including:
Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 targeted inspection campaigns which will form part of a targeted inspection campaign
of safe operational plan (SOP) operators with fishing vessels less than six metres in length overall.
We will run a marketing campaign that will provide vessel owners with educational material for recognising drug use and
managing people involved in drugs. In partnership with the New Zealand Federation of Commercial Fishermen, Fisheries
Inshore New Zealand, Moana New Zealand, Guard Safety, and the NZ Drug Foundation, we are developing a marketing
strategy to help the management of drug use in the fishing industry.
Running a joint concentrated inspection campaign (CIC) on emergency systems and procedures in line with the Tokyo and
Paris MOUs. The campaign will ensure ships are capable of responding appropriately and promptly to emergency situations;
all necessary measures are taken, and emergency systems are installed and operational; and the ships’ master and crew
understand their roles and duties in an emergency situation.
In partnership with WorkSafe we will continue to develop a tripartite Ports Health and Safety Plan with industry and unions.
It will provide greater visibility for both us and WorkSafe, improve our stakeholder engagement and potentially reduce the
impact to industry by improved coordination and targeting of regulatory inspections.
We will also collaborate with stevedore unions and employers to develop research to understand the risk levels and causes
of stevedore fatigue and to establish useful educational and compliance interventions.
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Case Study
Recent detentions of
ships reflect our focus
on health, safety and
wellbeing
Maritime NZ recently detained three
ships for breaches related to the
Maritime Transport Act 1994 (MTA) and
the Maritime Labour Convention.25
While we are the designated health
and safety regulator for New Zealand,
ships as places of work come under
the Health and Safety at Work Act
2015. We also have responsibilities to
enforce international safety, security and
environmental protection regulations
aboard foreign-flagged ships while
they are operating in New Zealand
waters within 12 nautical miles of our
shores. Maritime NZ encourages and
requires operator compliance with those
regulations and with the MTA.
On 2 March 2019 we used our powers
under the MTA to detain the Panamaflagged bulk carrier Daiwan Justice at
Lyttelton, after we received a complaint
that the crew’s wages had not been paid
for almost four months. The detention
was later lifted after the ship’s operator,
Taiwanese company Wisdom Marine
International Limited, paid the crew.
We took action after discovering the
ship was in breach of its responsibilities
under the international Maritime Labour
Convention, which sets out minimum
standards for the health, safety and
welfare of seafarers, including conditions
of employment. The Convention
also has provisions for authorities to
receive complaints from crews and
carry out investigations. Maritime
NZ Southern Regional Compliance
Manager Michael Vredenburg said, “We
acted on information provided to us by
the International Transport Workers’
Federation.

“A Maritime Officer went on board the
vessel to investigate. The Maritime
Officer interviewed the ship’s master
and crew, inspected documents and
found evidence that the crew had not
been paid.” When confronted with the
evidence the ship’s master admitted the
wages had not been paid. The Maritime
Officer then took immediate action to
detain the vessel.
“Last year Daiwan Fortune, another
Wisdom Marine International ship, was
also detained. In both cases, Maritime
NZ detained the ship until wages were
paid. Maritime NZ applies maritime law in
our waters irrespective of the ‘flag’ of the
ship and the nationality of the crew,” Mr
Vredenburg said.
In a separate matter, Maritime NZ
brought charges against Captain Jianxi
Chen, master of the Panama-flagged
bulk carrier Spinnaker SW, after the
ship was detained in Bluff on 26 March
this year. Captain Chen directed his
crew to work at lashing down a cargo of
logs that had earlier been loaded onto
the vessel by shore-based stevedores.
The crew was required to perform this
work without being provided appropriate
personal protective equipment (PPE)
or systems to prevent falls from height,
which caused unnecessary danger or
risk to the crew.
An Invercargill-based Maritime Officer
became aware of these safety issues,
went aboard and checked the vessel’s
Safety Management System (SMS),

which all international cargo ships
must have in place. He noted the
SMS required crew working at height
to use PPE. Using powers contained
within the MTA, the Maritime Officer
imposed conditions on the vessel
requiring operations to be conducted in
accordance with the SMS.
These conditions were deliberately
breached by the captain, who directed
his crew to continue to work at height
without PPE. Chen pleaded guilty to
the offence under the MTA and was
sentenced before Judge Roberts in the
District Court at Timaru. He received a
fine of $6,000. Mr Vredenburg said, “We
are pleased with the outcome in court.
Our role is to ensure that all maritime
activities are carried out safely.”
Our Maritime Officers routinely ensure
that foreign-flagged vessels in our waters
are in compliance with international
conventions to which New Zealand is
party. In New Zealand waters within
12 nautical miles (22km) of the coast,
they must also comply with the MTA.
Information about the detentions has
been shared with other countries’
maritime authorities as part of the Port
State Control (PSC) system that operates
in the Asia-Pacific region under an
agreement known as the Tokyo MOU.
The Port State Control system requires
that foreign ships coming to ports
be inspected to ensure they comply
with minimum safety, security and
environmental protection requirements
set down in international conventions.

25 The Maritime Labour Convention, 2006 sets the internationally agreed minimum standards for the provision of decent working and
living conditions on ships. The convention applies to all foreign – and New Zealand-flagged commercial ships (excluding fishing vessels)
entering New Zealand ports.
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Competent, capable people are
working in the maritime industry

Our measure of success
All commercial vessels are crewed by people
holding the appropriate certification.

Our progress this year
Audits and inspections of operators
We used a risk-based approach to determine the number of audits and inspections of operators. Vessels
and their crew were routinely checked for appropriate certification and the appropriate compliance action
taken.

Entry control, audits and inspections of seafarer certificates and operators
A robust certification process for individual seafarers was implemented at entry into the maritime system.
This is supported by a large amount of publicly available guidance to ensure they are aware of the
requirements for the appropriate certification and manning levels for vessels.
Anyone applying for a seafarer certificate is assessed against relevant competency and entry
requirements, including checking for relevant experience and training, and that applicants meet Fit and
Proper Person suitability criteria.

Assessment of achievement:
INDICATOR MET

Our outputs that support
this indicator

Most commercial maritime operators in New Zealand are required
to enter our Maritime Operator Safety System (MOSS). We then
audit them to ensure they are operating safely and meet statutory
requirements for employing properly certified crew members.

Output 2.2: Entry controls

Page 75

A risk-based inspection regime also applies to convention-sized
vessels as part of the Tokyo MOU. This includes prioritised, targeted
inspections of these vessels, a component of which is ensuring that
they are appropriately manned.
Maritime NZ has implemented a four-year cycle of inspections for
all domestic vessels, which allows for action on non-compliance
identified.

Where to from here
Routine checks for appropriate seafarer certification will continue to be an integral part of our audit and inspection regime.
We will also liaise more proactively with maritime schools to identify opportunities for systemic process improvements. Late
in 2019 we will commence preparation for the IMO Member State Audit Scheme (IMSAS) audit, scheduled for late 2020.
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Strategic Goal 3: Response
capability that is well prepared,
integrated and effectively
deployed to resolve
emergency incidents
Integrated means:

Well prepared means:
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•

Resources are in readiness in a timely way

•

Comprehensive, multi-layered capability that can be
deployed flexibly
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•

Coordinated between the different Maritime NZ
functions and across central and local government
agencies, non-government and international partners

•

Contributing as appropriate to risk-reduction, readiness,
response and recovery (4Rs)

Well prepared and deployed response capability enables us to respond to maritime incidents and
emergencies, including oil spills. We also undertake search and rescue coordination action to find and
rescue people who are lost or in imminent danger through their land, sea or air activities. We provide the
public with safety information through communications and navigational aids.
To ensure we are well prepared for
emergency response we maintain
response resources and specialist
equipment; ensure staff are appropriately
trained; and that we have clear
agreements and procedures in place to
guide and coordinate our work during a
response – both internally, and with key
partners in central and local government,
non-government organisations and
internationally.

Intended impacts
•

•

NZ Police) which takes full advantage
of modern technology to save lives.

Our fit-for-purpose, integrated
maritime incident response system
provides effective readiness and
response services for national
maritime incidents, minimising social,
environmental and economic harm.
We operate an efficient and
effective national search and rescue
coordination service within an
integrated search and rescue system
(jointly with NZSAR Secretariat and

Our fit-for-purpose, integrated maritime
incident response system provides
effective readiness and response services
for national maritime incidents, minimising
social, environmental and economic harm

•

We have a comprehensive pollution
preparedness and response service
that minimises the environmental and
economic impact of any oil spill.

•

We have an internationally linked,
intelligence-led security system
that assures protection for all in
New Zealand’s maritime area of
responsibility, to manage threats
before they eventuate.

Our measure of success
The five components of Maritime
NZ’s Response Capability Matrix (in
Appendix 4) are reported as amber
or better with any remedial action
plans in place.

Our progress this year
International engagement
We attended a wide range of international meetings including the Asian Marine Casualty Forum (AMCF)
together with liaison visits to major international providers of maritime response capabilities. This work
increases our awareness of current international best practice for dealing with major maritime casualties
and maintains the critical relationships needed to deliver effective responses if an incident occurs.

Implementing readiness and response capabilities
We made solid progress on developing and implementing readiness and response capabilities. Overall
resilience has improved with more trained personnel available. Training has included in-house work and
attendance at external courses, as well as briefings, workshops and exercises with specialist service
providers covering vessel salvage and offshore oil and gas incident response, and more of our staff have
completed Coordinated Incident Management System (CIMS) training.

All-of-government activities
We engaged with all-of-government activities, especially in the ‘all hazards’ readiness and response areas.
We actively participated in the Joint Maritime Advisory Group, National Exercise Planning, Transport
Cluster Group, Maritime Security and Oversight Committee, and Incident Management Response Group,
and increased our leadership capacity in incident response, and training and exercising. We have worked
with our partners in central and local government as well as with industry to improve awareness of
maritime incident response and to build depth and resilience in the coalition of parties that will be required
to deal with a major incident.
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Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET
The Response Capability Matrix sits at amber status overall with some
components at green status. This assessment reflects the high bar set
by the criteria in the Capability Matrix, which recognises the challenges
in preparing for and responding to major maritime incidents, which are
extremely rare but have potentially severe consequences. Progress this
year has been strong and the organisation is now well placed to continue
to build capability.

Our outputs that support
this indicator
Output 5.1 Maritime incident response
capability (non-oil)

Page 85

Our leadership capacity and capability in incident response continue to
increase, and training and exercises have improved coordination and
response integration in managing responses to incidents. We continue to
enhance our incident management system, allowing greater situational
awareness to improve incident readiness and response effectiveness.
Positive relationships within the maritime industry are essential and our
relationships, particularly with salvage and offshore oil and gas industry
advisors, continue to develop. Overall, relationships with industry providers,
local and central government and international authorities are strong and
positive, ensuring we are ready for any response required.

Where to from here
To provide effective response and recovery for national maritime incidents, we will continue to improve the readiness
capability of our three response teams (MIRT, SAR and National Response Team (marine pollution)), with local, regional and
national exercises and workshops alongside induction and refresher training.
It is critical to maintain the training and exercising regime to keep readiness at an appropriate level, to be able to provide
effective incident response. The response integration of capabilities will continue to be tested.
A structured approach to training staff for responses is beneficial – including identifying formally which ‘peacetime’ roles
might have a formal response role and also looking in detail at specific individuals for their ‘fit’ into the response structures. A
series of workshops will replace the full-scale MIRT exercise and we will deliver more tabletop exercises and start reviewing
training requirements and training delivery, so we can provide the right training at the right time to the right people.
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We operate an efficient and effective national
search and rescue coordination service
within an integrated search and rescue
system (jointly with NZSAR Secretariat and
NZ Police) which takes full advantage of
modern technology to save lives

Our measure of success
The Search and Rescue (SAR)
element of Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix is reported as
amber or better with any remedial
action plans in place.

Our progress this year
International engagement
Internationally we participated in Cospas-Sarsat, as one of 45 countries and organisations managing
the operation and management of the international satellite system for emergency distress beacons.
Cospas-Sarsat cooperates actively with the International Maritime Organization (IMO), the International
Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) and the International Telecommunication Union (ITU).

Pacific Maritime Safety Programme
As part of the Pacific Maritime Safety Programme (PMSP), the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand
(RCCNZ) facilitated a number of SAR training initiatives including:
•

a training course to assist Samoa to achieve its SAR obligations within its area of responsibility

•

a workshop in Tuvalu, with refresher training, tabletop exercises, and a live exercise on board the patrol
boat Te Mataili

•

a training exercise in Niue to assist Pacific Island countries with improving SAR coordination and
response capabilities and promoting maritime safety initiatives.

Antarctic Search and Rescue
We co-hosted a Council of Managers of National Antarctic Programs (COMNAP) SAR Workshop IV with
Antarctica New Zealand in Wellington and Christchurch. The overarching objective was to continue to
improve Search and Rescue coordination and response in the Antarctic.
We were invited to participate in the Arctic and North Atlantic Security and Emergency Preparedness
Network (ARCSAR), a five-year initiative fully funded by the European Union to address issues faced by
countries and organisations operating in the Arctic and North Atlantic.
We coordinated an exercise that involved the NZ/US Unified Incident Command (UIC) (comprising
managers from Antarctica New Zealand’s Scott Base and the National Science Foundation/US Antarctic
Program’s McMurdo Station) and managers of the International Association of Antarctic Tourism
Operators, as well as one of their member vessels operating in the Southern Ocean. The scenario was
based on a mixture of two actual operations and involved full activation of the NZ/US UIC Emergency
Operations Centre (EOC) at McMurdo Station.
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Our progress this year (continued)
Integrated SAR capability and maritime incident response
Nationally we worked with a range of organisations such as the New Zealand SAR Secretariat, NZ Police,
LandSAR, Coastguard, Surf Life Saving New Zealand, NZ Defence Force, Rescue Helicopters and
Amateur Radio Emergency Communications. Over the year we:
•

delivered efficient and effective 24/7 SAR coordination services all across the New Zealand Search and
Rescue Region (NZSRR)

•

engaged in national, international and interagency SAR initiatives and participated in SAR governance
forums and joint training/exercises

•

participated in the New Zealand Search and Rescue (NZSAR) Council.

Assessment of achievement:
INDICATOR MET

Our outputs that support
this indicator

RCCNZ is operating at green status for the Search and
Rescue element of our Response Capability Matrix and is
capable of responding efficiently and effectively to most
SAR incidents in New Zealand’s search and
rescue region.

Output 4.1
Coordination of search
and rescue operations

Output 4.2 Management
of New Zealand’s
emergency distress beacon
system
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Where to from here
To ensure an effective national search and rescue coordination service within an integrated search and rescue system, our
focus remains on continuous innovation and improvement.
Internationally, we will work with our Pacific partners, focusing on responsible SAR governance, efficient and effective SAR
coordination and operational response capability, and the prevention of distress events. We will work across key agencies to
provide strategic leadership and to ensure that SAR response capability is adequate to respond to demand.
Domestically we will initiate a project that focuses on the development of a new incident management system that will have
the capability to integrate with our internal WebEoC web-based emergency management system and external systems (NZ
Coastguard) to aid information sharing within the sector and wider maritime community.
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Case Study
Missing helicopter crew found safe and well
In April this year the RCCNZ undertook
a search for a Southern Lakes
helicopter when it disappeared at night
on a flight from Invercargill to conduct
a private medical evacuation (medevac)
from a fishing vessel. The missing
helicopter crew of two pilots and a
medic were trained for emergency
situations and the helicopter had a life
raft and a satellite phone.

A fishing boat assisting the RCCNZ
in the search located wreckage from
the missing helicopter the following
morning. However, coordinated
search efforts continued around Yule
Island – the helicopter’s last known
location. Weather conditions were
poor with low cloud in the area as
five fishing boats scoured the area, a
Royal New Zealand Air Force P3 Orion
used its radar equipment, and three
helicopters, two from Invercargill and

one from Stewart Island, also joined
the search.
By late morning, a rescue helicopter
located the group safe and well,
walking around on a beach on the
north-eastern side of Auckland Island
wearing their cold water immersion
suits.
The person who was the subject of the
original private medevac was taken to
Bluff by the vessel they were on.
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We have a comprehensive pollution
preparedness and response service
that minimises the environmental and
economic impact of any oil spill

Our measure of success
The Maritime Pollution Response Service
element of Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix is reported as amber
or better with positive trends across
its performance indicators, and any
necessary remedial action plans in place.

Our progress this year
International and national incident response
We sent oil spill and maritime incident response personnel to the Solomon Islands for two months to assist
Australian maritime authorities in dealing with oil leaking from the Solomon Trader grounded off Rennel
Island. Immediately afterwards we deployed additional incident response personnel to the West Coast to
assist the local district council in cleaning up debris from the flooding in Franz Josef.

Pacific Maritime Safety Programme
We continued to assist Pacific Island states to improve their oil spill response capability, by conducting oil
risk assessment and training activities and making capital investments in oil spill equipment.

Regional and national response training programmes
Over 100 personnel were trained in regional and national response training programmes. We also
introduced two new national response training courses for the 120 personnel assigned to the National
Response Team.

Marine oil spill readiness activity
New Zealand’s oil spill capability continued to improve with significant capital investment in equipment,
especially that required to deal with oil spills near to offshore locations. We undertook more marine oil spill
risk assessments and approvals of marine oil spill contingency plans than usual, as activity by offshore oil
operators increased markedly this year with activity in the Taranaki basin. We also conducted specialist
marine oil spill response workshops with industry and government agencies assisted by experts from
leading response agencies from the United States.
Over 30 regional oil spill exercises were conducted by regional councils. A National Response Team
on-water exercise also tested on-water deployment of large oil spill response equipment.
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Assessment of achievement:
INDICATOR MET

Our outputs that support
this indicator

Overall, the Response Capability Matrix sits at amber status with some
components at green status. Our National Response Team capability,
especially the leadership and coordination of a response, is capable and
outcomes are very good, with its capability assessed as green.

Output 3.1 Marine pollution
response capability

This assessment reflects the high bar set by the criteria in the Capability
Matrix. Progress this year has been strong and the organisation is well
placed to continue to build capability. New Zealand’s marine oil spill
readiness and response system is increasingly being recognised as a
best-practice exemplar.
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Our Marine Pollution Response Service (MPRS) capability is effective and
continues to improve Tier 2 and Tier 3 capability.

Where to from here
We will continue to review and implement lessons learnt from our regional and national training programme. We will also
continue to test regional council capability through exercises and regional assessment programmes and will conduct a
national on-water marine oil spill exercise. Improving our engagement with iwi and the community will be a new initiative.
Our engagement with industry will increase particularly in assessing oil spill and well control contingency plans as well as
response exercising. This will occur in response to the dramatic increase in offshore oil activity in Taranaki and the Great
South Basin.
Increased capacity building will be important in the Pacific and this programme of work will be scaled up – the Pacific risk is
a New Zealand risk. Our marine oil spill capital equipment programme is ongoing and there is greater need for us to focus
on oil spill commissioning of new equipment purchased over the year.

We have an internationally linked,
intelligence-led security system that
assures protection for all in New Zealand’s
maritime area of responsibility to manage
threats before they eventuate

Our measure of success
The security element of Maritime
NZ’s Response Capability Matrix
is reported as amber or better
(green) with any remedial action
plans in place.

Our progress this year
Testing security plans through exercises
We continued to test security plans for New Zealand ports with 16 security exercises completed in the
year. We continued our efforts to involve other government departments in our exercises, such as Police,
the New Zealand Defence Force and Customs, in order to remain well informed and connected.

Pacific Maritime Safety Programme
We worked closely with the US Coast Guard on improving port security capability for some Pacific Island
states. We ensured that all ports involved in the work maintained effective security plans, and that port
security exercises were conducted at the required levels.
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Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET
Overall, the security element of the Response Capability Matrix sits at green status. We maintain a very effective maritime
security regime. Port capability remains effective and the ports can respond in accordance with their comprehensive
security plans. Audits, maritime security exercises in all ports and routine inspections conducted by our staff all reinforce that
effective preparedness will ensure a successful maritime response when required.
The Christchurch terrorist attacks highlighted the need for timely intelligence. For Maritime NZ, intelligence influenced the
decision to increase security levels in ports and for international shipping located in our waters or to consider the option
to evacuate a port. We were a small but important player in the security response. We maintained active engagement to
ensure we had up-to-date intelligence and kept abreast of all-of-government activities.
During the peak of the response we activated our maritime incident response structure in order to provide resources for
response, monitoring and advice. Oversight was provided to port security staff to ensure the right level of security measures
were in place and all ports assessed their security arrangements and operating activities.
Ports remained compliant with the Maritime Security Act with port plans reflecting the current security risk for New Zealand.
Our strong connection to the all-of-government security capability and our involvement in New Zealand’s national security
process give us a good framework for response and for the provision of intelligence.

Our outputs that support this indicator
Output 1.3 Maritime security and intelligence advice
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Output 5.1 Maritime incident response capability (Non-Oil)
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Where to from here
We will increase our engagement with government agencies involved in border protection to share our practices and
improve our intelligence sources. We will review our port plans to determine that they are able to operate in the current
security settings. We will continue to strengthen our connections and activities with the US Coast Guard as they maintain
good awareness of the international security environment.
We will increase our connections with New Zealand intelligence agencies and remain an active player in the New Zealand
all-of-government process. Planning is now underway for the 36th America’s Cup and Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation
(APEC) events and we will participate and contribute to the security requirements.
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Strategic Goal 4:
A results-driven and resilient
organisation,working
collaboratively for success

Resilient means:

Results-driven means:
•

Drawing on a robust evidence base and collective
organisational experience for greater impact

•

Working constructively with sector, Government and
international bodies to achieve shared outcomes

•

Delivering value for money in all our processes

•

Developing people capability to adapt to changing
business needs

•

Having sustainable funding and business models

•

Being resolute in taking action to improve maritime
safety, security and environmental protection
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The quality of our organisational capability enables us to build and sustain the skills, structures
and systems necessary to operate cohesively, and connect with Government partners and sector
stakeholders, nationally and internationally. To perform our core role as a regulatory, compliance and
response agency, we need a transparent strategy that is evidence-informed, risk-based, responsive,
and proportionate to the risks or harms being managed.
We will continue to maintain and
develop our capability through the
development and management of
information resources, financial assets,
efficient integrated business processes
and systems, and the commitment,
leadership and competence of our
people.

Intended impacts
•

We have an integrated information
base that supports quality decision
making.

•

We are a resilient, healthy, capable
organisation, with people who are
valued and enabled to sustainably

We have an integrated
information base that supports
quality decision making

deliver high-quality regulatory,
compliance and response services.
•

We collaborate with other agencies to
share resources and build capability
that improves government services.

•

Our business processes drive better
service by making use of technology
to minimise regulatory burden.

Our measure of success
Internal access, use of core information holdings to
support decision making increases over time.

Our progress this year
Building our data and analytical capability
We have put concentrated effort and focus into building our analytical capability to support quality
decision making. The Information Services Delivery team and the National Intelligence Unit worked
strongly together to enhance the data, toolsets and skillsets to create the foundations for a robust
reporting platform. They did this through integrating our core regulatory and compliance information
systems. The reporting product is at version one, in testing, and we intend to continue development
iteratively, at a fast pace, so we can deliver information to analysts, compliance officers in the field, and
management decision makers via any device.

An independently conducted research survey on recreational boating users’
characteristics, attitudes and behaviours as well as safety equipment carriage
We engaged research company Ipsos to conduct the 2018 Recreational Boating Participation Survey.
The results show that recreational boat users continue to have high rates of carrying lifejackets, cell
phones (in a waterproof bag) and other equipment such as flares, a waterproof torch, a distress beacon
or an air horn compared with 2017.

Regular domain assessments – navigational safety in pilotage waters
We established a dedicated regulatory intelligence unit to undertake assessments throughout the year.
These generated valuable insights that will guide our ongoing regulatory and compliance work.
One example is the domain assessment we conducted of navigational safety in pilotage waters following
several incidents. The assessment identified a need for a shared understanding between the pilot and
their crew on what passage plan would be used, and also found that the vessel’s navigation equipment
was not correctly configured for navigating in a narrow channel. To address these concerns, we
developed a website page26 containing key information about pilotage to help masters of ships prepare
their voyage plan before visiting New Zealand. These changes were then communicated with the relevant
stakeholders.

26 https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/commercial/ships/masters/default.asp
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Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET
We will further build on the domain assessment of navigational safety in pilotage waters to improve the evidence base and
ensure any proposed interventions are intelligence led. This will include:
•

working with a human factors expert to identify any systems issues that may need to be addressed

•

applying work to date on the America’s Cup regulatory settings analysis to recommend the effective and proportionate
regulation of vessels operating in that context.

The key to achieving our goal of being an evidence-based, intelligence-led, risk-focused organisation is robust information
management disciplines and systems. These cover the way we collect, collate, analyse and make use of information.
Quality information is critical to high-quality, consistent decision making. Information technology also helps us be more
efficient in our business processes, including dealings with industry.

Where to from here
The next year will see an increase in our capability and delivery. Our data themes of analysis for intelligence, mobility and
integration will continue and business delivery will benefit by putting last year’s foundation efforts into production.
There will be significant growth in the data analysis arena. We plan to deploy robust reporting systems across the
organisation and encompass broader datasets into new data models. Coupled with this, we will improve our information
systems architecture.

Case Study
Realising the benefits of collaborative interagency intelligence
Maritime NZ has continued to develop
a regulatory intelligence capability
dedicated to turning data and
information into insights that support
regulatory, response and compliance
decisions. As part of its regulatory
intelligence work programme,
Maritime NZ undertook a collaborative,
interagency project focused on the
transportation of logs for export by the
forestry industry.
This sector’s transport-related safety
activities are regulated by Maritime
NZ, WorkSafe, the Civil Aviation
Authority and the New Zealand

Transport Agency. These four agencies
combined their data and intelligence
capabilities to assess the safety of
transport in the New Zealand forestry
industry, an industry that remains a
dangerous one for workers.
Based on analysis of data sourced
from multiple agencies, this joint
agency work provided visibility of the
safety of the full logging transport
system, after trees are felled to the
point where logs are loaded on
ships for export. The collaborative
intelligence effort enabled, for the
first time, an integrated perspective

of safety risks across the logging
transport sector. It mapped the
harms based on transport networks
and considered the implications of a
significant increase in wood supply
over the next decade, particularly
as many smaller-scale forests reach
maturity. The intelligence work
provided decision makers with a range
of current, intermediate and longerterm intervention options that might
support harm reduction across the
transport modes used by the forestry
sector.
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We have a resilient, healthy, capable
organisation, with people who are valued
and enabled to sustainably deliver
high-quality regulatory, compliance and
response services

Our measure of success
We compare favourably to the wider
public sector on staff engagement
and staff retention (resignations
over previous reporting periods as a
percentage of average total staff).

Our progress this year
Staff engagement
The most recent organisation-wide engagement survey showed overall staff engagement was 77.4
percent, a slight drop (3.3 percent) compared with the previous survey. This was seen as particularly
encouraging given that the survey was run during an organisational change process. The overall rating of
77 percent is significantly higher than the 2017 public sector benchmark of 69 percent.
There is a strong alignment between the focus areas identified in the 2017/18 survey and initiatives in our
strategic work programme. These initiatives include people capability, learning and development, health
and wellbeing, processes/systems, inter-team initiatives, and internal communication.
The overall 2018 ratings for training and capability and for confidence in senior leadership remained steady
at 66 percent and 69 percent respectively in comparison with the 2017 survey results.

Staff retention (resignations over previous reporting periods as a percentage
of average total staff)
Staff retention for the 2018/19 financial year was 87 percent, with staff turnover increasing to 13.6
percent (from 10.16 percent in 2017/18). This is just over the public sector turnover rate (State Services
Commission Public Service Workforce Data 2018 benchmark) of 12.1 percent. The reasons for staff
leaving the organisation were (in decreasing order) career advancement opportunities, family reasons/
moving overseas, retirement and long-term illness.

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET
A key focus area this year has been on supporting the development of our people. There has been continued emphasis
in growing our people management capability with the introduction of an extensive coaching programme for our line
managers, provision of training in Coaching for Performance Conversations, continuation of the Management in Action
programme for new managers and the implementation of an Emerging Leaders programme. This has been accompanied by
the ongoing development of a range of online e-learning modules for our people including the Maritime Transport Act, Code
of Conduct etc.
Significant work has been undertaken in consultation with front line staff in developing the Maritime Officer skills matrix,
learning roadmap and structured practice guide. Our Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee has been very active during
the year, with particular emphasis on building employee participation and engagement. The new SafePlus HSW framework
focuses on employee understanding and engagement in workplace Health and Safety.
These initiatives all contributed to Maritime NZ attaining a significantly higher rating for organisation-wide engagement than
the public sector benchmark during a period of organisational change.
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Where to from here
Delivery of learning and development initiatives
We are looking to strengthen the provision of learning and development opportunities for staff (particularly frontline staff)
including the ongoing development and implementation of core learning, which includes online modules, animations and
performance support tools.

Health, safety and wellbeing
The work of the HSW Committee continues to focus on identified priority areas for development: further improving our HSW
framework, managing HSW risk, telling our HSW story and engaging with workers, working with other Persons Conducting
a Business or Undertaking (PCBUs) and contractors, and building our health and safety capability.

We collaborate with other
agencies to share resources
and build capability that
improves government services

Our measure of success
Maritime NZ is regarded as a valued partner acting
proactively and collaboratively in its cross-agency/sector/
all-of-government participation efforts/engagements.

Our progress this year
During the year we focused on consolidating strong working relationships with fellow regulators in the health and
safety and transport areas.

Engagement strategies
We implemented specific engagement strategies for the union and port sectors. This included
establishing a joint port safety steering group with WorkSafe, to lead the development of health and
safety partnerships in this area.
We reviewed the structure and focus of the Safer Boating Forum, and determined collaborative ways
of working for the future. This led to a newly invigorated relationship with regional councils in the coregulatory area, demonstrated by all relevant councils participating in upcoming recreational boating
sector compliance initiatives.

Partnerships
Strong partnerships within the fishing industry led to the development of a joint approach to managing
the causes of fatigue and impairment caused by drug and alcohol use. We also continued to work actively
with MoT and other transport regulators to ensure our efforts are aligned.

Local government collaboration
We worked closely with local government to build their capability. This involved a statutory delegation to
the regions’ harbourmasters to exercise statutory powers of the Director under the Maritime Transport
Act. This enables local government to make decisions in relation to the placement or alteration of aids to
navigation in and on our waters. Engaging and collaborating with local government helps us deliver on the
relevant strategic pivots to deliver a transport system that is resilient, accessible, safe and modern.

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

63

Our progress this year (continued)
Government Regulatory Practice Initiative (G-Reg) lead
We have maintained strong support for G-Reg by leading the work on the development of a peer learning
framework to support regulatory performance. The framework supports peer learning discussions
between different regulators. We also contributed resources to the development of the G-Reg website,
which launched in June.27

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET
We have participated widely in state sector fora. These include transport sector collaboration activity coordinated by MoT,
all-of-government strategic foresight, and cross-agency regulatory and policy engagements related to maritime transport
and operator health and safety (e.g. with MBIE, WorkSafe and the Civil Aviation Authority).
We have also participated in all-of-government procurement and ICT initiatives, leveraging off the work and scale of larger
agencies. We continue to be one of the leaders in the G-Reg programme, with our contributions being well received and
regarded over the year.

Where to from here
Engagement with wider stakeholder groups is expected to continue into the new financial year.

Our business processes
drive better service making
use of technology to
minimise regulatory burden

Our measure of success
An increasing proportion of survey respondents, by sector, rate
the timeliness and ease of interactions with Maritime NZ as very
good or excellent.
We increasingly make use of technology and information internally
to deliver services.

Our progress this year
An increasing proportion of survey respondents, by sector, rate the timeliness
and ease of interactions with Maritime NZ as very good or excellent
We progressed several initiatives to improve the timeliness and ease of interaction with our stakeholders.
These included improving our certification processes to give applicants greater clarity about the status of
their applications and reducing application processing times.
Refinements were made in July 2019 to the online payments process to provide clearer guidance to
applicants about when and how to pay. These changes are being monitored to gauge impact and
effectiveness.
Further process improvement work is scheduled to take place during 2019/20 applying the Vanguard
systems thinking approach. This will include some seafarer/operator certification and ship registration
activities.
Our sector engagement surveys were not run in 2018/19 (because of a Research Analyst vacancy and the
timing of our Future State 2 restructure).

27 https://g-reg.govt.nz/
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Our progress this year (continued)
We increasingly make use of technology and information internally to
deliver services
We maintained our focus on the continuous improvement of business processes. Some key examples of
our initiatives over the year are described below.
Our intranet was also refreshed and modernised and sets a platform to manage content and build better
digital workflow for business applications. Some legacy applications were retired as we build capability in
our core applications. We focused on reducing security risks and established a work programme to further
strengthen many aspects of our security over the coming year.
We set sound foundations this year, and will grow further capability and maturity over the next few
years. This was the second year of three for the approved funding to further develop our Regulatory
Management System (Triton), completing the ‘exit control’ functions of suspension, adverse decisions and
revocations of maritime documents. Additionally we enhanced existing functions to ensure the system
kept pace with business changes.
We upgraded our records management system with support from vendors and advanced our technology
asset replacement programme to remove legacy technology from our systems. We started our project to
replace ageing network infrastructure, but this is still in the early stages.
Making the changes needed to multiple systems to accommodate the funding review changes was a
significant and intense piece of work, which was delivered successfully to ensure business continuity to
process the adjusted levy invoices.

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET
Progress with the development of Triton for regulatory management was good but the intended sector surveys were
not completed.

Where to from here
With the implementation of our Customer Stakeholder Engagement group, we will consider what regular information we
need from our stakeholders and the best way to gather the information.
Our plans are heavily influenced by the need to modernise our infrastructure and core tools and systems, in addition to
building further on our analytical capability.
Triton will have a major version upgrade. We will refresh network infrastructure due to the expiration of existing network.
We will also continue to replace technology assets and conclude operating and desktop productivity systems upgrades.
Audio video conference collaboration tools will get some much-needed attention and our Geospatial Information Systems
capability will be improved.
We will implement our analytical capability using integrated reporting datasets. This programme of work will continue for the
foreseeable future as our data assets, information demands and analytical tools evolve.
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Part B: Statements
of Performance and
Financial Statements
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Statement of Performance
How our outputs contribute to New Zealand’s long-term
maritime goals
Our Statement of Performance has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
practice. It provides a report on performance for the 2018/19 year against indicators set out in our
Statement of Performance Expectations 2018–19 (SPE). The indicators span the different areas of
Maritime NZ’s operations, and are represented through five output classes.
Our goods and services within the five
output classes are directed towards
achieving maritime safety, response,
security, environmental and best-practice

Function

Output class

regulation for New Zealanders. These
outputs align with our vision of a maritime
community that works and plays safely
and securely on clean waters, as follows:

Regulation that
is relevant and
robust

Sub-Output Classes

Risk-focused
compliance
practices that
reduce harm in the
maritime system

Responsive capability
that is well prepared
and effectively
deployed to resolve
emergency incidents

Development and provision of
technical maritime policy advice

Regulation

Influencing the
policy environment
for the maritime
sector

Reviews of the maritime system
Maritime security and intelligence
advice
Ministerial servicing
Information and education
Entry controls

Compliance

Maritime safety
and marine
protection services

Monitoring and investigation of
compliance
Enforcement of compliance
Distress and safety communication
services
Aids to navigation

Marine Pollution
Response Service

Response

Marine pollution response capability

Search
and rescue
coordination
services

Coordination of search and rescue
operations

Maritime Incident
Response Capability

Maritime incident response
capability (Non Oil)

Major/primary contribution

Management of New Zealand’s
emergency distress beacon system

Minor/secondary contribution

NB: where there is no dot there may still be a contribution
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Vote Transport: Non-Departmental Output Expense
To comply with our obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities undertaken by Maritime NZ that are funded
through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses are indicated within each relevant Output Class in the following
Statement of Performance tables. Relevant financial information is also provided in the tables following each output class
performance summary on pages 70 to 86.
A summary of appropriations funded through Vote Transport and from Vote Transport Information Supporting the
Estimates 2018/19 is provided in the table below.

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

APPROPRIATION
ESTIMATES
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

NON-DEPARTMENTAL
OUTPUT EXPENSE

WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED
WITH THIS APPROPRIATION

Search and Rescue
Activities (M72)

This appropriation is limited to the purchase of
search and rescue activities and a search and rescue
coordination service, including follow-up inquiries and
reporting associated with the searches and rescues
undertaken.

3,231

3,231

3,231

Search and Rescue
and Recreational
Boating Safety
Activities PLA (M72)

This appropriation is intended to achieve a sustained
reduction in the identified systemic risks within the
New Zealand Search and Rescue system to reduce
the number of preventable Search and Rescue related
fatalities in New Zealand.

6,361

5,624

5,724

801

764

769

2,078

2,078

2,078

3,349

3,349

3,349

6,299

6,191

6,160

The overarching purpose of this appropriation is
to regulate and enhance safety in New Zealand’s
maritime environment.

Maritime Incident Response
This category is limited to building capability to
respond to complex maritime pollution incidents.

Policy Advice and
Related Outputs –
Maritime (M72)

Maritime Safety and Marine Protection
Services
This category is limited to the development and
delivery of regulatory services which are the
responsibility of Maritime NZ under legislation

Policy Advice – Maritime
This category is limited to the provision of advice
(including second opinion advice and contributions
to policy advice led by other agencies) to support
decision making by Ministers on government policy
matters and Ministerial servicing.

Health and Safety
at Work activities –
Maritime (M72)

68

This appropriation is limited to health and safety
activities for the maritime sector, for which Maritime
NZ has designated responsibility.
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Vote Transport: Non-Departmental Capital Expenditure
To comply with our obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities undertaken by Maritime NZ that are funded
through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Capital Expenditure and a summary of appropriations and performance measures
are detailed in the table below.

NON-DEPARTMENT
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED
WITH THIS APPROPRIATION

Maritime New Zealand
– Search and Rescue
Activities (M72)

The estimated amount to be spent
in relation to Maritime NZ costs, as
authorised by section 9(1) of the Land
Transport Management Act 2003.

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

ESTIMATES
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

–

–

344
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OUTPUT
CLASS

1

Influencing the policy environment for the maritime sector
This output class includes the provision of evidence-based technical advice that enables the
development of robust, timely and fit-for-purpose policy and regulation in relation to maritime safety,
security and environmental protection; reviews of the maritime system to promote the improvement and
development of its safety and security; effective implementation of the International Ship and Port Facility
Security (ISPS) Code, in accordance with the Maritime Security Act; and the provision of services to
Ministers to enable them to discharge their portfolio accountabilities.

Output 1.1: Development and provision of technical
maritime policy advice
What is intended to be
achieved:
The development and provision of policy
advice including:
•

70

provision of technical safety advice
(directly and in association with
the Ministry of Transport (MoT)) in
relation to maritime sector policy and
legislation

•

contribution to the negotiation of
international agreements, treaties and
conventions

•

development of rules and other
legislative instruments under the
maritime acts, as funded by MoT

•

engagement in relationships
with other international maritime
administrations

•

advice on Pacific safety initiatives,
as funded by the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs and Trade.

•

contribution to the development of
policy advice by departments (other
than MoT) and local government
agencies
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What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

Our Performance
ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

100%`

100%

100%

1.1.2 The percentage of attendance objectives met30 at identified priority international
meetings attended (both inward and outward)

100%

≥95%

100%

1.1.3 The percentage of the Transport regulatory programme31 completed subject to
variations agreed with the Ministry of Transport

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

≥80%

100%

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

QUALITY:
*1.1.1 The percentage of written advice28 to the Minister of Transport and the Ministry
of Transport meet Maritime NZ’s quality criteria29

TIMELINESS:
1.1.4 The percentage of international reporting obligations to international
organisations completed by due date32

QUANTITY:
1.1.5 The percentage33 of requests for advice to inform other government initiatives
responded to substantively

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

Output 1.2: Reviews of the maritime system
What is intended to be
achieved:
Regular reviews of the maritime transport
system to promote the improvement
and development of safety, security and
marine environmental protection and
regular funding reviews to ensure our
funding structures are appropriate and
sustainable.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

28 Advice is limited to policy analysis, briefings, reports to the Minister and the Ministry of Transport for Ministerial consideration and
ministerial reports.
29 Quality criteria is defined as “form, content, quality of analysis and completion by due date as agreed with the Ministry” and determined
through internal quality control procedures.
30 Attendance objectives are determined in accordance with the agreed process to prioritise issues that align with New Zealand’s interests
under Maritime NZ’s international engagement strategy.
31 Transport regulatory programme comprises the annual transport rules and policy analyses agreed by Cabinet.
32 Maritime NZ has two international reporting obligations (to the IOPC Funds and MARPOL Oil reporting). Reporting deadlines are set by
these international organisations.
33 Maritime NZ acknowledges all requests for advice. Based on past experience, Maritime NZ receives between 60 and 80 requests
annually to provide advice to inform other government initiatives. Maritime NZ seeks to respond to requests for advice where possible by
assessing the relevance of the advice sought to Maritime NZ’s core activities and responsibilities, the scope of the advice required, and
the timeframe for response.
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Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

100%

≥95%

New
Measure

QUANTITY:
1.2.1 The percentage of reviews, reports and intelligence assessments commissioned
to identify emerging or relevant system issues that meet the requirements of the
terms of reference34

Output 1.3: Maritime security and intelligence advice
What is intended to be
achieved:
The effective implementation of the
International Ship and Port Facility
Security (ISPS) Code, in accordance with

the Maritime Security Act 2004 (MSA)
and the ability to take such action as
may be appropriate in the public interest
to enforce the provisions of the MSA and
of regulations and rules made under this
Act, including carrying out inspections
and audits.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

100%

100%

100%

0

0

0

100%

100%

100%

QUANTITY:
1.3.1 The percentage of New Zealand trading ports that are compliant with the ISPS
Code35
1.3.2 The number of security related detentions issued as a result of Port State
Control (PSC) inspections36
1.3.3 The percentage of identified security threats to New Zealand port facilities and
ships in New Zealand waters that are appropriately responded to37

34 Intelligence reports are developed from terms of reference that have been agreed with the clients of the assessment. Terms of reference
include purpose, scope of analysis, information sources, and timeframes.
35 New Zealand has 14 commercial trading ports. The ISPS code sets out minimum security arrangements for ships, ports and
government agencies and is an amendment to the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) Convention.
36 Ships’ compliance with the ISPS code is checked as part of all Port State Control inspections.
37 Maritime NZ uses the national framework to identify and assess potential security risks and then makes a decision about how to
address these. Appropriate actions include providing information to ports and other agencies on a case-by-case basis, requiring a
change in the content of port security plans. The confidential nature of security information means it is not appropriate to provide detail
about the volume and quality of this work, and as a result Maritime NZ expects to consistently meet the stated target of 100%. The
indicator is included to signal importance of this activity.
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Output 1.4: Ministerial servicing
What is intended to be
achieved:
The effective delivery of support to
Ministers to enable them to discharge
their portfolio responsibilities. This

includes drafting replies to ministerial
correspondence, responding to
parliamentary questions, and providing
support at select committees on nonlegislative matters in a robust and timely
manner.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

Our Performance
ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

100%

100%

100%

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

BUDGET
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

Crown funding

3,349

3,349

3,349

Crown agencies

3,446

3,310

2,587

Maritime Levy

3,494

2,047

2,704

450

209

345

Total revenue

10,739

8,915

8,985

Total expenditure

11,411

8,915

9,169

(672)

–

(184)

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

QUANTITY:
1.4.1 The percentage of replies to ministerial correspondence and parliamentary
questions that meet agreed quality criteria including timeliness38

Output Class 1: Total revenue and expenses

Other

Net surplus/(deficit)

Refer to Note 24 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

38 Quality criteria is defined as per internal procedures and evidenced through internal sign-off processes.
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OUTPUT
CLASS

2

Maritime Safety and marine protection services
The purpose of this output class is an integrated approach to achieving compliance with safety, security
and marine protection requirements.
Modern regulatory theory and practice
reflects an understanding that the
majority of participants in a regulated
sector will do the right thing if they are
well informed and supported to meet
their obligations; entry controls ensure
that participants meet appropriate
standards and have relevant knowledge

and experience; monitoring, investigation
and enforcement activities ensure that
participants who are not inclined to meet
their obligations will do so, and hold
them to account where necessary if they
do not. In addition, these activities also
provide information that can be used to
inform the on-going improvement and

adjustment of standards that underpin
the regulatory system.
Aids to navigation support safety
outcomes by signalling hazards, and
distress and safety communication
services provide a safety net for those
who get into difficulty.

Output 2.1: Information and education
What is intended to be
achieved:
An increased understanding and
knowledge of maritime safety and
security by the sectors Maritime NZ
engages with, and the protection of
the marine environment, through the
provision of information and education
services to, and liaison with, the maritime
community. Key functions include the
provision of recreational boating safety
and awareness services, and information
and education for the commercial
sectors of the maritime community.
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What happened this year?
The percentage of New Zealanders
recalling boating safety messaging
dropped slightly. Over half (54 percent) of
recreational boat users (boaties) saw one
or more safety messages in the previous
12 months. This level was higher for
recreational boaties than the general
population (47 percent awareness).
Awareness reached the target level of
60 percent or more among recreational
boaties in Tasman/Nelson/Marlborough
regions and Otago with Wellington/
Wairarapa and Gisborne/Hawke’s Bay
only very slightly under target at
59 percent. Recreational boaties aged
25-34 years old had a higher rate of
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recall (59 percent) compared with
54 percent for other age groups.
The significant number of industry-based
forums contributed to reflects a year-onyear increase of our engagement activity.
America’s Cup (AC36) and HSW activities
account for some of the increase as well
as a small increase in annual events.
Overall, it is considered a successful
year establishing new relationships,
nurturing and sustaining existing ones
and facilitating transparent dialogue to try
to influence sector behaviours.
All other work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

Our Performance
ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

5

3-5 per
annum

5

2.1.2 The number of industry publications and guidance documents published40

42

30-40

New
Measure

2.1.3 The number of industry-based forums contributed to41

74

18-30

59

54%

≥60%

55%

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

QUANTITY:
2.1.1 The number of information and education campaigns39 delivered

QUANTITY:
2.1.4 The percentage of New Zealanders who recall boating safety messaging (as
gauged by survey)

Output 2.2: Entry controls
What is intended to be
achieved:
The exercise of entry controls (including
continued eligibility) for operators,
vessels, seafarers, products, services,
ports, installations and facilities into the
maritime transport system and/or the
marine environment, under maritime and
related legislation. Key functions and
priorities include:
•

registration of ships in the
New Zealand Register of Ships

•

issuing marine protection documents

•

issuing maritime documents and
certificates

•

vessel security and port security
standards

•

certification of seafarers

•

issuing exemptions from the need
to comply with maritime and marine
protection rules.

What happened this year?
The average number of working days
to process a seafarer application during
the year was 42 days; 22 days above
the target of 20 working days. The
reporting system we use to measure
‘on hold time’ (time spent waiting on the
applicant to provide missing information
or documents) shows that the majority
of our processing time is spent waiting
for additional information from the
applicant. This is despite continued
follow-up contacts being made by our
staff. In addition we also declined 45
applications (in progress for over a year),
after repeated attempts contacting the
applicant with no success.

Our overall average processing time
decreases from 42 to 13 working days
(once on hold and declined applications
are excluded). This shows that this small
volume of applications has a large impact
on our overall average processing time.
Over the next year we will:
•

continue to follow up applications that
are missing documentation earlier in
the process

•

review our external-facing guidance
documents to simplify them in
an attempt to ensure we receive
complete applications.

All other work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

39 Typically Maritime NZ delivers a one-week Safer Boating Week campaign and a summer safety campaign annually.
40 The number published is subject to fluctuation due to a reactive component responding to issues that emerge during the year.
41 Maritime NZ will contribute to industry-based forums to provide a regulator’s perspective and to educate and assist maritime sector
participants to get things right with regard to improving safety. Industry-based forums attended may include the Marine Transport
Association, Maritime Law Association of Australia and New Zealand, NZ Shipping Federation, Port and Harbour Annual Conference,
NZ Federation of Commercial Fishermen, the Rafting Association, Navigation Safety Special Interest Group and Recreational Boating
engagements.
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Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

2,859

2,400-2,600

New
Measure

41.92 days

Within 20
working
days

37.94 days

TIMELINESS:
2.2.1 The number of maritime or marine protection documents, or other statutory
certificates/permits issued annually42
2.2.2 Average number of working days for a seafarer certificate to be issued43

Output 2.3: Monitoring and investigation of compliance
What is intended to be
achieved:
The monitoring and investigation of
compliance with maritime legislation and
other related legislation. Key functions
include:
•

•

•

inspections of ships registered in
other countries when they arrive
in New Zealand for compliance
with IMO requirements (Port State
Control inspections)
annual flag state control (SOLAS
Convention) inspection of
New Zealand registered ships that
comply with the Convention for Safety
of Life at Sea
inspection and oversight of domestic
commercial vessels and their

documents, to ensure compliance
with legislation and with vessel survey
standards
•

audit of New Zealand operators,
vessels, facilities, products, services,
documents and delegations, and
requiring compliance with the
documents and delegations

•

investigations and responses to
accidents and incidents, regulatory
non-compliance, breaches of
maritime security requirements,
and complaints.

What happened this year?

Our Maritime Operator Safety System
(MOSS)44 audit regime continued to
work to support, encourage and require
strong safety standards and behaviours
among domestic commercial operators.
Although our year-end result is slightly
under target (delivering 321 out of 323
audits), two audits that were scheduled
one was cancelled as the operator is no
longer exercising the privileges of their
document and the other was due to be
completed as part of a group audits on
the Chatham Islands in August 2019.
All other work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

This has been a successful year for
monitoring and investigation activities
internationally and domestically.

42 This includes maritime documents, marine protection documents, ship registration certificates, exemptions from rules, seafarer
certificates and all other documents issued by Maritime NZ’s operator certification and personnel certification teams.
43 A seafarer certificate includes all certificates processed within Maritime NZ’s Personnel Certification team. A completed certificate
includes certificates that have been approved, declined or withdrawn.
44 MOSS was introduced in 2014 to improve maritime operator safety by examining an operator’s entire operation to ensure any safety
risks are identified and managed.
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Our Performance
ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

257

≥250

257

39.32%

≥25%

39%

No incidents
of a serious
marine
casualty
involving
a SOLAS
vessel

100%

No incidents
of a serious
marine
casualty
involving
a SOLAS
vessel

99.38%

100%

98%

100%

100%

100%

2

2

2

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

INTERNATIONAL VESSELS (SOLAS)
QUANTITY:
2.3.1 The number of PSC inspections completed annually
2.3.2 The percentage of annual PSC inspections that were of higher risk45 ships
2.3.3 The percentage of serious or very serious marine casualties involving SOLAS
vessels that receive a response47 according to Maritime NZ’s compliance
operating model
46

DOMESTIC COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS
QUANTITY:
2.3.4 The percentage of scheduled MOSS Audits48 that are completed
*2.3.5 Percentage of HSWA assessments required that are conducted
*2.3.6 The number of proactive, targeted HSWA inspection campaigns delivered49

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

45 Higher risk ships include: any ship identified in the APCIS database as an ‘underperforming ship’ (UPS) which is a vessel that has been
detained three or more times in the last 12 months by the Tokyo MOU and requires inspections at each port within the Tokyo MOU
region; any ship that is classified as High Risk Ship (HRS) under the New Inspection Regime (NIR). High Risk ships are those that score
four or more points based on a risk assessment that considers a vessel’s, type, age, flag rating, deficiencies and detentions over the
last three years and company performance (based on deficiency and detention ratings for all ships in a company’s fleet). Every vessel
is scored on these criteria (which are weighted). High risk ships must be inspected every two to four months (while standard and low
risk ships must be inspected every five to eight and nine to eighteen months respectively. Any ship that is not inspected within its
required timeframe assumes a Priority One status to highlight it needs to be inspected at the next port – however priority status is not
an indicator of high risk). Refer to http://www.tokyo-mou.org/doc/NIRinformation%20sheet.pdf. A ship can also be identified as having
overriding priority on the basis of significant concerns identified by any administration, by notification from pilots, etc. and by reports
from the Master or crew. These parties can request that the vessel be inspected again at its next port of call.
46 A marine casualty as defined by the IMO Casualty Investigation is one “involving the total loss of the ship or a death or severe damage to
the environment”. Refer to http://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/MSAS/Casualties/Pages/Default.aspx
47 The response may include an investigation to identify any liability and/or an inspection to ensure the vessel is safe to continue
operating. It may not always include a Maritime NZ-led investigation as this function may be undertaken by the Transport Accident and
Investigation Commission (TAIC), who have responsibility for conducting investigations under the Casualty Code.
48 MOSS Audits are scheduled to reflect each individual operation’s Risk Profile. Risk is assessed when an operator initially enters into
MOSS. The risk score determines when the first MOSS Audit is due. Operators with relatively higher risk ratings are audited more
frequently.
49 In addition to general HSW assessments, Maritime NZ will conduct targeted national inspection campaigns focusing on a high risk
sector (for instance small fishing operations, passenger ferries) or activity (for instance working at heights, winching operations) and will
include comprehensive HSW inspections of at least 16 operations.
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Output 2.4: Enforcement of compliance
What is intended to be
achieved:
Compliance with maritime and related
legislation via enforcement activity to
ensure that participants who are not
inclined to meet their obligations will
do so, and are held to account, where
necessary. Enforcement activities include:
•

suspension of, or imposition of
conditions on, maritime documents or
marine protection documents

•

detention of ships and seizure
of products under the Maritime
Transport Act (MTA)

•

follow-up, second and subsequent
inspections to review non-conformity
and corrective action notices,
suspensions, conditions and
detentions

•

issuing infringement notices under
the MTA

•

•

prosecution of offences under
the MTA

•

exit controls – removal of
ships from the register, and
revocation of maritime and marine
protection documents.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

issuing improvement notices and
prohibition notices under the Health
and Safety at Work Act 2015 (HSWA)

Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

95.65%

≥75%

100%

2

<5

0

100%

No PSC
detentions
decisions
officially
reviewed

QUANTITY:
*2.4.1 The percentage of prosecutions brought under the Health and Safety at Work
Act and/or the Maritime Transport Act that result in the relevant parties being
held to account50
2.4.2 The number of enforcement decisions that are overturned on review or appeal
under the Health and Safety at Work Act and/or Maritime Transport Act

2.4.3 The percentage of PSC detention decisions upheld after official review51

No PSC
detentions
decisions
officially
reviewed

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

50 ‘Held to account’ is interpreted to include a conviction or another compliance outcome in the public interest (pursuant to the SolicitorGeneral guidelines).
51 Note that complaints made are reviewed through the official Tokyo MOU review process.
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Output 2.5: Distress and safety communication services
What is intended to be
achieved:
The provision of reliable distress and
safety radio services to the maritime
sector to reduce safety incidents and
support efficient and effective responses.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

TIMELINESS:
2.5.1 Availability of communication services 52
*2.5.2 The percentage of time a 24-hour distress/safety radio service is provided53

ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

99.94%

≥99.8%

99.91%

99.99%

≥99.8%

99.99%

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

Output 2.6: Aids to navigation
What is intended to be
achieved:
The provision of reliable maritime
navigation aids, including the provision
of navigational aids for shipping on
New Zealand’s coast and adjacent
islands and effective oversight of
navigational aids owned by ports and
other organisations.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

52 This indicator measures the availability of the very high frequency (VHF) services, high frequency (HF) voice and HF digital selective
calling (DSC). Outages are logged by the Maritime Operations Centre (MOC) operator: Start is ‘fault first found’ and end is ‘fault
repaired’. The target is based on category 1 Aids to Navigation (AtoN) but there are no actual international targets for radio. Outages are
logged in the MOC database and reported in the monthly MOC report.
53 This measure is intended to show the MOC is fully operational and available to receive distress calls, issue maritime safety information
(MSI) broadcasts, and respond to requests for assistance or information over the maritime network. The measure is reported in the
monthly MOC report, with issues reviewed during contractor meetings. Performance should be 100% unless there is a major outage or
disaster that means the MOC cannot be manned.
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Our Performance
ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

99.97%

≥99.80%

99.99%

99.93%

≥99.80%

99.98%

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

BUDGET
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

Crown funding

2,078

2,078

2,078

Health and Safety at Work Act levy

6,299

6,191

6,160

Fuel Excise Duty

2,743

2,560

2,377

19,324

20,338

18,279

Fees

2,445

2,330

2,836

Other

1,335

998

1,018

Total revenue

34,224

34,495

32,748

Total expenditure

32,653

34,495

31,964

1,571

–

784

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

TIMELINESS:
*2.6.1 The percentage of time lighthouses are operational54
2.6.2 The percentage of time that day beacons/buoys are operational

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

Output Class 2: Total revenue and expenses

Maritime Levy

Net surplus/(deficit)

Refer to Note 24 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

54 The target is based on the international standards defined to measure the availability of category 1 AtoN outages recorded by Maritime
NZ in a database. The start is when an outage is first reported and the finish is when the site is repaired. Outages are notified via the
Maritime NZ monitoring system (if monitored), the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand, or MOC from a vessel via maritime radio,
or by a member of the public.
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OUTPUT
CLASS

3

Marine Pollution Response Service
Through this output class, Maritime NZ contributes directly to the goal of response capability that is well
prepared and effectively deployed to resolve emergency incidents. This is achieved through the delivery
of services that ensure New Zealand is prepared for, and has the ability to respond to, marine oil spills.

Output 3.1: Marine pollution response capability
What is intended to be
achieved:
That New Zealand is prepared for and
able to respond quickly and effectively to
marine oil spills.

What happened this year?
The majority of work completed in
this area falls within the SPE target
objectives. The reported variances are
not material in terms of overall readiness
and response capability and arise from
timing differences and factors beyond
our control.

At the end of the reporting period three
regional councils failed to meet the target
for the number of trained responders.
All have the required training courses
booked for early in the next period. All
regions have capable response teams
and for next year improved reports from
our information tool WebEOC (a webbased emergency management system)
will be available and will assist greatly in
meeting re-validation deadlines.
All stockpiles underwent maintenance
checks, one stockpile was not inspected
by year end but this was completed early
in the next period.

Five of sixteen regional councils missed
the target date for refreshing their
regional plans. Three plans were received
shortly after the year ended and the
remaining two are well in hand as at
August 2019. The existing plans for the
five councils remain comprehensive and
effective; overall readiness and response
capability is not adversely affected by the
delay in plan refreshing. We continue to
work with our council partners to focus
efforts on meeting deadlines.
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Our Performance
ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

81.25%

100%

96.88%

95%

100%

98.75%

2

1 per region

3

68.75%

100%

90.62%

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

BUDGET
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

7,774

7,690

7,499

187

145

141

Total revenue

7,961

7,835

7,640

Total expenditure

5,923

6,222

5,737

Net surplus/(deficit)

2,038

1,613

1,903

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

QUALITY AND QUANTITY:
3.1.1 The percentage of regional councils that have trained responders at or above
80% of recommended number55
3.1.2 The percentage of regional (19) and national (1) equipment stockpiles that are
maintained and inspected within the last 12 months
3.1.3. The number of Tier 3 National Response Team (NRT) tabletop exercises and
Tier 3 NRT field exercises that are conducted annually56
3.1.4 The percentage of regional council Tier 2 oil spill plans that are current

Output Class 3: Total revenue and expenses

Oil pollution levies
Other

Refer to Appendix 1 Note 18 of the Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

55 The recommended number varies for each regional council and numbers are determined according to a variety of factors that shape the
three-tier response system. These factors are described in the Maritime Oil Spill Response Training Numbers policy.
56 The target was incorrectly articulated in the Statement of Performance Expectations as one per region instead of one per year (the
national level exercises are very significant undertakings and have never been conducted annually in each region. After this year this
target is being amended to the correct figure of ‘1 per year’.
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OUTPUT
CLASS

4

Search and rescue coordination services
This output class contributes directly to Maritime NZ’s goal of a response capability that is well prepared
and effectively deployed to resolve emergency incidents. This is achieved through the coordination of
a timely and appropriate search and rescue response (across land, sea and air). Efficient and effective
search and rescue operations are supported by distress beacon technology, including a ground station in
New Zealand linked to the international satellite system.

Output 4.1: Coordination of search and rescue operations
What is intended to be
achieved:
The effective coordination and conduct
of sea, air and land search and rescue
operations through an efficient search
and the Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand (RCCNZ).

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

100%

100%

100%

QUALITY AND TIMELINESS:
*4.1.1 The percentage of time an uninterrupted coordination service is provided by two
fully trained search and rescue officers (SAROs) on duty 24/757

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.
57 This measure demonstrates that the RCCNZ is always staffed by fully trained and qualified SAROs.
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Output 4.2: Management of New Zealand’s emergency
distress beacon system
What is intended to be
achieved:
The operation and maintenance of the
ground-based equipment that forms
part of the international satellite system
that detects, locates and alerts search
and rescue authorities about emergency
distress beacons, and the operation and
maintenance of the emergency distress
beacons database.

What happened this year?
The percentage of beacons’ data verified
within the last two years (as at 30 June)
is under target for the year. This is due
to a significant number of new beacon
registrations in each of the recent years
(over 10,000 per year) giving an audit
target that exceeds our staff capacity
under the current process. Operational
activity has not been affected; there have
been no beacon alert rescues where

beacon registration data inaccuracy was
a factor. Notwithstanding this, we are
currently testing a new online beacon
registration system which will go-live in
the 2019/20 financial year and provide
process efficiencies including a revised
approach to audit; we expect to meet
the target next year.
All other work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.

Our Performance
ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

99.83%

≥99.5%

99.83%

48.98%

≥65%

69.58%

100%

≥98%

96.79%

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

BUDGET
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

Crown funding

3,231

3,231

3,231

Fuel Excise Duty

3,618

3,064

3,347

153

165

116

Total revenue

7,002

6,460

6,694

Total expenditure

7,183

6,460

6,619

Net surplus/(deficit)

(181)

–

75

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

TIMELINESS:
4.2.1 The percentage of time ground-based satellite equipment is operational
*4.2.2 The percentage of beacons’ data verified within the last two years (at 30 June)
4.2.3 The percentage of beacon registrations received by the RCCNZ and processed
into the database by the next working day

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

Output Class 4: Total revenue and expenses

Other

Refer to Note 24 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.
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OUTPUT
CLASS

5

Maritime incident response capability

Output 5.1: Maritime incident response capability (Non Oil)
What is intended to be
achieved:
This output is intended to achieve the
readiness and response capabilities
required for the ongoing delivery of the
Integrated Maritime Incident Response
Strategy and associated high-level
plans, through the delivery of internal
and external joint training and exercises,
liaison and coordination activities and
evolution of policies, procedures and
processes.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls
within the SPE target objectives with no
material variance.
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Our Performance
ACTUAL
2018/19

TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL
2017/18

Four
exercises
completed

Four
exercises
completed

Four
exercises
completed

Training plan
developed
and all
planned
training
completed

Training plan
developed
and all
planned
training
completed

Training plan
developed
and all
planned
training
completed

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

BUDGET
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

Crown funding

801

764

769

Total revenue

801

764

769

Total expenditure

801

764

769

–

–

–

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

QUANTITY:
*5.1.1 The number of Maritime Incident Response Team (MIRT) exercises completed58

5.1.2 Annual readiness and response training plan developed and all planned
training completed

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

Output Class 5: Total Revenue and Expenses

Net surplus/(deficit)

Refer to Note 24 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

58 MIRT exercises are conducted to test the individual plans in Maritime NZ’s Integrated Maritime Incident Response Strategy. Exercises
conducted by the MIRT may focus on Maritime NZ’s response as a whole or functions within, for example, salvage oversight. On
completion of each exercise a ‘lessons learnt’ plan is developed to ensure that any shortfalls in processes, actions or overall response
capability are identified and resolved.
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Statement of responsibility
We are responsible for the preparation of Maritime NZ’s financial statements and statement of performance, and for the
judgements made in them.
We are responsible for any end of year performance information provided by Maritime NZ under section 19A of the
Public Finance Act 1989.
We have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.
In our opinion, these financial statements and statement of performance fairly reflect the financial position and operations
of Maritime NZ for the year ended 30 June 2019.
Signed for and on behalf of the Authority

Jo Brosnahan
Chair, Maritime NZ
Dated: 24 October 2019

88

Belinda Vernon
Chair, Audit and Risk Committee, Maritime NZ
Dated: 24 October 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of Maritime New Zealand’s financial statements
and performance information for the year ended 30 June 2019
The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand. The Auditor-General has appointed me, Clint Ramoo, using the staff
and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and the performance information, including
the performance information for appropriations, of Maritime New Zealand on his behalf.

Opinion
We have audited:
•

the financial statements of Maritime New Zealand on pages 92 to 125, that comprise the statement of financial position as at
30 June 2019, the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information; and

•

the performance information of Maritime New Zealand on pages 33 to 65 and 68 to 86.

In our opinion:
•

the financial statements of Maritime New Zealand on pages 92 to 125:
•

•

•

present fairly, in all material respects:
•

its financial position as at 30 June 2019; and

•

its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Reporting
Standards; and

the performance information on pages 33 to 65 and 68 to 86:
•

presents fairly, in all material respects, Maritime New Zealand’s performance for the year ended 30 June 2019, including:
•

•

for each class of reportable outputs:
•

its standards of delivery performance achieved as compared with forecasts included in the statement of performance
expectations for the financial year; and

•

its actual revenue and output expenses as compared with the forecasts included in the statement of performance
expectations for the financial year; and

•

what has been achieved with the appropriations; and

•

the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with the appropriated or forecast expenses or
capital expenditure.

complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on 24 October 2019. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and our responsibilities relating
to the financial statements and the performance information, we comment on other information, and we explain our independence.
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Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the Professional and
Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of
our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements and the performance
information
The Board is responsible on behalf of Maritime New Zealand for preparing financial statements and performance information that are
fairly presented and comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. The Board is responsible for such internal
control as it determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial statements and performance information that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements and the performance information, the Board is responsible on behalf of Maritime New Zealand
for assessing Maritime New Zealand’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Board is also responsible for disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to merge
or to terminate the activities of Maritime New Zealand, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements and the
performance information
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the performance information, as a
whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with the AuditorGeneral’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions
of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers, taken on the basis of these financial statements
and the performance information.
For the budget information reported in the financial statements and the performance information, our procedures were limited to
checking that the information agreed to Maritime New Zealand’s statement of performance expectations.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements and the performance
information.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:
•

90

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and the performance information, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
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•

We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Maritime New Zealand’s internal control.

•

We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Board.

•

We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported performance information within Maritime New Zealand’s framework for reporting
its performance.

•

We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the Board and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
Maritime New Zealand’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements and the performance information or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause Maritime New Zealand to cease to continue as a
going concern.

•

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements and the performance information,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements and the performance information represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included on pages 1 to 32,
66 to 67, 87 to 88, 126 to 128 and 151 to 161, but does not include the financial statements and the performance information,
and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements and the performance information does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements and the performance information, our responsibility is to read the other
information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the
performance information or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of Maritime New Zealand in accordance with the independence requirements of the Auditor-General’s Auditing
Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised): Code of Ethics for
Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no relationship with, or interests, in Maritime New Zealand.

Clint Ramoo
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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Maritime New Zealand Statement of comprehensive revenue
and expense
for the year ended 30 June 2019

NOTES

ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

REVENUE
Crown

2

22,119

21,237

21,311

Maritime levy

2

22,818

22,385

20,983

Other revenue

2

7,520

6,832

6,703

309

180

199

52,766

50,634

49,196

3

29,328

28,410

27,136

12,13

2,215

2,600

2,479

Capital charge

4

1,234

1,390

1,241

Finance costs

5

86

–

80

Other expenses

6

19,185

18,234

17,585

52,048

50,634

48,521

718

–

675

615

–

–

1,333

–

675

Interest revenue
Total revenue

EXPENSES
Personnel costs
Depreciation & amortisation costs

Total expenses
Surplus/(deficit)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE
REVALUATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Gain on property revaluations
Total comprehensive revenue & expense

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Maritime New Zealand Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2019

NOTES

Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year
Capital contribution

19

Balance at 30 June

ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

22,464

21,699

21,445

1,333

–

675

–

–

344

23,797

21,699

22,464

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Maritime New Zealand Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2019

NOTES

ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash & cash equivalents

7

2,819

2,952

5,168

Receivables

8

2,533

2,100

3,605

Derivative financial instruments

10

26

–

30

Investments

9

8,500

5,700

3,367

633

600

561

137

100

142

14,648

11,452

12,873

Prepayments
Inventories

11

Total current assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

26

Property, plant & equipment

12

11,705

11,082

11,806

Intangible assets

13

5,296

5,819

4,931

Total non-current assets

17,001

16,901

16,763

Total assets

31,649

28,353

29,636

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables

14

3,685

2,922

3,003

Borrowings

15

291

273

284

Employee entitlements

16

2,212

1,800

1,950

Provisions

17

23

–

15

6,211

4,995

5,252

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings

15

1,500

1,529

1,791

Provisions

17

136

130

129

Derivative financial instruments

10

5

–

–

Total non-current liabilities

1,641

1,659

1,920

Total liabilities

7,852

6,654

7,172

EQUITY
Contributed capital

19

25,138

25,138

25,138

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

19

(2,632)

(4,115)

(3,350)

Property revaluation reserves

19

1,291

676

676

Total equity

23,797

21,699

22,464

Total equity & liabilities

31,649

28,353

29,636

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Maritime New Zealand Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2019
ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Receipts from the Crown

22,300

21,237

21,064

Receipts from maritime levy

23,535

22,385

20,963

Receipts from other revenue

7,578

6,832

6,165

336

180

206

Payments to employees

(28,956)

(28,240)

(26,832)

Payments to suppliers

(18,701)

(18,484)

(17,387)

(1,234)

(1,318)

(1,241)

16

–

26

4,874

2,592

2,964

39

–

96

10,393

–

9,370

(467)

(549)

(573)

(1,279)

(1,770)

(1,334)

(15,553)

–

(7,410)

(6,867)

(2,319)

149

–

–

344

(356)

(345)

(345)

(356)

(345)

(1)

(2,349)

(72)

3,112

5,168

3,024

2,056

2,819

2,952

5,168

NOTES

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Payments for capital charge
Goods & services tax (net)
Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment
Receipts from maturity of investments
Purchase of property, plant & equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Acquisitions of investments
Net cash flows from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital contribution
Payments under finance leases

15

Net cash flows from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents
Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the year

7

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Maritime New Zealand Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2019 (Continued)

Reconciliation of surplus/(deficit) to net cash flow from operating activities
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

718

675

2,215

2,479

34

(48)

(37)

(17)

2,212

2,414

(39)

(61)

Interest payments on finance leases

72

72

Total items classified as investing/financing activities

33

11

1,072

(470)

(72)

64

5

17

Increase/(decrease): Payables

629

62

Increase/(decrease): Employee entitlements

262

183

15

8

Net movements in working capital items

1,911

(136)

Net cash from operating activities

4,874

2,964

Surplus/(deficit)

ADD/(LESS) NON-CASH ITEMS
Depreciation & amortisation expense
Net (gains)/losses on derivative financial instruments
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses
Total non-cash items

ADD/(LESS) ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING OR FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant & equipment

ADD/(LESS) MOVEMENTS IN STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS
(Increase)/decrease: Receivables
(Increase)/decrease: Prepayments
(Increase)/decrease: Inventories

Increase/(decrease): Provisions

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Standards issued and not yet effective and
not early adopted

Reporting entity

Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective,
that have not been early adopted, and which are relevant to
Maritime NZ, are:

Maritime NZ is a Crown entity as defined by the Crown Entities
Act 2004 and is domiciled and operates in New Zealand. The
relevant legislation governing Maritime NZ’s operations includes
the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Maritime Transport Act
1994. Maritime NZ’s ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown.
Maritime NZ’s primary objective is to provide maritime
regulatory, compliance and response services for the benefit of
the New Zealand public. Maritime NZ does not operate to make
a financial return. Maritime NZ has designated itself as a public
benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of financial reporting.

An amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows
requires entities to provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes. This amendment is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, with early
application permitted. Maritime NZ does not intend to early
adopt the amendment.

The financial statements for Maritime NZ are for the year
ended 30 June 2019 and were approved by the Authority
on 24 October 2019.

Summary of significant accounting
policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, and the accounting policies have been
consistently applied throughout the year.

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of Maritime NZ have been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the Crown Entities
Act 2004, which includes the requirement to comply with
New Zealand’s generally accepted accounting practice
(NZ GAAP).
Maritime NZ is a Tier 1 entity and the financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with PBE standards.
These financial statements comply with PBE Standards.

Presentation currency and rounding
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($000).

Standard early adopted
In line with the Financial Statements of the Government,
Maritime NZ has elected to early adopt PBE IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. PBE IFRS 9 replaces PBE IPSAS 29 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Information about
the adoption of PBE IFRS 9 is provided in Note 22.
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Amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows
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Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to
which they relate. Significant accounting policies that do not
relate to a specific note are outlined below.

Income tax
Maritime NZ is a public authority and consequently is exempt
from the payment of income tax. Accordingly no provision for
income tax has been made.

Goods and services tax (GST)
Items in the financial statements are presented exclusive of
GST, except for receivables and payables, which are presented
on a GST-inclusive basis. Where goods and services tax is
not recoverable as an input tax, it is recognised as part of the
related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, Inland
Revenue is included as part of receivables or payables in the
Statement of Financial Position.
The net GST paid to, or received from, Inland Revenue
including the goods and services tax relating to investing and
financing activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in
the Statement of cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive
of GST.

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of
Performance Expectations, as approved by the Authority at
the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have
been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP using accounting
policies that are consistent with those adopted by the Authority
in preparing the financial statements.

Cost allocation
Maritime NZ has determined the cost of outputs by using the
cost allocation system outlined below:
•

All direct costs for operational activities are assigned to the
applicable outputs of that activity.

•

All corporate costs that cannot be attributed to a specific
output fall into the overhead cost pool.

•

The overhead cost pool is then allocated across all outputs
using the cost of personnel time attributed to each activity as
the driver.

This represents a change in the output allocation methodology
since the last audited financial statements.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward
exchange contracts are held) are translated into New Zealand
dollars using the spot exchange rate prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions, and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the surplus
or deficit.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, Maritime NZ has made
estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These
estimates and assumptions might differ from the subsequent
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are:
•

useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment – refer to Note 12

•

fair value of land – refer to Note 12

•

useful lives of software assets – refer to Note 13.

These significant estimates and assumptions are included in the
relevant note.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies
No critical judgements have been applied in the preparation of
these financial statements.

NOTE 2: REVENUE
Accounting Policy
The specific accounting policies for significant revenue items
are explained below:

Funding from the Crown
Maritime NZ receives funding from the Crown and is restricted
in its use for the purpose of Maritime NZ meeting its objectives,
as specified in its founding legislation and the scope of the
relevent appropriations of the funder. Maritime NZ considers
that there are no conditions attached to the funding and it
is recognised as revenue at the point of entitlement. The fair
value of revenue from the Crown has been determined to be
equivalent to the amounts due in the funding arrangements.

Breakdown of Crown funding
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Crown

9,459

9,427

Fuel excise duty

6,361

5,724

Health and safety at work levy

6,299

6,160

22,119

21,311

Total Crown revenue
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Funding from levies
Maritime levies charged on foreign vessels are based on information from the New Zealand Customs Service
regarding port visits. Maritime levies charged on domestic commercial vessels are based on vessels registered with
Maritime NZ and are recognised in the period to which the levy relates.

Provision of services
Revenue derived from the provision of services to third parties is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion
at balance date.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised by accruing on a time proportion basis the interest due for the investment.

Breakdown of other revenue and further information
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

1,031

904

283

346

1,131

1,586

690

690

Services provided in respect of supporting the Ministry of Transport policy rules programme

1,000

1,028

Services provided in respect of the Pacific Maritime Safety Programme

2,446

1,558

863

430

39

96

–

48

37

17

7,520

6,703

Seafarer licensing fees
Ship registration fees
Maritime operator fees
NZ Oil Pollution Fund administration fees

Other income
Gain on sale of property, plant & equipment
Net gain on derivative financial instruments
Net foreign exchange gains
Total other revenue

Asset disposals
During the year, motor vehicles were sold resulting in a net gain on sale of assets.
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NOTE 3: PERSONNEL COSTS
Accounting Policy
Salaries and wages
Salaries and wages are recognised as an expense as employees provide services.

Superannuation schemes – defined contribution schemes
Employer contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government Superannuation Fund, and Tower LifeSaver are accounted for
as defined contribution superannuation schemes and are expensed in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Breakdown of personnel costs and further information
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

26,359

24,374

Other personnel costs

1,587

1,525

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans

1,165

1,110

217

127

29,328

27,136

Salaries & wages

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (Note 16)
Total personnel costs

Maritime NZ has reclassified Authority Members’ fees from Other Expenses in 2018 (refer Note 6) to Personnel Costs
in 2019. This results in a restatement of prior year comparatives for Personnel Costs – salaries & wages of $121,000.
Maritime NZ has provided more detailed disclosure of Personnel costs in 2019 to separately classify remuneration
(salaries & wages) from other personnel costs (staff training, recruitment, ACC). The 2018 prior year comparatives
have also been reclassified accordingly.
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Employee remuneration
Total remuneration paid or payable that is or exceeds $100,000 is set out below.
ACTUAL
2019

ACTUAL
2018

100,000–109,999

18

26

110,000–119,999

29

27

120,000–129,999

24

19

130,000–139,999

13

8

140,000–149,999

14

12

150,000–159,999

2

8

160,000–169,999

7

3

170,000–179,999

6

3

180,000–189,999

3

2

190,000–199,999

1

2

200,000–209,999

2

1

210,000–219,999

2

–

230,000–239,999

1

3

240,000–249,999

2

2

250,000–259,999

1

–

260,000–269,999

1

–

330,000–339,999

–

1

340,000–349,999

1

–

Total employees

127

117

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE $

During the year ended 30 June 2019, no employee received compensation and other benefits in relation to cessation
(2018: Nil). The above figures are based on an individual’s full package including all allowances and benefits.
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Authority member remuneration
The total value of remuneration paid or payable to Authority members during the year was as follows:
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Jo Brosnahan (current Chair, appointed July 2018, Chair December 2018)

30

–

Belinda Vernon (Deputy Chair, Chair of Audit and Risk Committee)

30

24

Janice Fredric (retired April 2019)

17

20

Kylie Boyd

20

19

Roy Weaver (appointed February 2019)

6

–

Denis O’Rourke (appointed May 2019)

3

–

Blair O’Keeffe (previous Chair, retired August 2018)

4

39

Peter Cowper (previous Deputy Chair, retired June 2018)

–

19

110

121

Total Authority member remuneration

There have been no payments made to committee members appointed by the Authority, who were not Authority
members, during the financial year.
Maritime NZ has provided a deed of indemnity to directors for certain activities undertaken in the performance of
Maritime NZ’s functions.
Maritime NZ has put into effect directors’ and officers’ liability and professional indemnity insurance cover during
the financial year in respect of the liability or costs of Authority members and employees.
No Authority members received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2018: $nil).

NOTE 4: CAPITAL CHARGE
Accounting Policy
The capital charge is expensed in the financial year to which the charge relates.

Further information on the capital charge
The capital charge paid to the Crown is calculated based on Maritime NZ’s taxpayer equity as at 30 June and
31 December each year. The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2019 was 6% (2018: 6%).
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NOTE 5: FINANCE COSTS
Accounting Policy
Borrowing costs are expensed in the financial year in which they are incurred.
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Interest on finance lease

71

72

Discount unwind on provisions (Note 17)

15

8

Total finance costs

86

80

NOTE 6: OTHER EXPENSES
Accounting Policies
Operating leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset to the lessee. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term.

Breakdown of other expenses and further information
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

91

88

1,201

1,246

2

59

Donations

10

–

Allowance for credit losses on receivables (Note 8)

41

22

Maintenance

1,621

2,146

Education & awareness programme expenses

1,500

1,339

Operating expenses

1,862

1,727

Operating lease expenses

1,434

1,388

Professional & safety services

7,516

6,530

Search & rescue deployment costs

1,636

1,001

–

35

34

–

2,237

2,004

19,185

17,585

Fees to auditors – fees to Audit New Zealand for audit of financial statements
Administration
Bad debts written off

Losses on disposal of property, plant & equipment
Losses on derivative financial instruments
Travel
Total other expenses

Maritime NZ has reclassified Authority Members’ fees from Other Expenses in 2018 to Personnel Costs in 2019
(refer Note 3). This results in a restatement of prior year comparatives for Other Expenses of $121,000.
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Operating leases as lessee
The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total non-cancellable operating leases

ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

4,622

4,245

14,516

15,265

3,184

6,245

22,322

25,755

Maritime NZ leases accommodation across 12 properties that cover a total of 15 separate leases, with lease expiry
dates between 2019 and 2027. Maritime NZ has recognised a make-good provision of $159k (2018: $144k) in
respect of these leases (refer Note 17).
Maritime NZ also has an operating lease in respect of the national maritime distress and safety communications
network which amounts to $17.616m (2018: $20.550m) with a lease expiry date in 2025.
There are no restrictions placed on Maritime NZ by any of its leasing arrangements.

NOTE 7: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Accounting Policy
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, and other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Cash at bank and on hand
Term deposits with maturities of three months or less
Total cash & equivalents

ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

2,819

3,318

–

1,850

2,819

5,168

While cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2019 are subject to the expected credit loss requirements of PBE IFRS 9,
no loss allowance has been recognised because the estimated loss allowance for credit losses is trivial.
There are no assets recognised in a non-exchange transaction that are subject to restrictions.
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NOTE 8: RECEIVABLES
Accounting Policy
Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less an allowance for credit losses. Maritime NZ applies the
simplified expected credit loss model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for receivables.
In measuring expected credit losses, short-term receivables have been assessed on a collective basis as they
possess shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past due.
Short-term receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include the debtor being in liquidation.

Breakdown of receivables and further information

Receivables (gross)
Less: Allowance for credit losses
Receivables

ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

2,769

3,800

(236)

(195)

2,533

3,605

947

1,401

1,586

2,204

RECEIVABLES COMPRISE:
Receivables from the sale of goods and services (exchange transactions)
Receivables from maritime levies and Crown revenue (non-exchange transactions)

The expected credit loss for receivables at 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2018 are based on an analysis of Maritime NZ’s
losses over the last two previous periods, and review of specific debtors. There have been no changes during the
reporting in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions used in measuring the loss allowance.
The allowance for credit losses at 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2018 was determined as follows:
RECEIVABLES DAYS PAST DUE

30 JUNE 2019

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount ($000)
Lifetime expected credit loss ($000)

CURRENT

MORE
THAN 30
DAYS

MORE
THAN 60
DAYS

MORE
THAN 90
DAYS

0%

10%

10%

83%

2,335

80

91

263

2,769

–

8

9

219

236

TOTAL

TOTAL

RECEIVABLES DAYS PAST DUE

30 JUNE 2018

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount ($000)
Lifetime expected credit loss ($000)

106

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

CURRENT

MORE
THAN 30
DAYS

MORE
THAN
60 DAYS

MORE
THAN 90
DAYS

0%

10%

11%

71%

3,120

426

46

208

3,800

0

43

5

147

195

The movement in credit losses is as follows:

Opening allowance for credit losses at 1 July
Increase in loss allowance made during the year
Balance at 30 June

ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

195

173

41

22

236

195

NOTE 9: INVESTMENTS
Accounting Policy
Bank term deposits
Bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested. Interest is subsequently accrued and added to the
investment balance. A loss allowance for expected credit losses is recognised if the estimated loss allowance is not
trivial.

Breakdown of investments and further information
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Term deposit

8,500

3,367

Total investments

8,500

3,367

All Maritime NZ investments are term deposits with an initial maturity date of less than 12 months.
Maritime NZ considers there has not been a significant increase in credit risk for investments in term deposits because
the issuer of the investment continues to have low credit risk at balance date. Term deposits are held with banks
that have a minimum A- recognised credit rating, which indicates the bank has a strong capacity to meet its financial
commitments.
No loss allowance for expected credit losses has been recognised because the estimated 12-month expected loss
allowance for credit losses is trivial.
The carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities of 12 months or less approximate their fair value.

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

107

NOTE 10: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Accounting Policy
Derivative financial instruments
Financial instruments are used to manage exposure to foreign
exchange risk arising from Maritime NZ’s operational activities.
Maritime NZ does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. Maritime NZ has not adopted
hedge accounting.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured to their fair value at each balance date with the
resulting gain or loss recognised in surplus or deficit.
A forward foreign exchange derivative is classified as current
if it is due for settlement within 12 months of balance date.

Otherwise the full fair value of the forward foreign exchange
derivatives is classified as non-current.

Further information on derivative financial
instruments
The notional principal amounts of outstanding forward
exchange contracts were NZ$3.34m (2018: NZ$3.7m). The
foreign currency principal amounts were US$2.25m
(2018: US$2.5m).
The fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts have been
determined using a discounted cash flows valuation technique
based on quoted market prices (observable inputs). The inputs
into the valuation model are from independently sourced market
parameters such as currency rates. Most market parameters
are implied from forward foreign exchange contract prices.

NOTE 11: INVENTORIES
Accounting Policy
Inventories held by Maritime NZ are for the purpose of
consumption or in the provision of non-commercial goods or
services. Inventories that are not supplied on a commercial
basis are measured at cost (determined on the weighted
average cost method), adjusted for any loss of service potential.

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.
Any write-down from cost to net realisable value, or for the loss
service potential, is recognised in surplus or deficit in the year of
the write-down.

Breakdown of inventories and further information
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Spare parts

137

142

Total inventory

137

142

The write-down of inventories held for distribution amounted to
nil (2018: $nil) reflecting the current age and condition. There
have been no reversals of write-downs. No inventories are
pledged as security for liabilities; however, some inventories are
subject to retention of title clauses.
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NOTE 12: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Accounting Policy
Property, plant and equipment consists of eight asset classes
which are measured as follows:
•

Land, at fair value;

•

Lighthouses, at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses;

•

Navigational lights, buoys and day beacons, at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses;

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment
is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired
through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at fair
value as at the date of acquisition.
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised
only when it is probable that future economic benefits or service
potential associated with the item will flow to Maritime NZ and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

•

Plant and equipment, at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses;

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are expensed in the surplus or deficit as they are
incurred.

•

Motor vehicles, at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses;

Disposals

•

Furniture, fittings and office equipment, at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses;

•

Computer equipment, at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses; and

•

Leasehold improvements, at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Revaluations
Land has been revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure that
the carrying amount does not differ materially from fair value,
and is revalued at least every three years.
Maritime NZ accounts for revaluations of land on a class of
assets basis.
The results of revaluing are credited or debited to other
comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated
to an asset revaluation reserve in equity for that class of
asset. Where this would result in a debit balance in the asset
revaluation reserve, this balance is recognised in the surplus or
deficit. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that reverses
a previous decrease in value recognised in the surplus or
deficit will be recognised first in the surplus or deficit up to the
amount previously expensed, and then recognised in other
comprehensive revenue and expense.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future
economic benefits or service potential associated with the
item will flow to Maritime NZ and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains
and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus or
deficit. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in
revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are transferred to
accumulated surplus/(deficit) within equity.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property,
plant and equipment other than land, at rates that will write off
the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual
values over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated
depreciation rates of major classes of property, plant and
equipment have been estimated as follows:
USEFUL
LIFE
(YEARS)

DEPRECIATION
METHOD

Lighthouses

10–40

straight-line

Navigational lights, buoys &
day beacons

10–20

straight-line

5–10

straight-line

Motor vehicles

5

straight-line

Furniture, fittings & office
equipment

5

straight-line

Computer equipment

3

straight-line

2–9

straight-line

ASSET TYPE

Plant & equipment

Leasehold improvements

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired
period of the lease, or the estimated remaining useful lives of
the improvements, whichever is shorter.

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is
not depreciated.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Maritime NZ does not hold any cash-generating assets. Assets
are considered cash-generating where their primary objective is
to generate a commercial return.

Estimating useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
service amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value, less costs
to sell, and value in use.
Value in use is the present value of an asset’s remaining service
potential. It is determined using an approach based on either
a depreciated replacement cost approach, restoration cost
approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate
approach used to measure value in use depends on the nature
of the impairment and availability of information.
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service
amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying
amount is written down to the recoverable service amount. For
revalued assets, the impairment loss is recognised against the
revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that results
in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the balance is
recognised in the surplus or deficit.
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total
impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is
credited to other comprehensive revenue and expense and
increases the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset.
However, to the extent that an impairment loss for that class
of asset was previously recognised in the surplus or deficit, a
reversal of the impairment loss is also recognised in the surplus
or deficit.
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
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At each balance date, the useful lives and residual values of
its property, plant and equipment are reviewed. Assessing the
appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates of
property, plant and equipment requires a number of factors
to be considered such as the physical condition of the asset,
expected period of use of the asset by Maritime NZ, and
expected disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will affect
the depreciation expense recognised in the surplus or deficit,
and carrying amount of the asset in the Statement of Financial
Position. Maritime NZ minimises the risk of this estimation
uncertainty by:
•

physical inspections of assets

•

asset replacement programmes

•

review of second-hand market prices for similar assets

•

analysis of prior asset sales.

Maritime NZ has not made significant changes to past
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values.

Estimating the fair value of land
The most recent valuation of land was performed as a
desktop assessment by an independent registered valuer,
I. Clarkson of Beca Projects NZ Ltd. The valuation is effective
as at 30 June 2019.
Fair value of land, using market-based evidence, is based
on the highest and best use of the land, with reference to
comparable land values.
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Movements for each class of property, plant & equipment are as follows:

LIGHTHOUSES
$000

BUOYS, DAY
BEACONS,
NAVIGATIONAL
LIGHTS
$000

PLANT &
EQUIPMENT
$000

MOTOR
VEHICLES
$000

2,747

2,446

18,555

573

98

89

34

–

–

6

53

–

(218)

(102)

(3,269)

(335)

Balance at 30 June 2018

2,627

2,439

15,373

238

Balance at 1 July 2018

2,627

2,439

15,373

238

COST OR VALUATION
Balance at 1 July 2017
Additions
Transfer from WIP
Disposals

Additions

39

–

–

–

Revaluations

–

–

–

–

Transfer from WIP

–

71

–

–

(81)

(72)

–

(153)

2,585

2,438

15,373

85

1,351

2,046

9,632

572

Depreciation expense

110

60

727

1

Elimination on disposal

(218)

(70)

(3,249)

(335)

Balance at 30 June 2018

1,243

2,036

7,110

238

Balance at 1 July 2018

1,243

2,036

7,110

238

Depreciation expense

113

63

678

–

Elimination on disposal

(81)

(72)

–

(153)

Balance at 30 June 2019

1,275

2,027

7,788

85

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2018

1,384

403

8,263

–

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2019

1,310

411

7,585

–

Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2019

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 July 2017

Restrictions
There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ’s property, plant and equipment, and no property, plant and
equipment pledged as security for liabilities.

Finance leases
The net carrying amount of plant and equipment held under finance leases is $1.70m (2018: $1.98m). Note 15
provides further information about Finance leases.

Capital commitments
There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment at the reporting date
(2018: Nil).
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FURNITURE,
FITTINGS
& OFFICE
EQUIPMENT
$000

COMPUTER
EQUIPMENT
$000

LEASEHOLD
IMPROVEMENT
$000

LAND
$000

WORK IN
PROGRESS
$000

TOTAL
$000

1,215

1,843

2,219

676

59

30,333

100

146

–

–

71

538

–

–

–

–

(59)

–

(230)

(136)

(18)

–

–

(4,308)

1,085

1,853

2,201

676

71

26,563

1,085

1,853

2,201

676

71

26,563

99

94

23

–

273

528

–

–

–

615

–

615

–

–

–

–

(71)

–

(89)

(1)

(1,218)

–

–

(1,614)

1,095

1,946

1,006

1,291

273

26,092

1,098

1,245

1,574

–

–

17,518

86

400

94

–

–

1,478

(230)

(119)

(18)

–

–

(4,239)

954

1,526

1,650

–

–

14,757

954

1,526

1,650

–

–

14,757

52

242

94

–

–

1,242

(87)

(1)

(1,218)

–

–

(1,612)

919

1,767

526

–

–

14,387

131

327

551

676

71

11,806

176

179

480

1,291

273

11,705
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NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Accounting Policy

Impairment of intangible assets

Software acquisition and development

Refer to the policy for impairment of property, plant and
equipment in Note 12. The same approach applies to the
impairment of intangible assets.

Computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
Costs that are directly associated with the development of
software for internal use are recognised as an intangible asset.
Direct costs include software development, employee costs,
and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
Other software-related costs are recognised as follows:
•

staff training costs are expensed when incurred

•

costs associated with maintaining computer software are
expensed when incurred

•

costs associated with the development and maintenance of
Maritime NZ’s website are expensed when incurred.

Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and
ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. The amortisation
charge for each period is expensed in the surplus or deficit.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major
classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
USEFUL LIFE
(YEARS)

AMORTISATION
METHOD

Acquired

3–5

straight-line

Developed

3–8

straight-line

ASSET TYPE
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Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions
Estimating useful lives of software costs
Maritime NZ’s internally generated software largely comprises
customisations to a regulatory systems enterprise database as
part of Maritime NZ’s regulatory functions. Internally generated
software has a finite life, which requires Maritime NZ to estimate
the useful life of the software assets.
In assessing the useful lives of software assets, a number of
factors are considered, including the:
•

period of time the software is intended to be in use;

•

effect of technological change on systems and platforms;
and

•

expected timeframe for the development of replacement
systems and platforms.

An incorrect estimate of the useful lives of software assets will
affect the amortisation expense recognised in the surplus or
deficit, and the carrying amount of the software assets in the
Statement of financial position.
Maritime NZ has estimated a useful life of 8 years for its
regulatory platform based on the period of use estimated in
its 2012 business case. This useful life is still considered to be
reasonable based on the current performance and use of the
software. There are currently no indicators the period of use of
the software will be materially different.

Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:
ACQUIRED
SOFTWARE
$000

INTERNALLY
GENERATED
SOFTWARE
$000

WORK IN
PROGRESS
$000

TOTAL
$000

2,402

6,853

765

10,020

Additions

89

810

456

1,355

Transfer from WIP

23

742

(765)

–

(21)

(201)

–

(222)

Balance at 30 June 2018

2,493

8,204

456

11,153

Balance at 1 July 2018

2,493

8,204

456

11,153

79

626

633

1,338

–

456

(456)

–

(680)

(145)

–

(825)

1,892

9,147

633

11,666

2,120

3,323

–

5,443

Amortisation expense

213

788

–

1,001

Elimination on disposal

(21)

(201)

–

(222)

Balance at 30 June 2018

2,312

3,910

–

6,222

Balance at 1 July 2018

2,312

3,910

–

6,222

–

973

–

973

(680)

(145)

–

(825)

1,632

4,738

–

6,370

At 30 June 2018

181

4,294

456

4,931

At 30 June 2019

260

4,403

633

5,296

Balance at 1 July 2017

Disposals

Additions
Transfer from WIP
Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2019

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT
Balance at 1 July 2017

Amortisation expense
Elimination on disposal
Balance at 30 June 2019

CARRYING AMOUNTS

Restrictions
There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ’s intangible assets, and no intangible assets pledged as security
for liabilities.

Capital commitments
The amount of contractual capital commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets (internally generated software)
at the reporting date is $865k (2018: Nil).
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NOTE 14: PAYABLES
Accounting Policy
Short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable.
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

782

550

Accrued expenses

2,257

1,729

Total payables under exchange transactions

3,039

2,279

Taxes payable (GST, FBT & rates)

192

244

Other

454

480

Total payables under non-exchange transactions

646

724

3,685

3,003

PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
Creditors

PAYABLES UNDER NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Total Payables

NOTE 15: BORROWINGS
Accounting Policy
Finance leases
A finance lease transfers to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset,
whether or not title is eventually transferred. At the start of the lease term, Maritime NZ recognises finance leases
as assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item or the
present value of the minimum lease payment. The finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful life. If there is no reasonable certainty whether
Maritime NZ will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and its useful life.
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Finance lease

291

284

Total current portion

291

284

Finance lease

1,500

1,791

Total non-current portion

1,500

1,791

Total Borrowings

1,791

2,075

CURRENT PORTION

NON-CURRENT PORTION
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Security
Finance lease liabilities are effectively secured, as the right to the leased asset reverts to the lessor in the event of
default.

Fair value
The fair value of finance leases is $1.8m (2018: $2.1m). Fair value has been determined using contractual cash flows
discounted using a rate based on market borrowing rates at balance date.

Analysis of finance lease
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

362

356

1,485

1,474

373

747

2,220

2,577

(429)

(502)

1,791

2,075

291

284

1,198

1,188

302

603

1,791

2,075

MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total minimum lease payments
Future finance charges
Present value of minimum lease payments

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total present value of minimum lease payments

Finance leases as lessee
Maritime NZ entered into a finance lease of equipment used for the national maritime distress and safety radio service
for 11 years from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2025 with Kordia Limited. The net carrying amount of the equipment held
under finance leases is shown in Note 12.
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NOTE 16: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
Accounting Policy
Short-term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the year in which the employee
provides the related service are measured based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include
salaries and wages accrued up to balance date and annual leave earned but not yet taken at balance date.
A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses where there is a contractual obligation or where there is past
practice that has created a constructive obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.
Accrued salaries and wages and annual leave are classified as current liabilities.

Long-term employee entitlements
Maritime NZ does not have long-term employee entitlements.

Breakdown of employee entitlements

Annual leave
Accrued salary & wages
Total employee entitlements

ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

1,397

1,182

815

768

2,212

1,950

NOTE 17: PROVISIONS
Accounting Policy
Provisions
Maritime NZ recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when:
•

there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,

•

it is probable that an outflow of future economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation,
and

•

a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation, using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time, value of money, and the risks specific to
the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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Breakdown of provisions and further information
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Lease make-good

23

15

Total current provisions

23

15

Lease make-good

136

129

Total non-current provisions

136

129

Total provisions

159

144

CURRENT PORTION

NON-CURRENT PORTION

Lease make-good provision
In respect of its leased premises, Maritime NZ is required at the expiry of the lease term to make good any
damage caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed
by Maritime NZ. In many cases, Maritime NZ has the option to renew these leases, which impacts on the timing
of expected cash outflows to make good the premises. Information about Maritime NZ’s leasing arrangements is
disclosed in Note 6.

Movements for each class of provision are as follows:
LEASE MAKE-GOOD

ACTUAL
$000

Balance at 1 July 2017

136

Additional provisions made

–

Discount unwind provision (Note 5)

8

Balance at 30 June 2018

144

Balance at 1 July 2018

144

Additional provisions made

–

Discount unwind provision (Note 5)

15

Balance at 30 June 2019

159
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NOTE 18: CONTINGENCIES
Accounting Policy
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets are
disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised.

Contingent liabilities
Maritime NZ has no contingent liabilities (2018: $nil).

Contingent assets
Maritime NZ has no contingent assets (2018: $nil).

NOTE 19: EQUITY
Accounting Policy
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified
into the following components:
•

Contributed capital;

•

Accumulated surplus/(deficit); and

•

Property revaluation reserves.

Property revaluation reserves
These reserves relate to the revaluation of property to fair value.
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

25,138

24,794

–

344

25,138

25,138

(3,350)

(4,025)

718

675

(2,632)

(3,350)

Balance at 1 July

676

676

Revaluations

615

–

1,291

676

1,291

676

23,797

22,464

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Balance at 30 June

PROPERTY REVALUATION RESERVES

Balance at 30 June

PROPERTY REVALUATION RESERVES CONSIST OF:
Land
Total equity 30 June
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Capital management
Maritime NZ’s capital is its equity, which comprises contributed capital, accumulated funds and revaluation reserves.
Equity is represented by net assets. Maritime NZ is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions
of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing of
guarantees and indemnities, and the use of derivatives.
Maritime NZ has complied with the financial management requirements of the Crown Entities Act 204 during the year.
Maritime NZ manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities,
investments, and general financial dealings to ensure that Maritime NZ effectively achieves its objectives and purpose,
while remaining a going concern.

NOTE 20: RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related-party transactions
Maritime NZ is controlled by the Crown.
Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties
that are:
•

within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship; and

•

on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect Maritime NZ would
have adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances.

Further, transactions with other government agencies (for example, government departments and Crown entities) are
not disclosed as related party transactions when they are on normal terms and conditions consistent with the normal
operating arrangements between government agencies.
The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above:
TRANSACTION VALUE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

TRANSACTION

Maritime NZ – provision of salaries and administrative support to
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

REF

1

BALANCE
OUTSTANDING
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

690

690

15

11

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and in doing so incurs costs
directly. These costs are recovered from the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund on a cost-recovery basis.
2. No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties
(2018: $nil).
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The aggregate values of transactions and outstanding balances involving key management personnel and entities over
which they have control or significant influence were as follows:

Key management personnel compensation
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

110

121

5

5

2,208

1,775

9

8

2,318

1,896

14

13

AUTHORITY MEMBERS
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members

LEADERSHIP TEAM
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Total key management personnel remuneration
Total full-time equivalent personnel

Key management personnel include all Authority members, the chief executive, and the remaining eight members of
the executive team (2018: chief executive plus seven executive team members). The full-time equivalent figure is the
number of appointed Authority members at balance date.

NOTE 21: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instrument categories
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Cash & cash equivalents (Note 7)

2,819

5,168

Receivables (Note 8)

2,533

3,605

Investments – term deposits (Note 9)

8,500

3,367

13,852

12,140

Payables (excluding tax) (Note 14)

3,493

2,759

Finance leases (Note 15)

1,791

2,075

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

5,284

4,834

26

56

5

–

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST (2018: LOANS & RECEIVABLES)

Total financial assets measured at amortised cost

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

FINANCIAL ASSET FAIR VALUE THROUGH SURPLUS /DEFICIT
Derivative financial instruments (Note 10)

FINANCIAL LIABILITY FAIR VALUE THROUGH SURPLUS /DEFICIT
Derivative financial instruments (Note 10)
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Financial instrument risks

Credit risk

Maritime NZ’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. Maritime NZ has a series of policies to manage these risks
and seeks to minimise exposure from financial instruments.
These policies do not allow any transactions to be entered into
that are speculative in nature.

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its
obligation to Maritime NZ, causing it to incur a loss.

Market risk
Fair-value interest rate risk
Fair-value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.
Maritime NZ’s exposure to fair-value interest rate risk is limited
to its bank deposits, which are held at fixed rates of interest.
Maritime NZ does not actively manage its exposure to fair value
interest rate risk.

Cash-flow interest rate risk
Cash-flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates
expose Maritime NZ to cash-flow interest rate risk. Maritime
NZ’s investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity
dates to limit exposure to short-term interest rate movements.
Maritime NZ currently has no variable interest rate investments.

Sensitivity analysis
At 30 June 2019, if interest rates on transaction accounts
and term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with all
other variables held constant, the surplus for the year would
have been $71k (2018: $43k) higher/lower. This movement is
attributable to increased or decreased interest received on
term deposits.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
foreign exchange rates. Maritime NZ purchases goods and
services overseas, which requires it to enter into transactions
denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities,
exposure to currency risk arises. Maritime NZ does not operate
any overseas-currency bank accounts.
It is Maritime NZ’s policy to manage foreign currency risks
arising from contractual commitments and liabilities by entering
into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreign
currency risk exposure where the contract value exceeds a
pre-defined NZ dollar amount.

Maritime NZ is exposed to credit risk from cash and term
deposits with banks, receivables, and derivative financial
instrument assets. For each of these, the maximum credit
exposure is best represented by the carrying amount in the
Statement of financial position.

Risk management
For receivables, Maritime NZ monitors and manages
receivables based on their ageing and adjusts the expected
credit loss allowance accordingly. Where there are significant
concentrations of credit risk, Maritime NZ maintains a
relationship with the counter-party and puts in place appropriate
payment arrangements that are regularly monitored.
Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, Maritime
NZ invests surplus cash with registered banks with a Standard
& Poor’s credit rating of at least A- for investments. Maritime
NZ limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial
institution to no more than 50% of total investments held.
Maritime NZ enters into derivative financial instruments only
with either the registered banks identified above, or the
New Zealand Government’s debt management office.
Maritime NZ’s investments in term deposits are considered
to be low-risk investments. The credit ratings of banks are
monitored for credit deterioration.
No collateral is held as security against these financial
instruments, including those instruments that are overdue or
impaired.

Impairment
Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and term deposit
investments are subject to the expected credit loss model.
The notes for these items provide relevant information on
impairment.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Maritime NZ will encounter difficulty
raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due.
Prudent liquidity-risk management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and the ability to close out market positions. Maritime NZ
manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash-flow requirements.
Maritime NZ maintains a credit card facility limit with Westpac.
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Contractual maturity analysis of derivative financial instruments
The table below analyses derivative financial instrument liabilities that are settled net and all gross settled derivatives
into their relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at balance date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed are the undiscounted contractual cash flows.
LIABILITY
CARRYING
AMOUNT

ASSET
CARRYING
AMOUNT
$000

CONTRACTUAL
CASH FLOWS
$000

LESS
THAN
6 MONTHS
$000

6–12
MONTHS
$000

OVER
12 MONTHS
$000

5

26

– cash outflows

3,340

179

184

2,977

– cash inflows

3,363

194

197

2,972

– cash outflows

3,679

168

172

3,340

– cash inflows

3,711

184

186

3,341

2019

Forward foreign exchange contracts

2018

Forward foreign exchange contracts

–

56

NOTE 22: ADOPTION OF PBE IFRS 9 FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
Maritime NZ has adopted PBE IFRS 9 Financial Instruments for the year ended
30 June 2019. There is no impact on the recognition and measurement in Maritime NZ’s financial statements.
However, there are a number of changes to the disclosures and presentation of financial instruments referenced in
these financial statements.
The main changes to the disclosures and presentation include:
•

amending the disclosure around impairment of short-term receivables (Note 8)

•

amending the disclosure around term deposits (Note 9)

On the date of initial application of PBE IFRS 9, being 1 July 2018, the classification of financial instruments under
PBE IPSAS 29 and PBE IFRS 9 is as follows:
MEASUREMENT
CATEGORY
CLOSING
BALANCE
30 JUNE
2018 (PBE
IPSAS 29)

ADOPTION
OF PBE IFRS 9
ADJUSTMENT

OPENING
BALANCE
1 JULY
2018

Amortised
cost

5,168

–

5,168

Loans and
receivables

Amortised
cost

3,605

–

3,605

Loans and
receivables

Amortised
cost

3,367

–

3,367

FVTSD

FVTSD

56

–

56

12,196

–

12,196

ORIGINAL
PBE
IPSAS 29
CATEGORY

NEW PBE
IFRS 9
CATEGORY

Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and
receivables

Receivables
Investment – term deposits
Derivative financial instruments
Total financial assets

FVTSD = Fair value through Surplus or Deficit
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The measurement categories and carrying amounts for financial
liabilities have not changed between the closing 30 June 2018
and opening 1 July 2018 dates as a result of the transition to
PBE IFRS 9.

•

Other expenses: Other expenses were higher than budget
as a result of carry-forwards from the 2017/18 financial
year in respect of health and safety at work and recreational
boating programme activities. In addition, variable funding in
respect of search and rescue deployment costs was higher
than budget.

•

Gain on property revaluations: Scheduled periodic
revaluation of land assets was completed in June 2019 with
the gain on revaluation having no corresponding budget due
to the uncertainty of revaluation outcomes.

NOTE 23: EVENTS AFTER
THE BALANCE DATE
There were no significant events after the balance date.

Statement of financial position
Asset variances:

NOTE 24: EXPLANATION OF
MAJOR VARIANCES
AGAINST BUDGET
Explanations for significant variations from Maritime NZ’s
budgeted figures in the Statement of Performance Expectations
2018/19 are as follows:

•

Investments: Investment balances are higher than budget
due to surplus accruing over the last three years and a
higher payables balance at 30 June 2019 than planned.

•

Property, plant and equipment: A revaluation of land
was completed as at 30 June 2019 which resulted in an
unbugeted asset revaluation increase of $615k.

•

Intangibles: Planned mobility and Windows 10 upgrade
software developments were deferred to 2019/20 to enable
critical systems development to occur in support of the
funding review implementation.

Statement of comprehensive revenue and
expense
Revenue variances:
•

•

•

Crown funding: Crown funding received exceeded budget
due to carry-forwards from the 2017/18 financial year in
respect of health and safety at work and recreational boating
programme activities. In addition, variable funding in respect
of search and rescue deployment costs was higher than
budget to cover associated costs.
Maritime levy: Levy revenue from foreign vessels was
higher than budget due to a higher number of port visits
(approximately 2% difference to budget) than planned.
Other revenue: Revenue from seafarer certification,
operator audits and secondment fees were higher than
budget as a result of differences in volume of activity
compared to budget.

Expenditure variances:
•

•

Personnel costs: Personnel costs were higher than
budget as a result of higher revenue-generating activity
enabling acceleration of the execution of several key
strategic projects including the 2019 funding review and a
review of the 40 Series rules.
Depreciation and amortisation: The transfer into
production of some planned software upgrades and
developments occurred later in the financial year and
in some cases was deferred to 2019/20 resulting in
amortisation costs being less than budget.

Liability variances:
Payables: Payables at 30 June were higher than budget, due
to the timing of invoices being received and due for payment at
the end of June.

Statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating
•

Crown funding: Actual Crown funding was higher than
budget mainly from in-principle carry forwards from 2017/18.
There was also additional funding for Variable Search &
Rescue to cover increased costs.

•

Maritime levies: Revenue was higher than budget due to
marginally higher volumes (2%) of visits to New Zealand by
international commercial ships.

•

Payments to employees: Payments to employees was
higher than budget due to accelerating resourcing for key
strategic projects.

Cash flows from investing
•

Acquisitions and receipts from investments: There
was a net increase in investments at 30 June 2019 due to
a change in the mix of cash on hand and term deposits
greater than 90 days compared to prior year.
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APPENDIX 1:

Financial Statements
for the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund
Chair’s report
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund comprises levies collected from all contributing commercial ships and offshore oil installations
and pipelines. The levy is risk based, to reflect the level of risk attributable to different categories of ships and types of oil.
The Oil Pollution Advisory Committee endorses an annual budget for consideration by the Authority, which in turn recommends a
capital and operating budget for approval by the Minister of Transport.
The accumulated monies in the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the ongoing annual contributions from levies are applied, in
accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and maintenance of an effective marine oil pollution response
system for New Zealand.

Jo Brosnahan
Chair, Maritime NZ
Dated: 24 October 2019
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Statement of responsibility for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
We are responsible for the preparation of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements and statement of performance,
and for the judgements made in them.
We are responsible for the end of year performance information provided by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund which is provided in
Output Class 3 on pages 81 to 82 of the Annual Report.
We have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as
to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.
In our opinion, these financial statements and end of year performance information fairly reflect the financial position and operations
of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund for the year ended 30 June 2019.
Signed for and on behalf of the Authority

Jo Brosnahan
Chair, Maritime NZ
Dated: 24 October 2019
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Belinda Vernon
Chair, Audit and Risk Committee, Maritime NZ
Dated: 24 October 2019

Independent auditor’s report
To the readers of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund). The Auditor-General has appointed me,
Clint Ramoo, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements of the Fund
on his behalf.

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Fund on pages 132 to 150, that comprise the statement of financial position as at
30 June 2019, the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the financial statements of the Fund on pages 132 to 150:
•

•

present fairly, in all material respects:
•

its financial position as at 30 June 2019; and

•

its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Reporting
Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime.

Our audit was completed on 24 October 2019. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and our responsibilities relating
to the financial statements, we comment on other information, and we explain our independence.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the Professional and
Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of
our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements
The Board is responsible on behalf of the Fund for preparing financial statements that are fairly presented and comply with generally
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. The Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to
enable it to prepare financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible on behalf of the Fund for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as
a going concern. The Board is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to merge or to terminate the activities of the Fund, or there is no realistic
alternative but to do so.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, as a whole, are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with the
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or
omissions of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers, taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
For the budget information reported in the financial statements, our procedures were limited to checking that the information agreed
to the Fund’s statement of performance expectations.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:
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•

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

•

We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Board.

•

We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the Board and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included on pages 1 to 32,
66 to 67, 87 to 88, 126 to 128 and 151 to 161, but does not include the financial statements, and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of audit opinion or
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so, we consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the independence requirements of the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards,
which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised): Code of Ethics for Assurance
Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no relationship with, or interests, in the Fund.

Clint Ramoo
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund Statement of comprehensive
revenue and expense
for the year ended 30 June 2019
ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

7,774

7,690

7,499

67

70

44

120

75

97

7,961

7,835

7,640

1,311

1,328

1,182

569

587

466

4

–

3

4,039

4,307

4,086

Total expenses

5,923

6,222

5,737

Surplus/(deficit)

2,038

1,613

1,903

Total comprehensive revenue & expense

2,038

1,613

1,903

NOTES

REVENUE
Oil pollution levy
Other revenue
Interest revenue
Total revenue

EXPENSES
Personnel costs
Depreciation & amortisation costs

2
7,8

Finance costs
Other expenses

3

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2019

NOTES

ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

12,488

12,188

10,585

2,038

1,613

1,903

14,526

13,801

12,488

Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive revenue & expense
Balance at 30 June

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 18.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2019

NOTES

ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash & cash equivalents

4

1,436

763

2,583

Receivables

5

544

600

530

3,650

2,500

1,200

69

30

100

Investments
Prepayments
Inventories

6

Total current assets

768

1,182

891

6,467

5,075

5,304

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant & equipment

7

9,368

9,354

8,297

Intangible assets

8

–

–

–

9,368

9,354

8,297

15,835

14,429

13,601

Total non-current assets
Total assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables

9

1,133

493

956

Employee entitlements

10

110

75

95

Provisions

11

10

–

6

1,253

568

1,057

56

60

56

56

60

56

1,309

628

1,113

14,526

13,801

12,488

Total equity

14,526

13,801

12,488

Total equity & liabilities

15,835

14,429

13,601

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions

11

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

EQUITY
General funds

12

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 18.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2019
ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Receipts from oil pollution levy

7,771

7,690

7,811

Receipts from other third party

55

70

37

122

75

96

Payments to employees

(1,297)

(1,303)

(1,166)

Payments to suppliers

(4,020)

(4,577)

(4,104)

(2)

–

12

2,629

1,955

2,686

5,556

–

3,799

Purchase of property, plant & equipment

(1,326)

(1,632)

(2,818)

Acquisition of investments

(8,006)

–

(2,400)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(3,776)

(1,632)

(1,419)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents

(1,147)

323

1,267

2,583

440

1,316

1,436

763

2,583

NOTES

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Goods & services tax (net)
Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from maturity of investments

Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the year

4

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 18.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Reporting entity
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund) has been
established by Maritime NZ pursuant to section 330 of
the Maritime Transport Act 1994. The Fund is domiciled in
New Zealand and its ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown.

These financial statements comply with the PBE Standards
Reduced Disclosure Regime.

Presentation currency and rounding
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars
($000).

Standard early adopted

The Fund’s primary objective is to meet the ongoing costs of
maintaining New Zealand’s oil spill response capability, including
contingency plans, equipment, and training and response costs
(where they are unable to be recovered from the spiller). Levies
imposed on shipping and oil sites are paid into the Fund to
finance these costs.

In line with the Financial Statements of the Government,
Maritime NZ has elected to early adopt PBE IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. PBE IFRS 9 replaces PBE IPSAS 29 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Information about
the adoption of PBE IFRS 9 is provided in Note 16.

Accordingly, the Authority has designated the Fund as a public
benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of Financial Reporting
Standards.

Summary of significant accounting
policies

While the financial statements of the Fund form part of the
financial reports of the Authority, they are presented separately
in order to clearly identify the revenue and expenditure
associated with the Authority’s oil pollution response activities.
The financial statements for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
are for the year ended 30 June 2019 and were approved by the
Authority on 24 October 2019.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis and the accounting policies have been applied
consistently throughout the year unless otherwise noted.

Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to
which they relate. Significant accounting policies that do not
relate to a specific note are outlined below.

Revenue
Funding from levies
Oil pollution levies charged on foreign vessels are based on
information from the New Zealand Customs Service regarding
port visits. Oil pollution levies charged on domestic commercial
vessels are based on vessels registered with Maritime NZ and
are recognised in the period to which the levy relates.

Provision of services

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Maritime Transport Act
1994 and comply with generally accepted accounting practice
in New Zealand (NZ GAAP).
The Fund is a Tier 2 public benefit entity and the financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with PBE
standards. The fund is eligible to report as a Tier 2 reporting
entity on the basis that it does not have public accountability
and is not large due to its annual expenses being less than
$30 million.
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Revenue is derived from the the provision of services to third
parties is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion at
balance date.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised by accruing on a time proportion
basis the interest due for the investment.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the financial year in which they
are incurred.

Investments

Budget figures

Bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount
invested. Interest is subsequently accrued and added to the
investment balance. A loss allowance for expected credit losses
is recognised if the estimated loss allowance is not trivial.

The budget figures are derived from the Statement of
Performance Expectations, as approved by the Authority at
the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have
been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using accounting
policies that are consistent with those adopted by the Authority
in preparing these financial statements.

Foreign currency transactions

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward
exchange contracts are held) are translated into New Zealand
dollars (the functional currency) using the spot exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

In preparing these financial statements, the Fund has made
estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These
estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Bank term deposits

Goods and services tax (GST)
Items in the financial statements are presented exclusive of
GST, except for receivables and payables, which are presented
on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as
an input tax, it is recognised as part of the related asset or
expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, Inland
Revenue is included as part of receivables or payables in the
Statement of financial position.
The net GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, including
the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is classified
as an operating cash flow in the Statement of cash flows.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are:
•

useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment (refer Note 7); and

•

potential inventory obsolescence or loss of service potential
(refer Note 6).

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies
No critical judgements have been applied in the preparation of
these financial statements.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive
of GST.

Income tax
The Fund is a public authority and consequently is exempt from
the payment of income tax. Accordingly, no provision has been
made for income tax.
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NOTE 2: PERSONNEL COSTS
Accounting Policy
Salaries and wages
Salaries and wages are recognised as an expense as employees provide services.

Superannuation schemes – defined contribution schemes
Employer contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government Superannuation Fund, and Tower LifeSaver are accounted for
as defined contribution superannuation schemes and are expensed in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Breakdown of personnel costs and further information
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

1,198

1,082

Other personnel costs

49

32

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans

51

56

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (Note 13)

13

12

1,311

1,182

Salaries & wages

Total personnel costs

The Fund has provided more detailed disclosure of Personnel costs in 2019 to separately classify remuneration
(salaries & wages) from other personnel costs (staff training, recruitment, ACC). The 2018 prior year comparatives
have also been reclassified accordingly.

Employee remuneration
Total remuneration paid or payable that is or exceeds $100,000 is set out below.
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

100,000–109,999

1

1

110,000–119,999

1

1

120,000–129,999

1

1

130,000–139,999

2

2

Total employees

5

5

During the year ended 30 June 2019 no employees received compensation and other benefits in relation to cessation
(2018: $nil). No Authority members received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2018: $nil). The
above figures are based on an individual’s full package including all allowances and benefits.

138

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

NOTE 3: OTHER EXPENSES
Accounting Policy
Operating leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset to the lessee. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term.

Breakdown of other expenses and further information
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

12

12

Administration

268

180

Costs covered by Maritime NZ

690

690

Consultancy

63

131

Maintenance

261

216

42

43

Operating expenses

196

397

Operating lease expenses

155

155

Professional & safety services

932

599

Regional council costs

748

701

Travel

373

334

Training & exercises

254

596

45

32

4,039

4,086

ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Not later than 1 year

168

168

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

381

546

–

–

549

714

Fees to auditors – fees to Audit New Zealand for audit of the financial statements

Industry liaison

Losses on disposal of property, plant & equipment
Total other expenses

Operating leases as lessee
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Later than 5 years
Total non-cancellable operating leases

The Fund leases one property for operating purposes. The lease expires in September 2022. The Fund does not have
the option to purchase the premises at the end of the lease term. The Fund has recognised a make-good provision of
$66k (2018: $62k) in respect of this lease (Note 11).
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NOTE 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Accounting Policy
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, and other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Cash at bank and on hand

936

1,183

Term deposits with maturities of three months or less

500

1,400

1,436

2,583

Total cash & equivalents

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair value.
There are no assets recognised in a non-exchange transaction that are subject to restrictions.

NOTE 5: RECEIVABLES
Accounting Policy
Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less an allowance for credit losses. The Fund applies the
simplified expected credit loss model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for receivables.
In measuring expected credit losses, short-term receivables have been assessed on a collective basis as they
possess shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past due.
Short-term receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include the debtor being in liquidation.

Receivables (gross)
Less: Allowance for credit losses
Receivables

ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

544

530

–

–

544

530

18

7

526

523

RECEIVABLES COMPRISE:
Receivables from the sale of goods and services (exchange transactions)
Receivables from oil pollution levies (non-exchange transactions)

There have been no changes during the reporting period in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions used
in measuring the loss allowance.
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NOTE 6: INVENTORIES
Accounting Policy
Inventories are held for distribution or for use in the provision
of goods and services. The inventories are held for noncommercial use and are measured at cost (determined on the
weighted average cost method), adjusted for any loss of service
potential.
Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.

Any write-down from cost to net realisable value, or the loss of
service potential is recognised in surplus or deficit in the year of
write-down.
The impairment approach for oil spill dispersant is based on
a series of annual impairment assessments that reflect the
likely pattern of deterioration indicated by historic lab analysis
and international experience. The pattern adopted is that no
impairment is recorded for the first 10 years of product life and
that an impairment loss of 10% per annum is recorded through
the second 10 years of the product life-cycle.

Oil spill response & dispersants

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

1,157

1,155

(389)

(264)

768

891

Less provision for impairment of service potential
Total inventory

There have been no reversals of write-downs. No inventories
are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some inventories
are subject to retention of title clauses.

NOTE 7: PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT
Accounting Policy

Disposals

Property, plant and equipment consists of six asset classes
which are all measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains and
losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus or deficit.

Additions

Depreciation

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future
economic benefits or service potential associated with the
item will flow to the Fund and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property,
plant and equipment, at rates that will write off the cost (or
valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over
their useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation
rates of major classes of property, plant and equipment have
been estimated as follows:

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is
not depreciated.
In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment
is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired
through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at fair
value as at the date of acquisition.
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised
only when it is probable that future economic benefits or service
potential associated with the item will flow to the Fund and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised as expenses in the surplus or deficit
as they are incurred.

USEFUL
LIFE
(YEARS)

DEPRECIATION
METHOD

5–10

straight-line

Motor vehicles

5

straight-line

Furniture, fittings & office
equipment

5

straight-line

Computer equipment

3

straight-line

2–9

straight-line

10–35

straight-line

ASSET TYPE

Plant & equipment

Leasehold improvements
Vessels
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Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired
period of the lease, or the estimated remaining useful lives of
the improvements, whichever is shorter.

amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
service amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value, less costs
to sell, and value in use.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Value in use is the present value of an asset’s remaining service
potential. It is determined using an approach based on either
a depreciated replacement cost approach, restoration cost
approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate
approach used to measure value in use depends on the nature
of the impairment and availability of information.

The Fund does not hold any cash-generating assets. Assets are
considered cash-generating where their primary objective is to
generate a commercial return.
Property, plant and equipment, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service
amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying
amount is written down to the recoverable service amount. For
assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment
loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
PLANT &
EQUIPMENT
$000

VESSELS
$000

MOTOR VEHICLES
$000

11,822

491

304

–

–

–

1,287

–

–

(692)

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2018

12,417

491

304

Balance at 1 July 2018

12,417

491

304

77

–

–

2,548

–

–

(264)

(24)

–

14,778

467

304

7,084

284

231

Depreciation expense

397

37

24

Elimination on disposal

(659)

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2018

6,822

321

255

Balance at 1 July 2018

6,822

321

255

Depreciation expense

509

35

18

Elimination on disposal

(216)

(25)

–

7,115

331

273

At 30 June 2018

5,595

170

49

At 30 June 2019

7,663

136

31

COST OR VALUATION
Balance at 1 July 2017
Additions
Transfer from WIP
Disposals

Additions
Transfer from WIP
Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2019

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 July 2017

Balance at 30 June 2019

CARRYING AMOUNTS
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The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the
surplus or deficit.

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions
Estimating useful lives and residual values
of property, plant and equipment
At each balance date, the useful lives and residual values of the
Fund’s property, plant and equipment are reviewed. Assessing
the appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates
of property, plant and equipment requires a number of factors
to be considered such as the physical condition of the asset,
expected period of use of the asset by the Fund, and expected
disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset.

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will
affect the depreciation expense recognised in the surplus or
deficit, and carrying amount of the asset in the Statement of
financial position. The Fund minimises the risk of this estimation
uncertainty by:
•

physical inspections of assets

•

asset replacement programmes

•

review of second-hand market prices for similar assets

•

analysis of prior asset sales.

The Fund has not made significant changes to past
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values except
where individual assets have been impaired or written off during
the financial year due to observable changes in the asset itself.

FURNITURE,
FITTINGS & OFFICE
EQUIPMENT
$000

COMPUTER
EQUIPMENT
$000

LEASEHOLD
IMPROVEMENTS
$000

WORK IN
PROGRESS
$000

TOTAL
$000

78

53

57

1,301

14,106

–

3

–

2,463

2,466

–

6

–

(1,293)

–

–

(21)

–

–

(713)

78

41

57

2,471

15,859

78

41

57

2,471

15,859

–

5

27

1,578

1,687

–

–

–

(2,548)

–

–

–

–

–

(288)

78

46

84

1,501

17,258

78

44

55

–

7,776

–

8

–

–

466

–

(21)

–

–

(680)

78

31

55

–

7,562

78

31

55

–

7,562

–

7

–

–

569

–

–

–

–

(241)

78

38

55

–

7,890

–

10

2

2,471

8,297

–

8

29

1,501

9,368
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Restrictions

Amortisation

There are no restrictions over the title of the Fund’s property,
plant and equipment, and no property, plant and equipment
pledged as security for liabilities.

Capital commitments

The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and
ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. The amortisation
charge for each period is expensed in the surplus or deficit.

There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment at the reporting date (2018: Nil).

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major
classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
USEFUL LIFE
(YEARS)

AMORTISATION
METHOD

Acquired

3–5

straight-line

Developed

3–8

straight-line

ASSET TYPE

NOTE 8: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Accounting Policy
Software acquisition and development
Computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
Costs that are directly associated with the development of
software for internal use are recognised as an intangible asset.
Direct costs include software development, employee costs,
and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
Other software-related costs are recognised as follows:
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•

Staff training costs are expensed when incurred

•

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are
expensed when incurred

•

Costs associated with the development and maintenance of
the Fund’s website are expensed when incurred.
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Impairment of intangible assets
Refer to the policy for impairment of property, plant and
equipment in Note 10. The same approach applies to the
impairment of intangible assets.

Restrictions
There are no restrictions over the title of the Fund’s intangible
assets, and there are no intangible assets pledged as security
for liabilities.

Capital commitments
There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition of
intangible assets at the reporting date (2018: Nil).

Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:
ACQUIRED
SOFTWARE
$000

INTERNALLY
GENERATED
SOFTWARE
$000

TOTAL
$000

19

492

511

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2018

19

492

511

Balance at 1 July 2018

19

492

511

Additions

–

–

–

Disposals

–

–

–

19

492

511

19

492

511

Amortisation expense

–

–

–

Elimination on disposal

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2018

19

492

511

Balance at 1 July 2018

19

492

511

Amortisation expense

–

–

–

Elimination on disposal

–

–

–

19

492

511

At 30 June 2018

–

–

–

At 30 June 2019

–

–

–

COST OR VALUATION
Balance at 1 July 2017
Disposals

Balance at 30 June 2019

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 July 2017

Balance at 30 June 2019

CARRYING AMOUNTS

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

145

NOTE 9: PAYABLES
Accounting Policy
Short-term creditors and other payables are recorded at the amount payable.
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Creditors

325

153

Accrued expenses

808

741

1,133

894

Other

–

62

Total payables under non-exchange transactions

–

62

1,133

956

ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Annual leave

75

61

Accrued salary and wages

35

34

110

95

PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Total payables under exchange transactions

PAYABLES UNDER NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Total payables

NOTE 10: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
Accounting Policy
Short-term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the year in which the employee
provides the related service are measured based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include
salaries and wages accrued up to balance date and annual leave earned but not yet taken at balance date.

Total employee entitlements

NOTE 11: PROVISIONS
Accounting Policy
Provisions
A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when:
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•

there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,

•

it is probable that an outflow of future economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation,
and

•

a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation, using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time, value of money, and the risks specific to
the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, the Fund is required at the expiry of the lease term to make good any damage
caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed by the
Fund. In many cases, the Fund has the option to renew these leases, which impacts on the timing of expected cash
outflows to make good the premises. Information about the Fund’s leasing arrangements is disclosed in Note 3.

Movements for each class of provision are as follows:
ACTUAL
$000

LEASE MAKE-GOOD

Balance at 1 July 2017

59

Discount unwind provision

3

Balance at 30 June 2018

62

Balance at 1 July 2018

62

Discount unwind provision

4

Balance at 30 June 2019

66

NOTE 12: EQUITY
Accounting Policy
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified
into the following components:
•

Contributed capital;

•

Accumulated surplus/(deficit).
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

15,282

15,282

–

–

15,282

15,282

(2,794)

(4,697)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year

2,038

1,903

Balance at 30 June

(756)

(2,794)

14,526

12,488

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
Balance at 1 July as previously reported

Total equity 30 June
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NOTE 13: CONTINGENCIES
Contingent liabilities
The Fund has no contingent liabilities (2018: $nil).

Contingent assets
The Fund has no contingent assets (2018: $nil).

NOTE 14: RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related-party transactions
The Fund is ultimately controlled by the Crown.
Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are:
•

within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship; and

•

on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect the Fund would have
adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances.

Further, transactions with other government agencies (for example, government departments and Crown entities) are
not disclosed as related party transactions when they are on normal terms and conditions consistent with the normal
operating arrangements between government agencies.

Related party transactions required to be disclosed
The aggregate values of transactions and outstanding balances involving entities over which they have control or
significant influence were as follows:
TRANSACTION VALUE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

TRANSACTION

Maritime New Zealand – salaries & administration cost payable
by the Oil Pollution Fund

REF

1

BALANCE
OUTSTANDING
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

690

690

15

11

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. The costs relating to this administration
have been paid to Maritime NZ on a cost-recovery basis.

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties
(2018: $nil).
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NOTE 15: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:
ACTUAL
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

Payables (Note 9)

1,133

956

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

1,133

956

1,436

2,583

544

530

Investments – term deposits

3,650

1,200

Total financial assets at amortised cost

5,630

4,313

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST (2018: LOANS AND RECEIVABLES)
Cash & cash equivalents (Note 4)
Receivables (Note 5)

NOTE 16: ADOPTION OF PBE IFRS 9 FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
The Fund has adopted PBE IFRS 9 Financial Instruments for the year ended 30 June 2019. There is no impact on
the recognition and measurement of the Fund’s financial statements. However, there are a number of changes to the
disclosures and presentation of financial instruments referenced in these financial statements.
The main changes to the disclosures and presentation include:
•

amending the disclosure around impairment of short-term receivables (Note 5); and

•

amending the disclosure around term deposits (Note 1).

On the date of initial application of PBE IFRS 9, being 1 July 2018, the classification of financial instruments under
PBE IPSAS 29 and PBE IFRS 9 is as follows:
MEASUREMENT CATEGORY

CARRYING AMOUNT

ORIGINAL
PBE IPSAS 29
CATEGORY

NEW
PBE IFRS 9
CATEGORY

CLOSING
BALANCE
30 JUNE 2018
(PBE IPSAS 29)

ADOPTION
OF PBE IFRS 9
ADJUSTMENT

OPENING
BALANCE
1 JULY 2018

Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and
receivables

Amortised cost

2,583

–

2,583

Receivables

Loans and
receivables

Amortised cost

523

–

523

Term deposits

Loans and
receivables

Amortised cost

1,200

–

1,200

4,306

–

4,306

Total financial assets

The measurement categories and carrying amounts for financial liabilities have not changed between the closing
30 June 2018 and opening 1 July 2018 dates as a result of the transition to PBE IFRS 9.
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NOTE 17: EVENTS AFTER
THE BALANCE DATE
There were no significant events after the balance date.

NOTE 18: EXPLANATION OF
MAJOR VARIANCES AGAINST
BUDGET
Explanations for major variations from the Fund’s budgeted
figures in the statement of performance expectations 2018/19
are as follows:

Statement of comprehensive revenue
and expense
Revenue variances:
•

Oil pollution levy: Revenue was greater than budget due to
minor changes in the mix of oil transported into and around
New Zealand (higher volumes of persistent oil than budget
and lower volumes of non-persistent oil than budget).

•

Investments: Investment balances are higher than budget
due to the timing delay in planned inventory replacement and
lower expenses than budget.

•

Inventory: Inventory values are lower than budget due to
a minor delay in the planned oil dispersant replacement as
a result of a decision to test new products available in the
market prior to purchasing the replacement inventory.

Liability variances:
•

Statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating
•

Oil pollution levies: The mix of oil transported into and
around NZ resulted in higher levy receipts.

•

Payments to suppliers: Payments to suppliers were lower
than budget due to the deferral of inventory (dispersant)
replacement and some operating expense savings.

Cash flows from investing
•

Purchase of property, plant & equipment: The delivery
and commissioning of some equipment purchases
occurred after 30 June resulting in lower cash outflow
as at 30 June 2019.

•

Acquisitions and receipts from investments: There
was a net increase in investments at 30 June 2019 due to
a change in the mix of cash on hand and term deposits
greater than 90 days compared to prior year.

Expenditure variances:
•

Other expenses: There were some training courses
cancelled (due to bad weather) or that had lower attendee
numbers than planned during the year which has resulted in
expenses being lower than budget. Similarly costs claimed
by Regional Councils for oil spill response planning and
exercises were below budget.

Statement of financial position
Asset variances:
•
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Cash & cash equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents
are higher than budget due to the timing of some creditor
payments that were accrued, but not yet paid out at
balance date.
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Payables: Payables at 30 June were higher than budget
due to some anticipated creditor payments being accrued
but not yet paid at 30 June.

APPENDIX 2

Maritime New Zealand and
Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand additional
financial information
The financial statements of Maritime NZ consolidate the activities of the Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand with Maritime NZ’s regulatory and compliance activities. This appendix provides additional
financial information that does not form part of Maritime NZ’s audited accounts, to give readers more
detail about the cost of operating Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand.
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
for the year ended 30 June 2019
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND
ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

15,270

14,942

14,733

22,818

22,385

20,983

7,431

6,727

6,628

245

120

158

45,764

44,174

42,502

3

26,575

25,609

24,292

12,13

1,760

2,098

2,005

NOTES

REVENUE
Crown

2

Maritime levy
Other revenue

2

Interest revenue
Total revenue

EXPENDITURE
Personnel costs
Depreciation & amortisation costs
Capital charge

4

739

912

774

Finance costs

5

86

–

80

Other expenses

6

15,705

15,555

14,751

44,865

44,174

41,902

899

–

600

615

–

–

1,514

–

600

Total expenditure
Net surplus/(deficit)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE
Gain on property revaluations
Total comprehensive revenue and expense

Statement of changes in net assets/equity
for the year ended 30 June 2019
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

NOTES

Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June
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ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

14,075

13,486

13,475

1,514

–

600

–

–

–

15,589

13,486

14,075

RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE
NEW ZEALAND

GROUP

ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

6,849

6,295

6,578

22,119

21,237

21,311

–

–

–

22,818

22,385

20,983

89

105

75

7,520

6,832

6,703

64

60

41

309

180

199

7,002

6,460

6,694

52,766

50,634

49,196

2,753

2,801

2,844

29,328

28,410

27,136

455

502

474

2,215

2,600

2,479

495

478

467

1,234

1,390

1,241

–

–

–

86

–

80

3,480

2,679

2,834

19,185

18,234

17,585

7,183

6,460

6,619

52,048

50,634

48,521

(181)

–

75

718

–

675

–

–

–

615

–

–

(181)

–

75

1,333

–

675

RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE
NEW ZEALAND

GROUP

ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

ACTUAL
2019
$000

BUDGET
2019
$000

ACTUAL
2018
$000

8,389

8,213

7,970

22,464

21,699

21,445

(181)

–

75

1,333

–

675

–

–

344

–

–

344

8,208

8,213

8,389

23,797

21,699

22,464
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Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2019
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

NOTES

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

BUDGET
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

7

2,010

1,583

3,253

Receivables

8

2,518

2,000

3,591

Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

–

Investments

9

7,000

5,000

3,114

559

580

507

137

100

142

12,224

9,263

10,607

Prepayments
Inventories

11

Total current assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

–

Property, plant and equipment

12

5,697

5,010

5,391

Intangible assets

13

5,043

5,490

4,738

Total non-current assets

10,740

10,500

10,129

Total assets

22,964

19,763

20,736

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables

14

3,470

2,695

2,711

Borrowings

15

291

273

284

Employee entitlements

16

1,955

1,650

1,731

Provisions

17

23

–

15

5,739

4,618

4,741

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings

15

1,500

1,529

1,791

Provisions

17

136

130

129

–

–

–

Total non-current liabilities

1,636

1,659

1,920

Total liabilities

7,375

6,277

6,661

Derivative financial instruments

EQUITY
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Contributed capital

19

12,320

12,320

12,320

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

19

1,978

490

1,079

Property revaluation reserve

19

1,291

676

676

Total equity

15,589

13,486

14,075

Total equity & liabilities

22,964

19,763

20,736
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RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE
NEW ZEALAND

GROUP

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

BUDGET
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2018/19
$000

BUDGET
2018/19
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

809

1,369

1,915

2,819

2,952

5,168

15

100

14

2,533

2,100

3,605

26

–

30

26

–

30

1,500

700

253

8,500

5,700

3,367

74

20

54

633

600

561

–

–

–

137

100

142

2,424

2,189

2,266

14,648

11,452

12,873

–

–

26

–

–

26

6,008

6,072

6,415

11,705

11,082

11,806

253

329

193

5,296

5,819

4,931

6,261

6,401

6,634

17,001

16,901

16,763

8,685

8,590

8,900

31,649

28,353

29,636

215

227

292

3,685

2,922

3,003

–

–

–

291

273

284

257

150

219

2,212

1,800

1,950

–

–

–

23

–

15

472

377

511

6,211

4,995

5,252

–

–

–

1,500

1,529

1,791

–

–

–

136

130

129

5

–

–

5

–

–

5

–

–

1,641

1,659

1,920

477

377

511

7,852

6,654

7,172

12,818

12,818

12,818

25,138

25,138

25,138

(4,610)

(4,605)

(4,429)

(2,632)

(4,115)

(3,350)

–

–

–

1,291

676

676

8,208

8,213

8,389

23,797

21,699

22,464

8,685

8,590

8,900

31,649

28,353

29,636
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APPENDIX 3:

Governance and
accountability
The Minister of Transport is responsible to Parliament for overseeing and managing the Crown’s
interests in Maritime NZ.
The Minister expects Maritime NZ’s
Authority to set the direction of the entity,
achieve the government’s desired results
set out in the Maritime Transport Act
1994 (MTA) and in other legislation and
policy, and manage any maritime safety
and security risks on behalf of the Crown.

•

Roy Weaver (appointed
February 2019)

•

Janice Fredric (tenure ended in
April 2019)

•

Blair O’Keeffe (resigned as Chair
on August 2018)

Members act in accordance with
applicable statutory requirements (e.g.
the MTA and the Crown Entities Act
2004), and in the interests of the role and
functions of maritime safety and security.

Accountability

Authority membership
and composition
Maritime NZ’s Authority is made up of five
members appointed by the GovernorGeneral on the recommendation of the
Minister of Transport. The Authority
appoints the Director of Maritime NZ,
who has independent statutory powers
under the Maritime Transport Act 1994.
The Authority is responsible and
accountable for the management and
strategic direction of Maritime NZ
Members of the Authority during the
year were:
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•

Jo Brosnahan QSO (Chair) (appointed
July 2018 and Chair December 2018)

•

Belinda Vernon (Deputy Chair, Chair of
Audit and Risk Committee)

•

Kylie Boyd

•

Denis O’Rourke (appointed May 2019)

The Responsible Ministers provide
Maritime NZ with an annual letter
outlining their expectations. This guides
the development of the Statement of
Intent, which is tabled in Parliament.
The Statement of Intent and the
Statement of Performance Expectations
set out what Maritime NZ intends to
deliver and are the primary sources from
which Parliament and Ministers are able
to hold Maritime NZ to account.
The Ministers’ formal line of
accountability with Maritime NZ is
through the Authority. The Authority
selects, appoints and monitors the
performance of the Director of Maritime
NZ, Keith Manch. The Director of
Maritime NZ is responsible to the
Authority for the efficient and effective
running of Maritime NZ.

Executive Team
The Executive Team comprises of the
Chief Executive/Director of Maritime
NZ and Deputy Directors and deputy
Chief Executives from the seven
business groups: Communication
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Stakeholder Engagement, Regulatory
Systems Design, Compliance Systems
Delivery, Safety and Response Systems,
Organisational Strategy and Systems,
Maritime Systems Assurance, and
People Capability.

Delegations
Maritime NZ operates a financial
delegations policy that allows individuals
to carry out their role and function. The
policy provides a check and balance
to ensure transactions that are of an
exceptional nature, or are deemed to
exceed a level of risk, are first approved
by someone with the appropriate
expertise, authority and experience. The
Authority delegates levels of authority to
the Director of Maritime NZ and Maritime
NZ managers.

Audit and Risk
Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management
Committee (a sub-committee of the
Authority) comprises all Authority
members. The Committee has the
authority to make recommendations only.
The objectives of the Committee are to
ensure:
•

the robustness of risk management
systems and practices

•

the independence and adequacy of
the internal audit functions

•

compliance with
regulations, standards and
best-practice guidelines.

Risk management
The Authority is responsible for ensuring
that Maritime NZ has a comprehensive
risk register which identifies all significant
risks, corresponding mitigation actions
and the regular monitoring of these
mitigations.

Internal audit
The Audit and Risk Management
Committee establishes a risk-based
internal audit programme each year,
covering the key functions and services
of Maritime NZ. The programme also
includes the flexibility to schedule reviews
of areas of interest to the Director and
the Committee as the need arises.
Internal audit services are provided
either internally or through contracted
providers.

Legislative compliance
and ethics
Maritime NZ is guided by its Codes
of Conduct and the State Services
Commissioner’s Standards of Integrity
and Conduct. Authority members are
required to complete a declaration
of interests upon appointment and
whenever changes occur during their
term. A schedule of Authority members’
interests is reviewed at every Authority
meeting.
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APPENDIX 4:

Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix –
Assessment matrix descriptors
Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix captures information about its overall response capability
across five key elements. The capability of each element is assessed, on a six-monthly basis,
against a range of criteria to determine an overall rating. Assessments are reported to Maritime NZ’s
Audit and Risk Committee. Maritime NZ is striving to sustain overall response capability as amber or
higher over the term of the Statement of Intent and beyond.
MARITIME INCIDENT RESPONSE TEAM

MARINE POLLUTION RESPONSE SERVICE

Capable of responding fully to a Maritime Incident:

Capable of responding to a National oil spill:

•

National exercise held every four years

•

Regional and National responders fully trained to meet risk

•

Responders fully trained to identified competencies

•

•

Minimum of four exercises undertaken each year

Minimum number of Industry/Regional and National exercises
undertaken

•

Rena recommendations (where appropriate) fully implemented.

•

Equipment stockpiles Fit for Role (FFR)

•

Regulatory obligations met.

Able to respond to a Maritime Incident but lacking in
specific areas of competency:

Able to respond to a National oil spill
but lacking in some areas:

•

National exercise being developed, planning and coordination
underway for exercise

•

Responder capability competencies identified and appropriate
training being developed

•

Responder competencies identified and appropriate training
being developed

•

Industry/Regional and National exercises being developed,
planning and co-ordination underway for exercise

•

High priority training completed with some responders

•

•

Rena recommendations (where appropriate) partially
implemented.

Equipment stockpiles maintained but some shortfalls in
equipment holdings against capability plan

•

Regulatory obligations partially met.

Not capable of effectively responding
to a Maritime Incident:

158

Not capable of effectively responding
to a National oil spill:

•

No national exercises held

•

Responder capability limited in numbers and competency

•

Responder competencies not identified therefore no training
in place

•

Regional exercises not meeting criteria. No Industry or National
exercises undertaken or planned

•

Rena recommendations (where appropriate) not implemented.

•

Major deficiencies in equipment, hampering response capability.
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SEARCH AND RESCUE

SECURITY

RESPONSE COORDINATION

Fully capable of responding efficiently and
effectively to all SAR incidents in the NZ
Search and Rescue Region (NZSRR):

Fully capable of responding to a
Maritime Security Incident:

Full integration of response
components:

•

National SAR Plan in place

•

Standard Operating Procedures in place

•

Memoranda of understanding with national
SAR resource providers and SAR agreements
with relevant nations in place

•

Tested plans in place for appropriate
augmentation of SAR capability for large scale
operations.

•

Maritime NZ fully connected to
the New Zealand Intelligence
Community

•

Maritime NZ fully connected to
the NZ Emergency Response
Community

•

Full response capability in
accordance with Maritime Security
Plan

•

•

Regulatory obligations met.

Maritime NZ has a comprehensive
response capability in accordance
with Maritime Emergency Response
Plan

•

All regulatory obligations met.

Capable of responding efficiently and
effectively to most SAR incidents in the
NZSRR:
•

Sufficient staff to run Operations Room
24/7 year round

•

Maritime NZ has limited connectivity
to NZ Intelligence Community

•

Insufficient staff to undertake full range of
support tasks

•

Reduced response capability

•

Regulatory obligations partially met.

•

Plans and procedures for mass rescue/
large scale events not fully developed and
implemented.
Not capable of responding efficiently and
effectively to most incidents in the NZSRR:

•

Maritime NZ has limited connectivity
to NZ Emergency Response
Community

•

Overall response capability limited to
some degree

•

Regulatory obligations partially met.

Not capable of responding:

•

Insufficient staff to run Operations Room
24/7 year round

•

Maritime NZ has no connection to
the NZ Intelligence community

•

Inadequate stakeholder engagement and
liaison leads to a failure in coordination of
incidents

•

Ineffective response capability

•

Regulatory obligations not met.

•

Able to respond to a Maritime
Emergency Response Incident,
but lacking coordination
in specific areas:

Able to respond to a Maritime
Security incident, but lacking in
specific areas:

Response capability not aligned:
•

Maritime NZ response functions
are siloed, not connected or wellcoordinated

•

Ineffective response capability

•

Regulatory obligations not met.

Insufficient funding to sustain operations and
operational support activity.
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Terms and Definitions
Cape Town Agreement

Future State 2

The 2012 Cape Town Agreement (CTA),
adopted by the International Maritime
Organization (IMO), outlines fishing vessel
standards and includes other regulations
designed to protect the safety of crews
and observers and provide a level playing
field for industry.

A comprehensive high-level
organisational development strategy
through a two-phase ‘Future State’
review of Maritime NZ. This work
encompassed strategic direction,
structure, systems, staff, skills and
shared values, with the aim of ensuring
alignment between them and achieving
our organisational vision (at that time)
of supporting a viable, vibrant maritime
community

Equipment stockpiles
The equipment used to respond to
an oil spill is stored and maintained
at Maritime New Zealand’s Marine
Pollution Response Service warehouse
in Te Atatu, Auckland. There are also
over 20 equipment stockpiles around
the country. The amount and type of
equipment available in each location are
based on the anticipated risk and size of
a spill. For example, regions with major
oil terminals have larger stockpiles and
specialist equipment.

Fuel Excise Duty (FED)
The FED is paid by recreational boaties
when they put petrol in their boats.
FED funding is allocated to Maritime
New Zealand under section 9(1) of
the Land Transport Management Act
2003. FED funding is for recreational
boating safety activities including
research, surveys, data analysis, safety
awareness education and guidance,
outreach campaigns, operational
policy development, monitoring, and
investigations and prosecutions under
the Maritime Transport Act 1994. FED
funding also contributes to search and
rescue coordination, the provision of
navigation aids and maritime distress and
safety communications.
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Health and Safety at Work
Act 2015 (HSWA)
The HSWA is New Zealand’s workplace
health and safety law. It introduced new
responsibilities for managing the workrelated risks that could cause serious
injury, illness or even death

International Convention
for the Prevention of
Pollution from Ships
(MARPOL)
MARPOL is the main international
convention aimed at the prevention
of pollution from ships caused by
operational or accidental causes. It was
adopted at the International Maritime
Organization (IMO) in 1973.

International Maritime
Organization (IMO)
The International Maritime Organization
is the United Nations specialised agency
with responsibility for the safety and
security of shipping and the prevention of
marine and atmospheric pollution
by ships.
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International Ship and
Port Facility Security
(ISPS) Code
The International Ship and Port Facility
Security (ISPS) Code is an amendment
to the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS)
Convention (1974/1988) on minimum
security arrangements for ships, ports
and government agencies. It prescribes
responsibilities to governments, shipping
companies, shipboard personnel, and
port/facility personnel to detect security
threats and take preventative measures
against security incidents affecting ships
or port facilities used in international
trade.

National Response Team
(NRT)
The NRT is a group of oil spill responders
who receive specialist training to enable
them to perform essential functions
during a Tier 3 response. During a
response, members of the NRT make
up the core Incident Response Team,
supplemented by oil spill responders
who have received basic training.
The NRT is maintained through tier 3
training and exercising and has more
than 100 members.

Maritime Incident
Response Team (MIRT)
MIRT is the Wellington-based team
of advisors that is mobilised at the
onset of a major maritime incident to
provide strategic advice and support
to the Director of Maritime NZ and to
the Emergency Coordination Centre
and to monitor, oversee, and intervene,
as appropriate, on the Director’s

behalf. The team may be mobilised on
Maritime NZ premises or at the National
Crisis Management Centre.

Navigation Area XIV
(NAVAREA XIV) and the
New Zealand Search and
Rescue Region (NZSRR)
The region covered by the New Zealand
Distress and Radio Safety Service is
known as NAVAREA XIV and includes
12.5 percent of the Earth’s ocean
surface. It extends from the middle of the
Tasman Sea to the mid-Pacific Ocean,
and from Antarctica to south of the
equator.

Port State Control (PSC)
The Port State Control system exists
to ensure foreign ships coming to
New Zealand ports comply with
requirements set down in international
conventions and law.

Tokyo MOU
The Tokyo MOU is a regional Port
State Control (PSC) organisation. The
organisation consists of 20 member
Authorities in the Asia-Pacific region.

New Zealand’s search and rescue region
covers over 37 million square kilometres
of ocean and relatively small, isolated
land masses extending from latitude five
degrees south to the Antarctic continent
and bounded by the 163E and the 131W
meridians of longitude.

Polar Code
The International Code for Ships
Operating in Polar Waters or Polar Code
is an international regime adopted by the
International Maritime Organization in
2014. The Code sets out regulations for
shipping in the Polar regions, principally
relating to ice navigation and ship design.

Port and Harbour Marine
Safety Code
The New Zealand Port and Harbour
Marine Safety Code provides national
best practice guidance to port operators
and councils to manage the safety
of marine activities in their ports and
harbours.
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Disclaimer: While all care and
diligence has been used in extracting,
analysing and compiling this information,
Maritime New Zealand gives no warranty
that the information provided is without error.
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